
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 
Venue: Town Hall, Moorgate 

Street, Rotherham, S60 
2TH 

Date: Tuesday, 6th December, 2016 

  Time: 5.00 p.m. 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
1. To determine if the following matters are to be considered under the categories 

suggested in accordance with the Local Government Act, 1972.  
  

 
2. To determine any item which the Chairman is of the opinion should be 

considered as a matter of urgency.  
  

 
3. Apologies for absence.  
  

 
4. Declarations of Interest.  
  

 
5. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 27 September 2016 (herewith) (Pages 

1 - 14) 
  

 
ANNUAL REPORTS 
 
6. Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 (herewith) 

(Pages 15 - 32) 
  

 
ITEMS FOR DECISION 
 
7. The Looked After and Care Leaver's Strategy 2017-20 (herewith) (Pages 33 - 

61) 
  

 
8. Ofsted Activity Report- Children Looked After (herewith) (Pages 62 - 74) 
  

 
ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 
 
9. CCG Commissioning Compliance Tool for Looked after Children and Care 

Leaver Health Services (herewith) (Pages 75 - 111) 
  

 
10. Rotherham Looked After Children's Council (LACC) - Update Report - July to 

End October 2016 (herewith) (Pages 112 - 118) 
  

 



 
11. 'The Care We Receive As Children Colours Our Whole Life' (Care Quality 

Commission 2016) (Pages 119 - 125) 
  

 
12. Virtual School Update (information attached) (Pages 126 - 136) 
  

 
13. Date and time of the next meeting - Tuesday, 17th January, 2017 at a time to 

be confirmed  
  

 
Membership of the Corporate Parenting Panel:- 

 
Councillors G. Watson (Deputy Leader and Children and Young People’s Services 
Portfolio holder), M. Clark (Chair of the Improving Lives Select Commission), V. 
Cusworth (second representative of the Improving Lives Select Commission), M. S. 
Elliott (Minority Party representative), S. Sansome (Elected Member) and J. Elliot 
(representative on the Fostering and Adoption Panels).  
 

 

 
Sharon Kemp, 
Chief Executive.   
  
 



1D CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
Tuesday, 27th September, 2016 

 
 
Present:- Councillor Sansome (in the Chair); Councillor Elliot.  

 

 
D14. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillors Clark, M. Elliott and 

Watson and C. Bailey.  
 

D15. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 20 JULY 2016  
 

 Agreed:-  That the minutes of the meeting held on 20
th

 July, 2016, be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

D16. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 There were no Declarations of Interest made at the meeting. 
 

D17. CORPORATE PARENTING PERFORMANCE REPORT - JULY 2016  
 

 Ian Walker, Acting Head of Service, Children in Care, presented a report 
which provided a summary of performance in relation to services for 
Looked after Children at the end of July 2016. It was noted that the report 
should be read in conjunction with the performance data which detailed 
trend data, graphical analysis and benchmarking data against national 
and statistical neighbour average. 
  
1.1.1.   Table 1: performance highlights 
  

Good & improved performance  
Areas for further 

Improvement 

Page 1 Agenda Item 5



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 2D 
 

  Caseloads continue to be 
consistently at manageable levels 
for workers across the service. 

  Although further improvement work 
is needed on Health assessments, 
performance for July 2016 remains 
relatively stable at 91.6% 

  The number of Looked After 
Children who had their review 
undertaken in timescale remains 
relatively stable at 96.6% 

  Since April there has been an 
increase to 97.7% in July 2016 
(from 96%) of eligible looked after 
children have a plan. 

  In July 33% of children in care 
ceased to be looked after due to 
permanence eg Special 
Guardianship, Residence order or 
adoption. 

  The number of Looked 
After Children (LAC) visits 
against local standards has 
dipped in July to 74.1% this 
does not reach the local 
target of 90%. Performance 
against national minimum 
standards for July also fell 
slightly to 95%.  

  The number of looked after 
children (LAC) who have 
had three or more 
placement moves is far too 
high at 12.2%. Percentages 
are higher than national 
averages and inconsistent 
with the aspirations for all 
children in care to benefit 
from a stable placement. 

  There are too many care 
leavers (66.5%) who are 
not yet engaged in 
education, employment or 
training so there will be 
renewed focus on this over 
the next 12 months.  

  Audits show that the quality 
of practice for looked after 
children needs to improve. 

  
It was reported that there had been a gradual increase in the number of 
children in care since April 2016; at the end of July there were 442 
children in care and was far higher than the national average. In July 
there was a rise by 12 children, with the number of children leaving care 
being lower than those being admitted to care. 

      The use of Family Group Conferences was being explored to ensure that 
any opportunities for children to remain within their families could be 
maximised. 

    ‘Edge of care' arrangements needed to be strengthened over time to 
prevent the need for children to come into care; developing the service 
formed a key strand of the Children in Care Sufficiency Strategy.  This 
was particularly the case in respect of adolescents entering the care 
system for the first time. 

      At the end of July, 70.2% (99 out of 141) long term Looked after Children 
had been in the same placement for at least two years. This placement 

Page 2



3D CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 

 

stability was better than the national average of 67%, however, it was 
important to be confident that what appeared to be stability was not in fact 
masking drift in planning for children. The Sufficiency Strategy identified 
that there were too many children placed in residential care; work was 
underway to address this. 

      12.2% (54 out of 444) Looked after Children had been in 3 or more 
placements in the last 12 months, this was above the national average of 
11.0%. 

      Performance in relation to children who had had 3 or more placement 
moves in a year was still of concern particularly in relation to the numbers 
of children in care who had had missing episodes which counted against 
the Indicator. All children who had been missing or who were identified as 
being in 'unstable' placements were now subject to particular focus at 
'Team Around the Placement’ meetings. In the future they would also be 
considered as 'exceptions' in the fortnightly performance meetings. There 
remained much to do in order to strengthen the quality of practice in the 
Children in Care Service across the board. 

      Performance in relation to Health and Dental Assessments was very poor 
in previous years and had been the focus of concerted joint effort resulting 
in improvement in the last 12 months.  In April performance was 91.6% 
Health Assessments and 89.7% for Dental Assessments.  

      The number of care leavers had fallen slightly since April 2016 from 192 to 
185 in July 2016. 

      97.3% of young people were in suitable accommodation.  It was 
understood that more needed to be done to enhance the quality of the 
accommodation available as well as increasing the range of choices for 
young people. Work was being undertaken to ensure the best provision 
was available to Rotherham young people together with increased 
planning via a 16+ Accommodation Panel.  

       66.5% of young people were in education, employment or training which, 
although above the national average (45%), was still very disappointing in 
terms of the aspirations for Rotherham young people. Work was 
underway to strengthen the offer to care leavers generally and priority 
would be given to tackling the need to support young people to be 
engaged in further education, training or employment. 
  
Agreed:-   
  
(1)  That the report be noted. 
  
(2)  That a representative from the CAMHS be invited to the next meeting. 
 
 
 

Page 3



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 4D 
 

D18. LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN STATUTORY HEALTH ASSESSMENTS  
 

 Karen Holgate, Named Nurse, Looked After Children, reported that a 
recent review of Health Assessments had identified that 16 young people 
had declined their Health Assessment. Of the 16, 13 young people were 
over the age of 16 years, 10 had declined in previous years and 5 were 
living out of the Rotherham area. The remaining 6 young people 
continued to decline their Health Assessment, however, 5 had received 
their health passport. The young people were happy to engage and 
discuss their health needs in the context of the health passport but 
continued to decline a full Health Assessment. 
  
It was apparent that the young person would be more likely to engage and 
participate in their healthcare if they had a named Health Worker from the 
start.  The designated and Named Nurse for Looked After Children had 
arranged to meet with the LAC Council of which part of the discussion 
would be seeking their view on what else health professionals could do to 
improve uptake. 
  
Early intervention and continuity of the health professional was likely to 
improve engagement as the child/young person became older with the 
expectation that a positive relationship would have been developed to 
ensure that health needs were being identified and addressed. 
  
The Looked after Care Team in Rotherham planned to undertake a 6 
months pilot of a similar process as had been described from the 1st 
October 2016. Due to the nurse capacity within the Team, there would be 
an 11 years plus criteria implemented where the Team would introduce 
themselves to the young people within 10 working days of them becoming 
a Looked after Child to introduce Health Services.  A health questionnaire 
was being developed for use with those young people who declined their 
Health Assessment as a way of identifying any health needs in order to 
provide relevant support and services. 
  
A full health assessment was conducted when a child became a Looked 
after Child and clarified that registered with a local dentist.  All Looked 
after Children had full dental assessments within 20 days of coming into 
care. 
  
There were no issues with regard to dental in Rotherham. 
  
The distribution of health passports to Looked after Children and young 
people over the age of 5 years had commenced.  It would be a rolling 
programme over the next 12 months where the health passports would be 
shared with the child/young person at their health assessment review. 
  
Agreed:- That the report be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 4



5D CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 

 

D19. INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICER ESCALATION REPORT  
 

 This item was considered in conjunction with Minute No. 25. 
 

D20. STRATEGIC DIRECTOR'S REPORT  
 

 It was noted that this was a new agenda item and was intended for the 
Council’s Strategic Directors to attend and explain how their directorates 
acted as corporate parents.  Ian Thomas, Strategic Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services was in attendance and reported:- 
  
          A Peer Review, led by North Yorkshire, was to commence on 3rd 

October with feedback being received on 16th October. The Review 
Team was very experienced and high performing.  The Lead reviewer 
was Peter Dyer from North Yorkshire.  North Yorkshire was a Partner 
with the DFE. 
  

          The Looked after Children Team would be visited by Ofsted.  The 
visit would be led by Tracy McCarthy who was part of the inspection 
team in 2014.  Tracy would be able to see how much progress had 
been made from her previous visit but will want to know that the 
Service were aware of what the strengths/weaknesses were and there 
was a need to be very clear to how those gaps were to be addressed  

  
Agreed:-  That a report be submitted to the next meeting on the outcome 
of the Peer Review and Ofsted visit.  
 

D21. VIRTUAL SCHOOL UPDATE  
 

 It was reported that it had been a very challenging year with regard to 
outcomes, as many of the assessments had changed from last year to 
this year. Key Stage 1 and 2 had changed and it was also noted that Key 
stage 4 reporting had changed, with the effect being that the school were 
no longer required to report on 5 A* to C Grade. It would now be reported 
whether the child had A* to C Grade in Mathematics and English.  
  
In respect of reading, six out of nine pupils (67%) were at the age related 
expectation, which compared with 71% in all other schools in Rotherham. 
The figure in writing and maths was reported as being at 56%, which 
represented five pupils.  
  
At Key Stage 2 the gap had continued and this was identified as an area 
of concern, with only 1 out of 3 achieving their grade.and this out of 24 
pupils but half of them have statements or Education Health care plans. 6 
of these children are attending special schools and will never be entered 
for these exams.  
  
At Key Stage 3, 9 out of 18 for reading which represented 50% at Virtual 
School against 64% for Rotherham Schools and for writing the position 
was 7 out of 18, which was 39% against 72% for Rotherham Schools. In 

Page 5



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 6D 
 

Mathematics it had dipped to six pupils which represented 33% against 
78%. It was noted that Mathematics was a serious area for concern and 
then for reading maths together there are 5 pupils at 28% against 54%. It 
was reported that there was a lot of work to do and the service would 
target those children to give them help in order to catch up. 
  
It was noted that the measures for Key Stage 4 had changed, with 10 out 
of 32 pupils being SEND or EHCP, it was noted 25% achieved an A* to C 
Grade in English and 22% achieved an A* to C Grade in Maths. 
  
When compared to mainstream schooling in Rotherham, 38% achieved 
A* to C Grade in English as opposed to 71% in mainstream schools and 
38% as opposed to 75% in Mathematics.  Looked after children had done 
well, but there was still a need to continue to improve.  
  
It was reported that the Virtual School had developed a very strong 
relationship with school and PEP (Personal Education Plan) meetings 
had  been very good. Schools were expecting to be challenged and were 
rising to that challenge. Tighter, focused plans were beginning to have an 
impact and feedback had been very positive. The model supported 
children in their out of authority placements as well, so someone attends 
every PEP meeting, wherever the child is, and it was noted that this was 
making a difference. It was reported that feedback indicated that other 
Authorities were not doing this. 
  
Agreed:- That the report be noted.  
  

D22. IMPROVEMENT PLAN PROGRESS  
 

 It was reported that the Improvement Plan was based on the report from 
Ofsted in 2014 and followed the child all the way through their journey 
while in looked after care. 
  
It was reported that the first Improvement Plan meeting since the summer 
would be held on 27 September 2016 and the Board would be 
recommended to formally agree the closure of eleven actions as 
complete. It was noted that evidence of progress had to be provided to 
demonstrate that closure was warranted.  
  
It was noted that additional time would be required to achieve a number of 
other outcomes within the Improvement Plan, such as in respect of care 
leavers, which would be the focus of the next meeting with a view to 
making real progress before a future meeting. 
  
Agreed:-  That the update be noted.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



7D CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 

 

D23. ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE ROTHERHAM THERAPEUTIC TEAM (1 
APRIL 2015 - 31 MARCH 2016)  
 

 Consideration was given to an annual report which provided a briefing on 
the business and activity within the Council’s Therapeutic Team in 
2015/16. The report provided performance and activity data on the 
service, reports on the activity and functioning of the therapeutic team, 
and details service delivery that has occurred in the year and those that 
are planned moving through 2016/17. 
  
  
The team deliver therapeutic training courses to share best practice with 
 carers and professionals, this includes  
  
• 8 week Therapeutic Parenting Courses (Beek & Schofield Safe Base 

Model of Intervention)  
• Bonding Through Play training (Theraplay Intervention)   
• Life Story Work (Narrative Therapy) 
• Transitions (Moving Children on to adoption)   
• Living with Sexually Abused Children training  
• Assessing sibling groups.   
  
During the period 1 April 2015 - 31 March 2016, there were 511 referrals  
made to the team, which equates to 401 different young people. The team 
provided support to carers of 38 children who moved on to adoption, and 
this included support in preparing for permanence, supporting the foster 
carers and fostering team and the adoption team in the transition. The 
team assessed and made 33 applications to the Adoption Support Fund  
in this financial year, in relation to 28 adoptive families, providing £220k  
therapy for Rotherham’s adopted children and parents.   
                    
The Therapeutic Team takes all referrals for looked after children who live  
local to the service; (within South Yorkshire). Tier 3 CAMHS service refer 
into the Therapeutic Team all families who have adopted children, 
children in care and children subject to SGO for support, assessment, 
therapeutic work and attachment interventions. Generally CAMHS will 
only continue to work with these families if there is a requirement for 
assessment of autism, ADHD and neuro-developmental delay.  
Partnership work between the therapeutic team and wider CAMHS 
provision also happens where there are more serious mental health 
indicators, such as significant self-harming attempts, psychosis and eating 
disorders.  The team consults with and attends regular meetings with local 
psychologists across the hospital paediatric, RMBC and RDASH trusts to 
look at shared cases and also to agree appropriateness of interventions 
and lead agency with challenging and complex cases.   
  
Rotherham’s Therapeutic Team work alongside other agencies such as 
ducational Psychologists, MAST counsellors in schools, Barnardo’s CSE  
and sexually harmful behaviours services, Youthstart and other agencies  
including RISE.  Nationally Rotherham’s Therapeutic Team work 

Page 7



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 8D 
 

alongside the Clinical Commissioning Group, (CCG) to ensure that 
children living in different parts of the country receive CAMHS and other 
services as appropriate. The team also work closely with the RMBC 
commissioning team to ensure that therapeutic provisions (within 
IFA/residential placements) are fully delivered as contracted to ensure 
good quality service provision for all children in care, whether they are 
living 
              
The Therapeutic Team takes all referrals for looked after children who live  
local to the service; (within South Yorkshire). Tier 3 CAMHS service refer 
into the Therapeutic Team all families who have adopted children, 
children in care and children subject to SGO for support, assessment, 
therapeutic work and attachment interventions. Generally CAMHS will 
only continue to work with these families if there is a requirement for 
assessment of autism, ADHD and neuro-developmental delay.  
Partnership work between the therapeutic team and wider CAMHS 
provision also happens where there are more serious mental health 
indicators, such as significant self-harming attempts, psychosis and eating 
disorders.  The team consults with and attends regular meetings with local 
psychologists across the hospital paediatric, RMBC and RDASH trusts to 
look at shared cases and also to agree appropriateness of interventions 
and lead agency with challenging and complex cases.  
               
Rotherham’s Therapeutic Team work alongside other agencies such as 
Educational Psychologists, MAST counsellors in schools, Barnardo’s CSE  
and sexually harmful behaviours services, Youthstart and other 
agencies including RISE.  Nationally Rotherham’s Therapeutic Team work 
alongside the Clinical Commissioning Group, (CCG) to ensure that 
children living in different parts of the country receive CAMHS and other 
services as appropriate. The team also work closely with the RMBC 
commissioning team to ensure that therapeutic provisions (within 
IFA/residential placements) are fully delivered as contracted to ensure 
good quality service provision for all children in care, whether they are 
living. 
                         
There are no particular risks from the previous annual report. However, it 
was noted that there are ongoing risks to the emotional wellbeing of 
children in care and those who have left care if expansion is not 
achieved.   
  
Agreed:- That the report be received.  
  

D24. ROTHERHAM ADOPTION SERVICE PERFORMANCE REPORT 2015-
2016  
 

 Consideration was given to a report on performance and activity data 
within the service, reports on the activity and functioning of the Adoption 
Panel, and details service developments that have occurred in the year 
and those that are planned moving through 2016/17.  
  

Page 8



9D CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 

 

It was reported that the Adoption Service in Rotherham was made up of 
two teams, the recruitment team and the assessment team. The Adoption 
Service undertook the recruitment, assessment and approval of applicant 
adopters, family finds and matches children and approved adoptive 
parents, supports and supervises adoption placements and provides post 
adoption support services. 

  
2015/16 SHOBPA decisions were made in respect of 46 children, 9 
required supplementary work for the ADM to make the recommendation, 
but none were declined.  In 2014/15, 49 SHOBPA decisions made.  

  
Performance on recruiting prospective adopters who wish to adopt a 
looked after child has been maintained this year with a calendar of 
recruitment events throughout the year. The number of enquiries to the 
agency in 2015/16 was 97, compared to 100 enquires in the previous 
year. Once further information has been shared at an information event or 
visit the number of ‘Registration of Interests’ received has decreased from 
51 in 2014/15 to 30 in 2015/16. 

  
The average time between ‘Registration of Interest’ and ‘Agency Decision’ 
was 239 days.  Since the introduction of the two stage process the 
timeliness for adopter assessments has continued to decline.  The main 
delay is in Stage 1, due to delays in the returns of DBS checks.  In 
addition adopters report that they are unable to obtain a timely 
appointment with their GP for the adoption medical.  As Stage 1 is 
adopter led, the agency has less control over this stage.  A number of 
adopters also choose to take a break between Stages 1 and 2 which 
impacts on the overall timeliness. 

  
Timeliness for adopter approval has decreased nationally since the 
introduction of the two stage process.  This has been mirrored in 
Rotherham Adoption Services with 46.6 % of adopter assessments being 
completed within the six month timescale in 2015/16. 

  
Of the 43 children adopted, 16 were female and 27 were male.  38 
children were of white British origin and 5 children were dual heritage.  9 
children were sibling groups of 2 (18 children) and 5 of the children had 
disabilities.  7 children were aged 5 or over. 4 of the children of dual 
heritage were matched with families of appropriate culture, one child had 
complex health needs, and when matching was linked to a family, who did 
not share the child’s heritage, but was skilled and experienced to meet the 
child’s health and development needs.  

  
Agreed:- That the report be noted.  

  
D25. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SERVICES INDEPENDENT 

REVIEWING OFFICER'S ANNUAL REPORT 2015- 2016  
 

 The Annual Independent Reviewing Officer’s (IRO) report reflected the 
compliance, progress and contribution the IRO Service had made to the 

Page 9



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 10D 
 

outcomes for Looked after Children in Rotherham and against required 
statutory legislation as set out in the IRO Handbook and Care Planning 
Regulations (amended 2015). This included quantitative and qualitative 
evidence relating to the IRO services for the period of 1st April, 2015 to 
31st March,  2016. 
  
Each Looked after Child or Young Person in Rotherham had an allocated 
IRO, which allowed the IRO to build a relationship with the child/young 
person, monitor progress between reviews and addressed any delay in 
implementing the child’s care plan in a timely manner leading to 
placement stability and positive impact for the child.  The IRO monitored 
the child’s care plan between Looked after Reviews and was informed of 
any significant events within the child’s life to ensure positive outcomes for 
Rotherham’s looked after young people. 
  
There had been ongoing change and development within the Rotherham 
IRO Team since 2010 including after the Ofsted (2014) inspection. In April 
2015 agreement was given to support recruitment of additional IRO’s to 
reduce the caseloads so that the Service could focus on qualitative 
measures to improve outcomes for looked after children. This included 
supporting IROs to visit children, establishing a rapport and developing a 
relationship to capture their voice, wishes and feelings in relation to their 
care plan. The additional IROs were also expected to increase the 
capacity of the Service to bring challenge and improve the oversight of the 
quality of children and young people’s journey through care. Accordingly, 
2 further IRO’s (agency staff) were recruited during May whilst permanent 
recruitment was undertaken. The Team also experienced additional 
changes with 2 longstanding staff members leaving the Authority, bringing 
the overall number of agency staff to 4, in October 2015.  

  
At the end of March 2016 there were 432 Looked after Children and 7.5 
IRO positions (6 permanent and 1 agency) with average caseloads of 
61.7 per IRO. The 0.5 IRO post was currently under review. 
  
Agreed:- That the report be received.  
 

D26. CARE LEAVERS ANNUAL REPORT  
 

 It was reported that the Council’s aim was to ensure that all young people 
leaving care are supported through their transition into adulthood and to 
give care leavers the same level of care and support that other young 
people receive from their parents.  
  
The Leaving Care Service assist Looked After young people through the 
process of Leaving Care and provides, support and financial assistance to 
Rotherham Care Leavers.  The Service is made up of Personal Advisors 
(PA’s) and Social Workers who work with young people to assess their 
needs and agree any support they may need through a Pathway Plan.   
  
It was noted that Rotherham has two dedicated Leaving Care Teams and 

Page 10



11D CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 

 

a Leaving Care Accommodation team which works with young people 
aged 16+.  The teams are made up of qualified social workers, support 
workers and personal advisors, all experienced in working with and 
supporting young people. 225 young people are currently entitled to a 
Leaving Care Service from Rotherham; they are 100 that are over 18 
years old. 

Care Leavers face a number of challenges as they transition to 
independence. Pathway Plans play a key role in preparing young people 
leaving care in making sure young people have the support and skills and 
are prepared to live independently.  

  
16 and 17 year olds have an allocated social worker within the looked 
after service and are jointly allocated a personal advisor from Leaving 
Care. Qualified social workers undertake the assessment of each eligible 
and relevant child (those under 18years). Where young people have left 
care but are over 18, personal advisors within the Leaving care team, 
overseen by a qualified social worker, review the Pathway Plan. 
  
Young people must be involved in the preparation and review of their plan 
and their views, wishes and feelings should be included and listened to 
throughout. The plan is reviewed with them on a regular basis (at least 
every 6 months or sooner if requested by the young person or their needs 
have changed). The Plan must detail how these needs will be met and 
who is responsible for what and by when and should address the 
following: 
  
• Accommodation 

• Practical life skills 

• Education and training 

• Employment 

• Financial support 

• Specific support needs e.g. Health and Family 

• Contingency plans for support if independent living breaks down 

Personal advisors work with young people to establish a positive working 
relationship and to effectively support the young person in achieving the 
targets in their Pathway Plan. Personal Advisors are also responsible for 
making sure that young people have had an appropriate financial 
assessment and that they are supported to access benefits if they are not 
in employment or are in education/training which precludes them from 
benefits. 

98.4% of Rotherham Care Leavers are in suitable accommodation which 
is well above the national average (77.8%) and higher than our statistical 
neighbour average (74.2%).  A Suitable Accommodation checklist has 
been devised to assist PA’s when assessing whether accommodation for 
care leavers is of a suitable standard  
  

Page 11



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 12D 
 

Accommodation costs for those under 18 are met by the Local Authority. 
Young people in care are encouraged to remain in a regulated placement 
as long as possible. Personal Advisors work with the young person to 
ensure that their accommodation is suitable and safe to live in and Care 
Leavers are given priority status on Rotherham’s local housing register. 
When they are assessed as being ready for their own tenancy they will be 
supported to attend the Councils ‘Moving On’ panel which considers their 
application for housing and plans to make sure that appropriate support is 
in place to guide them through the bidding and allocation process. All 
young people accessing housing through this panel must agree to 
tenancy support for at least 3 months. Young people who progress to 
Higher Education are supported financially to ensure they are able to 
secure appropriate accommodation and living costs.  
  
Young people who have been living in foster care and wish to remain 
beyond 18 years old can be supported under a Staying Put arrangement. 
Rotherham currently has 16 young people in Staying Put arrangements 
and a further 6 arrangements due to start within the next 3 months. Young 
people are able to maintain their Staying Put Arrangement so that they 
are able to return home during holidays and continue to be part of a family 
when they go to University. Below is an example of a young person who is 
being supported to attend University and continue within a Staying Put 
arrangement. 
  
Agreed:- That the report be noted.  
  

D27. PLACEMENT SUFFICIENCY REPORT  
 

 It was noted that, as of the end of July 2016, there were a total of 442 
looked after children in Rotherham which reflected an ongoing upward 
trend.  
  
These young people were placed in the following placement types:- 
 
• 168 with In-House foster Carers 
• 17 with Relatives or Friends on a kinship fostering basis in 

Rotherham 
• 149 with Independent foster placements (IFA’s) 
• 47 with Out of Authority children’s Homes (OoAs) placed in a 

Residential School 
• 2 in a secure unit 
• 1 in a Mother and baby unit 
• 54 in a variety of other placements including pre-adoptive 

placements, independent living and living at home as part of a 
rehabilitation plan subject to the Placement with Parents Regulations. 

 
In addition the lack of in-house provision had a discernible impact on the 
outcomes achieved by those young people. This was aggravated by the 
fact that 108 of these placements were more than 20 miles from their 
home address with 55 children being more than 50 miles and 2 children 

Page 12



13D CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 

 

more than 100 miles from their home address. These distances can make 
social worker and commissioning oversight of the placements difficult in 
terms of ensuring that the young person is receiving the services that 
have actually been commissioned such as therapeutic interventions, 
enhanced staff support packages, respite care etc. Furthermore, these 
placements bring with them a dependency on other agencies to provide 
for many of the other needs of the looked after young person including 
their education, non-teaching support, CAMHS intervention and health 
and dental treatment. There is evidence that some children from 
Rotherham are experiencing a limited or lower priority service from some 
other agencies in terms of having these needs met and this can have an 
impact on their outcomes.  
  
To address the reliance on the IFA and OoA providers, Rotherham CYPS 
was developing its Sufficiency Strategy in order to increase the proportion 
of children in care placed within in-house provision.  
                    
There are 5 main strands to this Strategy:- 
  
The Foster Carers Payments Scheme, Support and Development – by 
reviewing the way in which foster carers are financially rewarded and 
supported and trained it is hoped that we can increase the number of in-
house foster carers by 15 fostering households (net) per annum. 
 
The Rotherham Therapeutic Team Transformation – by enhancing and 
expanding the therapeutic support available to looked after children and 
their carers it is a reasonable assumption to make that less young people 
will suffer the series of placement disruptions that often culminates in 
them having to be placed with the private providers. In addition this should 
also reduce the need to place such young people in OoA ‘Therapeutic 
Residential Placements’ in order to have those therapeutic needs met.  
 
This Transformation will be implemented in conjunction with the terms of 
reference for the Children with Complex Care Needs Panel being revised 
so that the Panel is more directed at developing multi-agency packages of 
enhanced support to enable more young people to remain placed in in-
house placements. 
  
Edge of Care – by developing a ‘virtual’ multi-agency team that can 
provide immediate support to families at times of crisis it is anticipated that 
the number of young people who are admitted to care via Section 20 of 
the Children Act (Voluntary Accommodation) will be reduced. This is 
especially relevant as most of these young people are adolescents for 
whom there is a shortage of placements in Rotherham making them more 
likely to end up placed with the private providers. This enhanced support 
package will include a significant investment in Family Group 
Conferencing which aims to identify and formalise the internal support 
mechanisms within family and social networks to enhance the resilience 
of parents and young people.  

  

Page 13



CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL - 27/09/16 14D 
 

The Adoption Regionalisation – Rotherham is committed to the 
regionalisation of adoption services in line with the Government guidance 
on the issue. This programme should ensure that prospective adopters 
receive faster responses, better matching takes place, there is a quicker 
pathway from the Agency Decision Making regarding the suitability of a 
child for adoption to family finding being completed and that there is better 
post-adoption support. Within this programme Rotherham is looking to 
take the lead on Early Permanence Planning and the development of an 
integrated I.T. system. 
  
The Taking Care Scheme – working in partnership with the NSPCC, 
Rotherham aims to support up to 30 young people to return to the care of 
their birth families over a two year period in a safe and supported manner. 
It is generally acknowledged that as looked after young people approach 
adulthood they tend to ‘drift’ back to the care of their parents. By 
formalising this process it is anticipated that it can be accelerated whilst at 
the same time reducing the risks of family relationships breaking down 
again in the future.   
  
Agreed:- That the report be noted.  
  

D28. OVERVIEW OF CORPORATE PARENTING TRAINING FOR ELECTED 
MEMBERS  
 

 This item was deferred to the next meeting due to the absence of a 
number of Members. 
  
Agreed:- That the report be considered at the next meeting of the Panel.   
 

D29. DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT MEETINGS: -  
 

 Tuesday 29 November 2016 at 5.00pm 
 

 

Page 14



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 1 

 

 
Public Report 

Corporate Parenting Panel Meeting 
 

 
Summary Sheet 
  
Council Report Corporate Parenting Panel on the 6th December 2016  

 

Title:   Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
 
Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?   No 
 
Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report:  Ian Thomas, Strategic Director 

CYPS 

 
Report Author(s) 

Ian Walker – Interim Head of Service, Children in Care 

 
Ward(s) Affected  
All 
 
 
1.    Summary 

 
1.1  This report is an annual report intended to brief Corporate Parenting Panel on the 

business and activity within the Council’s Fostering Service in 2015/16.  
 
1.2   As well as providing data about activity in the service, this report will also detail service 

developments and improvements that have occurred in the year and those that are 
planned moving through 2016/17. 

 
1.3   The report concludes by indicating action to be taken to address gaps in provision in  

2016/17. 
 

2.    Recommendations  
    

2.1   That the Corporate Parenting Panel receives this report and considers and comments 

on any issues arising. 

  
List of Appendices Included:    
 
Rotherham Fostering Service Annual Report  

Rotherham Fostering Service Statement of Purpose   

 
Background Papers:    

Page 15 Agenda Item 6



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 2 

 

None 
 
Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
Corporate Parenting Panel  
 
Council Approval Required:      
No  
 
 
Exempt from the Press and Public:     
No 

Page 16



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 3 

 

Title (Main Report)  

Rotherham Fostering Service Annual Report 2015/16 
 
 
1. Background 
 

1.1 This report is an annual report to brief on the business and activity within the 
Council’s Fostering Service in 2015/16. 
 

1.2  The report provides performance and activity data on the service, reports on the 
activity and functioning of the Fostering Panel, and details service developments that 
have occurred in the year and those that are planned moving through 2016/17. 

 
2. Key Issues  
 

2.1   The Fostering Service  

   Rotherham Borough Council Fostering Service operates within the Fostering National 
Minimum Standards, the Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011 (the “2011 
Regulations”), and the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) 
Regulations 2010, which form the basis of the regulatory framework under the Care 
Standards Act 2000 for the conduct of fostering services. 

 
2.2  Prior to September 2013, local authority fostering services were inspected separately 

by Ofsted. Since then, inspection of local authority fostering services work is 
incorporated into the Single Inspection Framework which takes into account the role 
of fostering in the wider Children’s Services Department.  

 
2.3  In 2015 – 2016, the Fostering Service in Rotherham comprised two teams; the 

‘Recruitment Team’ and the ‘Support and Supervision Team’. At the time of writing 
this report, the service has recruited a third team manager in order to provide 
additional management oversight, and the team have now been separated into three 
teams, ‘Recruitment’; which focuses on the recruitment and assessment of 
prospective foster carers, ‘’Mainstream Support’; which focuses on the support and 
supervision of foster carers and ‘Specialist Support’; who support, supervise Foster 
Plus carers, Staying Put arrangements, carers providing short break care for disabled 
children and Connected Carers.  

 
2.4   In line with the Regulations, the service has a Fostering Panel chaired by a skilled and 

experienced independent social work professional.  The Panel considers and makes 
‘recommendations’ about the suitability of foster carer applicants  and on the matching 
of children requiring long term placements.  

 
2.5  The Head of Service for Looked After Children performs the role of Agency Decision 

Maker for the fostering service. The Agency Decision Maker considers and makes 
decisions (qualifying determinations) on Panel recommendations. The Agency 
Decision Maker also has responsibility to agree the continued suitability to foster 
following a foster carer’s annual fostering review.  

 
3.      Panel Functions 

   3.1  Regulation 23(1) of the 2011 Regulations states that “the fostering service must 
maintain a list of persons who are considered by them to be suitable to be members 
of a fostering Panel (“the central list”), including one or more social workers who have 
at least three years’ relevant post-qualifying experience’. 

 

Page 17



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 4 

 

3.2 Regulation 23(4) states that “…the fostering service must constitute one or more 
fostering Panels, as necessary, to perform the functions of a fostering Panel under 
these Regulations, and must appoint Panel members including: 
 (i)  A person to chair the Panel who, in the case of any appointment made after 1st 

October 2011, must be independent of the fostering service  provider, and; 

(ii) One or two persons who may act as chair if the person appointed to chair the 
Panel is absent or that office is vacant (“the vice chairs”) from the persons on the 
central list. 

3.3 Rotherham Foster Panel has the following primary functions (under Regulation 25(1) 
of the Fostering Regulations 2011:  

 
3.3.1 It is to consider each application for approval and to recommend whether 

or not a person is suitable to be a foster parent (including “connected 
persons” under Regulation 24 of the Care Planning, Placement and Case 
Review Regulations 2010). 
 

3.3.2   Where it recommends approval of an application, to recommend any terms 
on which the approval is to be given. 

 
3.3.3 It is to recommend whether or not a person remains suitable to be a foster 

parent, and whether or not the terms of their approval (if any) remain 
appropriate -  
(i) on the first review and  

 (ii) on the occasion of any other  review,  
 if requested to do so by the fostering service (e.g. following allegations or 

complaints against foster carers). 
 
3.3.4 It matches children who have a plan for long-term fostering with suitable 

foster carers. 
 

3.3.5 For 2017 it is planned that the Panel will take a more rigorous quality 
assurance and safeguarding role of the care provided by our foster carers 
by formally considering the Foster Carer Review for every Rotherham carer 
at least every other year. 

 
4.   Panel Composition  

4.1   The Panel maintains a comfortable number of Panel members on a central list.  Each 
Panel member who served for a year had an annual appraisal within the year 2015-
2016.  The Panel membership includes members with a range of professional 
backgrounds and interests including social workers, foster carers, and adopter and 
virtual school members.  Each member has many years of experience of public service 
and fostering in particular.  The table below provides the details of the Central List as 
at 31st March 2016. 

 
  

Page 18



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 5 

 

        4.2 

Type of Member 

Independent Chair  

Social Work Member (Locality Team Manager) and Vice Chair 

Social Work Member (fostering team) and Vice Chair  

Independent Member (Foster carers for Sheffield City Council) 

Independent Member (Foster carer for Sheffield City Council 

Designated Nurse for Looked After Children  

Virtual Head (Education) for Looked After Children  

Social Work Member (Adoption Service). 

Social Work Member (Fostering Team)  

Social Work Member (Manager of the Children’s Right Service) 

Independent Member  

 

4.3  Recent recruitment to Panel in 2015 - 2016 has been to the social work member and 
Vice Chair position.  At the time of writing this report, a further independent member, 
is also being recruited.  However, further work needs to be done around recruitment.  
In particular, it is clear that the composition of the central list would benefit from:  

 

• A young person with “care” experience (e.g. care leaver) 

• A representative of the BME community  

• At least one elected member to attend each Panel. At the time of writing 
this report, one elected member is being recruited and will observe panel in 
December 2016 in order that she can make an informed decision about 
this.  

 
4.4   In addition, with the increase of management oversight within the Fostering Service, 

the role of Panel Advisor has been extended across the fostering management team, 
which ensures that each manager has the opportunity to develop their skills and 
experience around Panel matters and decision making processes.   

 
5.    Panel Business 2015/16 
 

5.1  There were twenty-one Foster Panels convened in 2015 – 2016, with eighty-six 
agenda items being discussed, an average of 4 items per Panel.  The table below 
categories these items. 

 
  

Page 19



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 6 

 

 
5.2 

Agenda Item Statistics 

Skills to Foster Assessment  13 

Regulation 24 (connected carer) including extension, assessment 
update and assessment)   

7 

Foster carer First review 14 

Deregistration (including resignations/retirements and end of 
connected carer placements  

18 

Long Term Matching (In House) 13 

Long Term Matching (IFA) 13 

Allegations Report 6 

Change of Category  2 

 
5.3  The Panel Advisor receives the draft reports to Panel and gives written feedback on 

the quality of the reports, where appropriate, as well as practise advice.  The 
paperwork submitted to Panel is always shared seven days before Panel meets to 
comply with National Minimum Standards. Panel minutes are completed on a weekly 
basis and available for the Agency Decision Maker in a timely manner.  

 
5.4 The Panel are highly motivated to check and challenge by appropriately maintaining 

the role of ‘critical friend’ to the Department with equal emphasis on both aspects. 
Where appropriate, the Panel will offer flexibility without compromising standards.  In 
2015 - 2016 a review of comments from Panel indicated that the quality of work was 
‘good’ or ‘required improvement’, although there were areas to be improved upon, 
with a theme of documents being unsigned, missing summary sheets, and 
grammatical errors.  It was clear that in presentations to Panel by social workers, that 
they knew the foster carers and were professional, confident and knowledgeable in 
their presentation to Panel.  The views of the birth children and looked after children 
are not always documented clearly and the child’s voice is sometimes lost in reports 
and this is an area that needs to be improved upon.  In 2015 -2016, two training 
events were held for supervising social workers around the role of the supervising 
social worker and undertaking fostering reviews, the aim of which was to improve 
practice.  

 
       5.5       Training events for the Foster Panel are held annually and in 2015 this included: 

  
20th April 2015 Education issues for children in care delivered by Lorraine 

Dale, Virtual School Head 
9th November 2015 Fostering for Permanence – Yvonne Howe 
21st December 2015 Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council permanence 

and long term matching for children in foster carer  
 

 *Training planned for 2016 includes:-  
   ‘The Role of The Panel’ (Coram Baaf)  
 

Page 20



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 7 

 

5.6  Attending fostering panel for foster carers can be a daunting experience. The 
Fostering Service is mindful of this. Social Workers do prepare foster carers for this 
experience, and there is a welcome booklet available for foster carers prior to panel, 
which includes photographs of panel members and their role within it. Feedback 
from foster carers regarding their experience through assessment and panel has 
been positive in the year 2015 – 2016. Comments include:    

 
� “ Our allocated social worker was professional at all times, easy to speak 

to and gave us the confidence to complete the work to be assessed” 
� “ Our experience at panel was very good and we wouldn’t change 

anything” 
� “ We were very nervous but the panel members made us feel very relaxed 

and they were very friendly” 
� “We were both anxious about the panel. The photographs and information 

on all panel members helped. We had support from our social worker  

 
6. Fostering Families – Placements  

6.1  The Fostering Service is an integral section of Children and Young People’s 
Services, providing fostering opportunities to children in care through a range of 
fostering placements, which include:   

 
 6.2   Day care for foster carers who need to attend meetings or training events 
 

6.3   Task Centred Placements which are placements for children entering care.  
 
6.4   Long term permanence placements for children and young people who cannot return 

to birth family and where adoption is not the plan. 
 
6.5  Family and friends foster care (Connected Carers) enabling children and young 

people who are unable to live with their parents, to be cared for by extended family 
members, friends or other people who are connected with them.  

 
6.6   Fostering Plus is a Rotherham Borough initiative to accommodate Rotherham’s most 

vulnerable children, typically teenagers.  Fostering Plus carers receive a weekly fee 
and high levels of support and therapeutic intervention in managing and sustaining 
placement, and in developing meaningful relationships to enable children in their 
care to achieve better outcomes. Within this reporting year, Rotherham had 
recruited four Foster Plus carers, with five children in placement and two additional  
emergency foster carers within the scheme who provide emergency out of hours 
support for children entering care in an emergency.   

 
6.7  South Yorkshire Empower and Protect project is a project funded by the four 

neighbouring authorities, Rotherham, Barnsley, Doncaster and Sheffield.  The 
project provides placements for children at risk or/or subject to CSE.  Rotherham 
has successfully recruited four foster carers to this scheme, providing placements 
for six children.  At the end of this reporting year, there were four children within 
these placements.  Foster carers and children in care benefit from additional 
intensive support and therapeutic provision from the project, and as with Foster Plus 
are remunerated at a higher rate.  

 
6.8  Aiming High for Disabled Children Families Together Scheme provides short break 

care for children with disabilities. The aim of this fostering provision is to provide 
respite for children with a disability to give a break to a family in order to enable the 
child to live at home.  In 2015 – 2016, Rotherham had eleven Families Together 
carers.  

Page 21



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 8 

 

 
6.9  At the end of year, Rotherham had a total of 162 Foster Carers providing care for 

182 children.  At the time of writing this report, the number of foster carers has 
increased to 166 with 199 children currently in placement.  Thus in addition to 
increasing the numbers of foster carers (net) Rotherham Fostering has also 
increased the number of placements per fostering household and this will remain a 
focus of work for the Fostering Service in 2017.   

 
6.10 Feedback from newly recruited foster carers has been positive, for example, one 

carer reported in this fostering year, “We are so happy and proud that we made the 
call to the fostering department as we know we will open our arms and our hearts to 
every child we will look after. We are waiting to invite them into our loving home. 
The service you have provided has been 100%”. 

    
7. Approvals, Deregistration and Resignations 
 

7.1  In 2015 Rotherham Fostering Service implemented a recruitment strategy, the Local 
Hero campaign, which had a positive impact on recruitment In the year 2014 – 
2015, there were 147 enquires culminating in 18 foster carers being approved, a 
conversion rate of 11%. The National Average is 12%.  In 2015 -2016, there were 
195 initial enquiries into the service, but this culminated in only 13 foster carers 
being approved a conversation rate of 7%.  

 
7.2   There were seventeen resignations during the year April 2015 – March 2016 which 

equates to 9.5 % of the in-house population; the national average being 13%.  The 
reasons for deregistration are outlined below:  

 
 7.3 

Reason for Resignation/Deregistration  Number  

Deregistered. resigned following safeguarding/practice  

concern 

3 

Child in care turned 18 years and remained under  

‘Staying Put’ arrangements 

1 

Adopted/SGO child placed  2 

Changed in circumstances, including: 

Moved out of area  

Husband wanted a break from fostering  

Two had never taken a placement from approval due to work 
commitments. (approved for babies only)   

Five had been on hold for extensive period of time by choice of 
the foster carer 

    

 
11 

  
  

Page 22



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 9 

 

8.4   Of foster carers who left the service: 
 

Placement Type Number 

Family and Friends 2 

Fostering mainstream 8 

Respite/ day care 7 

 

8.5   In reference back to approvals and resignations, in 2015 – 2016; thirteen new foster 
carers were recruited by Rotherham Fostering Service, but the service ‘lost’ 
seventeen fostering families, a net decrease.  However, in terms of placement 
capacity this is not necessarily the case.  All fostering services lose carers during 
the year to retirement, deciding fostering is no longer for them, or that their family 
circumstances have changed, so there is a need to continually recruit significantly 
just to maintain capacity.  As the resignations table demonstrated, many of the 
foster carers who were de-registered in the year were not and had not been taking 
child placements, so the carers who left the agency were not ‘productive’.  In 2014 – 
2015; 29 fostering households were resigned or deregistered, with a further 17 
leaving the agency in 2015 – 2016.  Despite this, the number of children placed 
within in-house fostering provision has increased. In 2013 – 2014 there were 163 
children (41% of all looked after children) in Rotherham in-house foster care, whilst 
in 2014 – 2015, this had increased to 182 children (45% of all looked after children) 
and as of the end of this reporting year, this had increased again to 188 children.  
However, given that the child in care population has increased, the overall 
percentage of children placed in RMBC fostering provision had dipped to 43.5%.  At 
the time of writing this report, there are currently 199 looked after children placed 
within in-house fostering provision.  It also has to be noted that the number of 
children entering care continues to increase and so whilst the number of children 
within in-house provision increases, so too does that of children placed within IFA 
placements.  Rotherham’s Sufficiency Strategy 2017-19 is designed to address this 
matter, placing more young people within in-house foster placements, increasing 
placement stability and supporting young people to achieve better outcomes. Within 
this strategy, there are a number of themes, which include: 

 

• Carer payment and support 

• Therapeutic provision 

• Edge of care support 

• Regionalisation of adoption 

• Reunification   
 

8.6  This combined approach aims to reduce the number of children entering 
care, reuniting children with their families where it is safe to do so, and 
providing training and therapeutic provision for foster carers for children who 
do enter care.    

 

9.     Children Placed in Foster Care - Information 2015 – 2016   
 

 9.1  As stated above one of the significant issues that Rotherham faces is the 
high number of children and young people that have been placed in 
Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) placements. At the end of the year 
2015 – 2016, there were 442 children in care.  188 of those children were 

Page 23



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 10 

 

placed with Rotherham Borough foster carers, with 140 children placed in 
independent fostering agency placements, (IFA). This is a lower proportion 
than the majority of local authorities.  In addition to this, Rotherham’s in-
house fostering population either live in/or on the fringes of the borough. This 
is not necessarily the case with independent fostering placements, and of 
those 140 children in IFA placements, despite 102 being within a 20 mile 
radius of their home postcode, only 22 children lived within borough.  

 

9.2 This is of concern as it is well understood that the needs of children and 
young people can only be met effectively if they live in an environment that 
provides a high quality of care and support, generally within a family home 
setting and in a geographical location that is familiar.  Wherever possible, 
children and young people should be placed within their own community 
which enables them to continue to have contact with the people and 
community of the most importance to them, thus promoting identify and a 
strong sense of self, fundamental to resilience in later life. In addition, 
placing children in the RMBC area ensures a better oversight and control 
over educational provision and other support services such as Health and 
CAMHS.    

 
9.3 The Council has recognised that it will not meet its sufficiency of placement 

provision for looked after children without attracting additional carers to 
foster for Rotherham and ensuring existing foster carers are retained and 
developed.  It is worthy of note that despite this matter being outside of this 
reporting year, that significant work has been undertaken by Rotherham 
Borough Council, Rotherham Fostering Service and  Rotherham fostering 
families to understand what factors would attract and retain foster carers. 
This has culminated in substantial investment into a new initiative that 
incorporates an increase of the foster carer’s skills payment to incentivise 
and attract new foster carers and a support element that includes training 
and support to retain and develop established foster carers. In addition 
capacity will be further increased over the course of 2017 by the 
development of a more fit for purpose emergency foster carer provision and 
the continued availability of the Pathways to Care scheme whereby foster 
carers can seek capital investment to extend their properties to enable them 
to foster more children. 

 
9.4    In addition to this, whilst 2015-2016 only saw 13 foster carers being 

approved as detailed in the previous section; in the first six month period of 
2016-2017, there have already been 13 foster carers approved, with a 
further 16 in mid-assessment. At the time of writing this report, there are 
currently 198 children placed with in-house foster carers, an increase of 10 
placements from year end.  With the increased ‘offer’, the commitment of the 
fostering service, fostering families and Rotherham’s communications team, 
it is envisaged that with a new full year with our improved payment package 
and an improving service we will recruit more new carers and lose less in 
2016/17, exceeding its target of an increased annual net gain of 15 
additional active placements for each year between 2016 – 2018 (45 
placements in total). Whilst outside of this reporting year, it should be noted 
that fostering recruitment, training and assessment has been increasingly 
busy over the past 6 months with an average of 30 enquiries per month. The 
skills to foster training is delivered every 6 weeks and is planned for a 12 
month period. Feedback about having experienced foster carers at the skills 
to foster training is always positive. Prospective foster carers love to hear 
about “real life” experiences from foster carers. 

 

Page 24



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 11 

 

10.   Placement Stability  

10.1 Placement stability continues to be a factor in offering an effective Fostering 
Service and crucial to ensuring that the Council delivers good outcomes to each 
looked after child.  Stability is measured by two national indicators, NI062 
relating to children who experience three placement moves within 12 months 
and NI063 which relates to children looked after for two and a half years who 
have been in the same placement for two years.  

 
10.2 There has been a continued performance improvement in NI063 placement 

stability figure which was 72.7% at year end.  This is higher than in 2014/15 
(68.8%) and 2014/14 (71.9%).  It is also higher than statistical neighbours, 
(67.6%) and higher than the national top quartile threshold of 71.1%.  

 

10.3  The national indicator NI062 has also evidenced improvement in performance 
at end of year reporting, but at 11.9% at March 2016 is outside of the target of 
10%, higher than the national average, (11%) and higher than statistical 
neighbours, (9.6%).  Whilst higher than Rotherham’s target, it does represent 
improved performance from 12% figure last year but does need to improve 
further.    

 
10.4  It has to be acknowledged that IFAs can provide stable long term placements 

for some young people. There are currently 58 Rotherham young people who 
have been in the same IFA placement for longer than 2 years (37% of total). 
However, between February and July 2016 four in-house placements came to 
an unplanned end where 18 IFA placements were similarly disrupted.  It could 
be argued that this is not surprising given that in general older and more 
challenging looked after young people are more likely to be placed within the 
IFAs.  The emphasis within Rotherham is that placement stability is the key to 
good outcomes being achieved by young people as opposed to the source of 
that stability. As a result, although Rotherham is aiming to grow its internal 
foster carer provision it is also keen to develop a ‘one market’ approach to 
placements with a positive commissioning relationship with the Independent 
Fostering Agencies remaining a key aspect of the Placement Sufficiency 
Strategy.  

 
10.5  In terms of permanency for children in care, in 2015 -2016, 26 fostering 

permanency matches were recommended by fostering panel and approved by 
the ADM, this compares with 22 in 2014 -2015.  Rotherham recognises that 
there is still work to be done around placement stability and the timeliness of 
permanency planning for children in care and in recognition of this the fostering 
service are currently recruiting a permanency worker who will sit within the 
fostering specialist team, along with the connected person’s assessor. A foster 
carer recently commented about the permanency match made with her family, 
“Our experience of the long term matching process was exceptionally child 
focused”. 

 
10.6 The team will also take lead responsibility in assessing private fostering 

arrangements which has previously sat outside the fostering service.  The 
intention is to build a specialist knowledge in the area of permanence for 
children in care outside of adoption and work with the locality services and 
Independent Reviewing Officers to ensure that permanency planning is 
considered when a child enters care to avoid the drift and delay noted by 
OFSTED in 2014.  

 
 

Page 25



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 12 

 

11. Unplanned Endings and Disruptions  
 
11.1 Unplanned endings are when a foster placement ends outside of the child’s care 

planning arrangements.  A disruption occurs when a child who has been 
permanently matched long term within that placement moves as a result of the 
placement breakdown.   

 
11.2 In 2015 -2016, there were twelve unplanned endings of placement involving 

fifteen children in care.  Of those children, four were in a permanency 
placement with three fostering families.  One carer left the agency following 
disruption, one carer had the category of approval reduced to one child only, 
and the other foster carer went on to provide care to another child where the 
plan is long term.   

 
11.3 Four children were moved from three placements as a result of safeguarding 

concerns.  Of those, three foster carers, one foster carer left fostering, one 
carer following a recommendation of deregistration appealed to the 
Independent Review Mechanism, (IRM) and the Agency Decision Maker on 
consideration, reapproved the fostering status, one foster carers category of 
approval was changed following a foster carer review.  

 
11.4 Of the remaining seven children, these were in task centred (short term) 

placements. One foster carer left the agency and one foster carer’s Category of 
Approval was changed.  Four went on to successfully provide foster placements 
for children in care.    

 
11.5  This compares with forty placement disruptions that took place, during the 

same timeframe from within independent fostering agencies.    
 
11.6  Rotherham Fostering Service take permanency for children seriously, and as a 

result of this the main stream fostering team manager will take lead 
responsibility for chairing all placement disruption meetings, and will present 
findings back to fostering panel for a check and challenge overview.  They will 
also present a quarterly report to the Corporate Parenting Panel highlighting 
any thematic issues and action plans as per the recommendation arising from 
the recent OFSTED Monitoring Visit.    

 
12. Staffing in the Fostering Service 
 

12.1 It has been a year of change and development within the Fostering Service, 
which has seen the appointment of a Temporary Head of Service for Children 
in Care and a newly appointed Service Manager.  Recruitment Team 
Manager, Andy Symcox took the decision to retire from fostering after giving 
over 30 years to Rotherham Borough Council Children’s Service. The foster 
service has also recruited a third team manager, which will increase 
management.  

 
 
13.     Fostering Supervision and Support 
 

13.1  Foster Care is a demanding task involving significant responsibilities.  Support 
to foster carers begins at the point they make contact to the service, which 
includes telephone support, training and assessment from the recruiting 
team.   

  

Page 26



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 13 

 

13.2   From the point of approval, foster carers all have a dedicated supervising 
social worker.  Best practice includes formal handover from recruitment 
worker to supervising social worker with the foster carer.  The recruiting 
social worker will be consulted around matching, and in some circumstances 
will undertake joint visits with the supervising social worker to support the 
first placement where it is appropriate to do so. 

 
13.3   Foster Carers require a level of support and supervision commensurate with 

the tasks they perform on behalf of the Local Authority.  Foster Carers are 
visited every six weeks, with newly approved foster carers visited/supported 
more intensely at the start of their fostering journey. 

 
13.4   The supervising social worker continues to support and guide the foster 

carer through their journey through fostering, by providing guidance, support 
and development to the foster carer.  Learning and development continues 
from the point of approval through a carers fostering journey. Following a 
recent educational training event, one foster carer commented, “I will always 
be a good advocate for a child within the planning for their education and do 
my best to support his/her education”.  Another carer commented about her 
understanding of children in care, “We have learned that each young person 
differs. To be a sympathetic  to each child’s development – try to be as open 
as possible and how things differ from when we were younger”, There are no 
foster carers within the fostering service who do not have a Supervising 
Social Worker.   

  

14. Activities and Events 
 

 14.1  The Fostering Service host an annual diary of events to fostering families and 
this is foster carer led in consultation with the department.  In 2014 -2015, 
this included: 

 

• Fostering family Christmas celebration  

• Local Hero party to mark the end of the fostering fortnight  

• A Halloween Party  

• Easter Party  

• Parties in the park run throughout the summer vacation   
 

14.2 These events offer an opportunity for foster carers to network, normalise a 
child in care’s experience by enabling them to spend time with other children 
in care, and provides informal support to foster carers.  Rotherham Fostering 
also contributed to the Children in Care council’s Eid celebration this year.  

 
14.3  Celebration Event: there is an annual celebration event for foster carers, which 

is generally hosted by the service in November, and held at the Carlton Park 
Hotel.  This is always looked forward to, and well attended.  

 
14.4 Support Groups: there are four formal support groups hosted across 

Rotherham and facilitated by supervising social workers:- 
 

• An induction year support group (Unity Centre) (morning) 

• Dinnington (evening) 

• Swinton  (afternoon) 

• Listerdale (morning)  
 

Page 27



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 14 

 

14.5  The aim of the four support groups is to provide a greater opportunity for foster 
carers to participate and gain support.  

 
14.6  Peer support: foster carers are routinely buddied up with other carers,  who 

provide coaching and peer support to other foster carers. 
 

14.7  Sons and Daughters groups: are run monthly and include a calendar of events 
and opportunities for fostering sons and daughters.  Groups are run monthly 
and facilitated by the fostering supervision team, with activities including a trip 
to the coast, a ‘paint a pot’ event, and bowling.  

15. Consultation: 

15.1 In 2015, there were three Foster Carer Forums, on 11th May 2015, 
8th June 2015 and 20th October 2015, when the views of the foster carers 
were listened to, which culminated in a ‘you said – we did’ presentation to 
foster carers.  Changes to the service as a result of this consultation included:   

 

• Updating the Rotherham Fostering Website, Twitter and Facebook to 
be more foster carer friendly   

• Held a joint training event with foster carers and the contact team, 
hosted by the therapeutic team to ensure shared understanding 
around children’s emotional needs and improve communications 
across the services 

• Increased support groups  to give more choice and options across 
fostering 
Introduced a recruitment hub comprising of foster carers, marketing 
lead and fostering  
 

Feedback from the foster carers regarding the Fostering Service, included 
comments, such as:   

 

• “There are approachable and listening team managers”  

• “There is always someone there on the end of the phone”  

• ““I have a good quality Supervising Social Worker who is brilliant” 

• The fostering team are solid” 
 

15.2  In 2016, there were a further three foster carer forums around fees and 
payments, which again culminated in a ‘you said – we did’ presentation to 
foster carers.  Changes to the service as a result of this were: 

 

• Revised foster carer payments to attract and retain foster carers   

• Introduced better training provision to be rolled out in 2017 

• Introduced better support to carers in crisis with the provision of a 
fostering support worker to be rolled out in 2017 

 
15.3  Foster carers were also consulted about the recruitment campaign which 

culminated in the Local Hero campaign, with foster carers and birth children 
taking a leading role in this.   

 
15.4  Whilst outside of this reporting year, Rotherham foster carers, looked after 

children and birth children were consulted and highly involved in the recent 
Children in Care ‘Pride of Rotherham’ event which may in part have led to 
the success of this.  At this event the contributions of sons and daughters in 

Page 28



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 15 

 

fostering was also acknowledged and celebrated with an award and 
certificate.   

 
15.5   Complaints and compliments: There is a higher percentage of compliments 

about foster carers and the fostering service as compared with the wider 
council, and a lower percentage of complaints.  During the period 2015 –
 2016, 0.4% of all complaints made into children’s social care were made 
about the fostering service, whilst 19.5% of compliments were made about 
the fostering service, with a further 7% compliments being specifically about 
foster carers.  

 
15.6  Training:  Rotherham Fostering has a training coordinator who plans and 

coordinates training and ensures that mandatory training is in place for foster 
carers. The table below represents examples of the training and 
development evidence by foster carers in 2014 -2015.   

15.7  

Qualification Number 

 CWDC Training, Support and Development Standards for 
Foster Care 

 Introduction to The Role of Foster Carer/Record Keeping 

23.00 

59.00 

 Emotional Health and Wellbeing  

 Attachment of children in care 

 Introduction to Separation, Grief and Loss  

 Therapeutic Parenting course 

 Managing Challenging Behaviour 

 Life story work  

98.00 

30.00 

41.00 

22.00 

14.00 

 Safeguarding: CSE training/ E-safety for Foster Carers 91.00 

 Education:  LAC Education and Personal Education Plan 124.00 

 Health:  

 Introduction to Assessing the Health Needs of children in 
care  

 Talking about Sex and Relationships  

 First Aid Course and Paediatric First Aid 

20.00 

26.00 

89.00 

 Culture/Equality and Diversity  85.00 

 Health: 
 

 Leaving Care and Staying Put 18.00 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 16 

 

16. Fostering Recruitment Activity and Outcomes 
 

16.1  The service enjoys an excellent relationship with the Communications Team 
and employs its own recruitment officer.  In this financial year the recruitment 
material ‘Local Hero’ was utilised to great effect. The advertisements calling 
for members of the public were very visible around Rotherham. This led to 
an increase of expressions of interest into fostering, and at the time of writing 
this report, the recruitment strategy for this year is looking promising and the 
expressions of interest is increasing month by month, with an equally 
increased rate of approval.  

 
16.2   The Fostering Service has monthly meetings with a hub of twelve foster 

carers who help with the recruitment activities by promoting fostering 
recruitment across Rotherham.  They also promote placement stability and 
fostering cohesion through a calendar of fostering family activity, parties and 
events as detailed previously in the report.  

 
16.3  Foster carers were central to the Local Hero campaign, including interviews 

with foster carers and involved birth children.  This campaign has yielded 
dividends but needs developing further.  

 
16.4  Through the year 2015 – 2016, there was a calendar of monthly recruitment 

activity, where the fostering service attended events to promote fostering.  
There are monthly drop in sessions, adverts in the local press, radio 
campaigns and posters in and around Rotherham.  Fostering is advertised 
on the back of bus tickets and in Rotherham United Football Club’s seasonal 
fixture cards and in 2015 – 2016 reporting year, fostering information flyers 
were included in the Council Tax documents that were sent out to every 
household across Rotherham.  

 

16.5   The Fostering Service promotes fostering via the internet, using 

 Fostering website www.facebook.comhttp://fosteringinrotherham.org.uk/   

 Facebook  www.facebook.comhttp://fosteringinrotherham.org.uk/ 

 Twitter https://twitter.com/fosterrotherham 

 http://rotherhamhero.co.uk/ 
 

16.6  At the time of writing this report, there is currently a fostering campaign being 
introduced with SYEP (Barnsley, Sheffield, Rotherham and Doncaster Trust) 
promoting fostering for teenagers and siblings, and the filming for this was 
completed on 11th October 2016.  Three of Rotherham Foster Carers were 
interviewed as part of this campaign along with foster carers from across 
South Yorkshire, so this is an exciting time moving forward in fostering.  

 
17. Key Challenges, Developments, Targets and Actions for 2016 – 2017 

17.1 Rotherham Fostering Service need to continually review practices and 
consider innovative ways of recruiting and attracting foster carers to 
Rotherham to meet its target of fifteen new foster placements by 2017.  New 
schemes planned for 2016/17 include: 

 

Page 30



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 17 

 

• STAR parties (start thinking about recruitment) to be rolled out 
across the fostering community  

• Development of a Fostering recruitment hub (foster carer led 
recruitment) 

• South Yorkshire wide initiative  

• The recruitment of a support worker and fostering resource worker 
to help recruit and retain foster carers 

• Out of hours – fostering specific 

• A clear assessment of the strengths and vulnerabilities of the 
service and associated action plan, which will include: 

o A targeted review of initial enquires into the service in 
the previous year to understand barriers to proceeding 
to assessment for potential applicants, and 

o A targeted review of carers who left the agency in the 
last three year period to understand any lessons to be 
learned by the service to improve practice, and   

o Consultation event with foster carers    
18.  Summary 

18.1   As with Rotherham Borough Council, Rotherham Fostering Service is on an 
improvement journey.  It is acknowledged that in order to reach the sufficiency 
plans, Rotherham Fostering need to recruit and retain more foster carers, 
enabling Rotherham Looked After Children to be placed within the community 
which they know and where they belong.  Whilst this is a challenging time, the 
Fostering Service are motivated and up to the challenge. The recent review of 
the support and financial arrangements for foster carers, along with the 
recruitment and marketing strategy is central in its ambitions being realised.   

 
 
19.  Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
 19.1   That the Corporate Parenting Panel accept and recommend this report. 
 
20. Consultation 
 
 20.1   Not applicable   
 
21.  Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
 
 21.1   Not applicable  
 
22. Financial and Procurement Implications  
 

22.1   There are no direct financial implications to this report. The Fostering    Team, 
in conjunction with Service Manager and Head of Service continues to monitor 
the Fostering Team spend in line with RMBC finance team.  

 
23. Legal Implications 

23.1  There are no direct legal implications to this report, save to say that the 
Fostering Team operate within the relevant statutory framework set out earlier 
in this report together with Statutory Guidance and the Council’s  policy and 
procedures.    

 
 
 

Page 31



Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 
Version 4.0 -  25/11/16 

Page 18 

 

24.    Human Resources Implications 
 
   24.1  There are no direct human resource implications to this report.   
 
25.    Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults 
 
   25.1   Not applicable.  
 
26.     Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 

26.1 There are no direct implications within this report, other than to say that the 
Fostering Team are compliant with the Human Rights Act and Equal 
Opportunities Policy. 

 
27.    Implications for Partners and Other Directorates 
 
   27.1  Not applicable.  
 
28.    Risks and Mitigation 
 

28.1 Strong managerial oversight by Directorship Leadership Team. along with 
fortnightly Performance Management Meetings, mitigates risks by holding 
managers and workers to account for practice and enabling a climate for 
managers to check and challenge practice across services. 

 
 
29.  Accountable Officer(s) 
 
 Mel Meggs, Deputy Strategic Director CYPS 
 Mel.Meggs@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
 
 Ian Walker Interim Head of Services, Children in Care 
 Ian.Walker@rotherham.gov.uk  
 
 
 Approvals Obtained from:- 
 
 Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services:- N/A 
 
 Director of Legal Services:- N/A 
 
 Head of Procurement (if appropriate):-N/A 
 
   
 Anne-Marie Banks - Service Manager, Adoption, Fostering and Therapeutic Team    
 Ian Walker Interim Head of Services, Children in Care 
 
 This report is published on the Council's website or can be found at:- 
 
 http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories 

Page 32



 

 

 
Public Report 

Corporate Parenting Panel Meeting 
 

 
Summary Sheet 
 
Council Report Corporate Parenting Panel Meeting 6th December 2016 
 
Title Corporate Parenting Report 
 
Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? No 
 
Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report Ian Thomas – Strategic 
Director CYPS 
 
Report Author(s) Ian Walker, Acting Head of Service, Children in Care 
 
Ward(s) Affected All 
 
Summary 
Looked After Children generally experience poorer outcomes in terms of relation to 
their education, health and transitions to adulthood. These outcomes are the result of 
a combination of negative early life experiences and a legacy of poor standards of 
care provided by Rotherham as a Corporate Parent. 
 
The Looked After Children and Care Leavers Strategy 2017-20 provides a 
framework for the improvements that are essential if this legacy is to be addressed 
and better outcomes achieved. 
 

Recommendations  

The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to endorse and adopt the attached strategy.  
The Corporate Parenting Panel will be asked to review the Strategy and support its 
key objectives. The Panel will also be asked to monitor the implementation of the 
Strategy and hold individual officers or partner agencies to account for any delays or 
barriers being experienced.  

List of Appendices Included 
 
The full Strategy is set out as an appendix to this report. 
 
Background Papers 
 
None 
 
Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
 
Following agreement from the Departmental Leadership Team this Strategy will be 
presented to the Corporate Parenting Panel for approval. 

Page 33 Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
Council Approval Required 
 
No 
 
Exempt from the Press and Public 
 
No  

Page 34



 

 

 
Title:  Corporate Parenting Panel Report  
 
1. Recommendations  
  

1.1 The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to endorse the attached strategy.  
The Corporate Parenting Panel will be asked to review the Strategy and 
support its key objectives. The Panel will also be asked to monitor the 
implementation of the Strategy and hold individual officers or partner 
agencies to account for any delays or barriers being experienced.  

 
2. Background 
  
 2.1  Both the Peer Review and Ofsted Monitoring Visit undertaken in October 

2016 noted that Rotherham CYPS had a greater proportion of young 
people in its care with significant emotional needs. These complex needs 
were attributable to a legacy of being left in unsafe and harmful situations 
for too long within their birth families and to a historical poor care 
experience once they became looked after. These experiences continue 
to impact on many looked after young people as evidenced by the high 
number of placement disruptions, poor educational outcomes and the 
reliance on out of authority placements.  

 
 2.2   This Strategy analyses these needs and outlines the plans to be 

implemented over the course of the next 3 years in order to improve the 
quality of the service we provide for looked after children and to better 
support them into successfully transitioning to adulthood         

 
 
3. Key Issues 
 
 3.1 The Key Service Priorities for 2017 are set down in the Strategy as being:- 

• Stability and consistency in placements and the workforce. 

• Supporting social workers to move from compliance to quality. 

• Facilitating increased and enhanced management oversight. 
 
 
4.  Options considered and recommended proposal 
  

4.1 This strategy has been developed following a detailed analysis of the 
existing quality of service offered to looked after children as compared to their 
identified needs. As a result it has been designed to improve the outcomes for 
looked after young people and care leavers and to support their successful 
transition to adulthood. Accordingly it is recommend that the Directorate 
Leadership Team endorse this strategy and agree for it to be considered at the 
Corporate Parenting Panel. 

 
 
 
 

Page 35



 

 

5. Consultation 
 
 5.1  Pending agreement from the Directorate Leadership Team there will be a 

consultation process undertaken with the Looked After Children Council. 
Their comments will be incorporated into the final version of the Strategy 
prior to its publication. There will also be further consultation processes 
undertaken with wider partners, carers and foster carers and the birth 
parents of looked after children.   

 
 
6.  Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
 
 6.1  It is planned that the Strategy will be implemented as from January 2017. 

Accountability for implementing this decision will be with the Head of 
Service for Children in Care.  

 
7. Financial and Procurement Implications  
 

 7.1 The financial implications of the those initiatives included in 3.6 which form 
part of the Council’s overarching CYPS Sufficiency Strategy are to be 
presented to Cabinet on 14th November 2016. 

7.2 A detailed financial analysis of the costings and funding arrangements of 
the Regional Adoption Agency will form part of the next stage of the 
process as the future operating model is further progressed. 

7.3 The financial implications of the Foster Carer Payments Scheme, Support 
and Development element of the strategy was included in the report to 
Cabinet on 12th September 2016. 

 
8.  Legal Implications 

 8.1 The Looked After Children Strategy proposed by this report will underpin 
the Council’s compliance with the statutory duties it owes towards looked 
after children, such as the duties under the Children Act 1989 (as 
amended by the Children and Families Act 2014) to provide 
accommodation for and to safeguard and promote the welfare of looked 
after children,  and a duty to promote the child’s educational achievement. 

 
9.      Human Resources Implications 
 
 9.1 The only Human Resource implications arise out of the proposed 

implementation of the Regional Adoption Agency. This will necessitate the 
implementation of the TUPE Regulations.  

 
 
10.    Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults 
 

 10.1 This Strategy is specifically designed to improve the care experience for looked 

after young people, to improve their outcomes and to support their successful 
transition to adulthood. 

 

Page 36



 

 

11     Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 
 11.1 The Strategy is designed to address the potential inequalities encountered 

by looked after young people and to support their Human Rights. 
 
 
12.    Implications for Partners and Other Directorates 
 

12.1 There are implications for partner agencies and other directorates in terms 
of the expectations being made placed upon them as part of their 
Corporate Parenting responsibilities. However, no commitment has been 
placed in this Strategy without their prior agreement.  

 
13.    Risks and Mitigation 
 

 13.1 The successful implementation of this Strategy will be dependent upon a 
number of agencies working together as a true Corporate Parent to 
promote the best interests of looked after children. The Corporate 
Parenting Panel will be the key forum for driving the Strategy and thus 
mitigating the risks arising from any delays or barriers being encountered.  

 
14.  Accountable Officer(s) 
 
Ian Walker, Acting Head of Service, Children in Care  
 
 
 
 
Approvals Obtained from:- 
 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services:- Mick Wildman 
 
Director of Legal Services:- Neil Concannon 
 
Head of Procurement (if appropriate):- N/a 
 
 
 
 
This report is published on the Council's website or can be found at:- 
 
http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories= 
 

Page 37



 

Page 1 of 24 
 

Rotherham MBC 

 
 (DRAFT)  

 
 
 

Looked After Children and Care 
Leaver’s Strategy 

2017-2020 

 
 
 
 
 

‘Quality means doing the right thing when no-one 
is looking’ 

 
(Henry Ford) 

 
 
 
 
 

‘If you’re not going to make it better, then don’t 
bother’ 

 
(Rotherham Looked After Young Person) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Version 7 
Date of Publication:  November 2016 
Date of Review:  November 2017 

Page 38



 

Page 2 of 24 
 

 

Contents 

 
 

1. Foreword 
 

2. Vision Statement 

 
3. Introduction and Context 
 

4. The Corporate Parent 
 
5. Strategic Drivers 
 

6. The Needs of our Children 
 

7. Strategic Objectives  

 

8. Key Service Priorities  
 

9. Placement Sufficiency 
 

10. Education and Attainment  

 
11. Economic Wellbeing and Independence  
 

12. Workforce Development  
 
13. Oversight and Governance 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

Page 3 of 24 
 

 

Glossary of terms and acronyms  
 
CAMHS – Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 
 
CPP – Corporate Parenting Panel  
 
CSE – Child Sexual Exploitation 
 
DfE – Department for Education 
 
EHCP – Education, Health and Care Plan  
 
EYFS – Early Years Foundation Stage 
 
ePEP – Electronic Personal Education Plan 
 
FGC – Family Group Conference 
 
IFA – Independent Fostering Agencies 
 
LAC – Looked After Children 
 
NEET – Not in Education, Employment or Training  
 
OoA – Out of Authority (residential care) 
 
PEPs – Personal Education Plans  
 
RAA – Regional Adoption Agency 
 
RTT – Rotherham Therapeutic Team 
 
SDQ – Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

Page 4 of 24 
 

1.  Foreword 

 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Sharon Kemp 

Chief Executive 

 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 

Councillor Gordon Watson 

Advisory Member for C&YPS 

Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel  

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Ian Thomas 

Strategic Director 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

                                                                                         The Looked After Children Council  

 

 

 

Page 41



 

Page 5 of 24 
 

2. Vision Statement  

 

The highest quality of children’s social care can transform the life chances of the most vulnerable 

children in Rotherham. It can offer every child who has had a difficult start the promise of a brighter 

future, with every prospect of success. 

For the children and young people in or leaving our care we recognise that those who grow up with 

safe, stable and nurturing relationships form stronger friendships, develop greater resilience, 

achieve more in school and are more likely to build successful careers and have positive 

relationships throughout their lives. The right support gives children independence, choice and 

control as they enter adulthood. 

It is the vision of the Looked After Children Service for all of our children and young people to be 

provided with a safe and dependable foundation from which they can grow and flourish. 

If we are not going to ‘make it better’ then indeed - why bother? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



 

Page 6 of 24 
 

3. Introduction and Context  

 

As a Council striving to become a Child Centred Borough, Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council takes its role as Corporate Parent for Looked After Children (LAC) and Care Leavers very 
seriously. Elected members and officers understand that looked after children and care leavers are 
a more vulnerable group than their peers who are not looked after and that, their life chances and 
overall outcomes are more likely to be poorer as a result of this. Consequently, Looked after 
children require higher standards of parenting than their peers and additional levels of support to 
overcome this disadvantage and reach their full potential. As the largest and most resource rich 
group of parents in the Borough, RMBC is committed to supporting all looked after children and 
care leavers to achieve their full potential and make a successful transition to adulthood.  

 

In supporting our children and young people all of our plans and actions will be framed by the 
rhetorical question; 

 

“In whatever we do (and whatever that may be) 

 would this be good enough for my child?” 

 

This Looked After Children’s Strategy 2017-20 sets out how  any legacy issues will be addressed, 
how the current needs of looked after children will be better met  and also how the Looked After 
Children Service will drive  the aspiration for the department to achieve its ambition to become 
‘outstanding’.     

 

This strategy also sets out the aspiration for achieving improved outcomes for all our children and 
young people in care and leaving care and the expectations placed upon all partner agencies and 
commissioned services in the development and delivery of services for and with looked after 
children. Whilst the local authority is the lead agency in developing and implementing this strategy, 
it has been developed in collaboration with a wide range of partners and will be owned and 
implemented by all professionals working with children, young people, their parents and carers.  

 

This strategy is linked to and informed by the following: 

� The Corporate Parenting Strategy. 

� The Looked After Children and Care Leavers Placement Sufficiency Strategy.  

� The Corporate Parenting Promise to Looked After Children. 

� The Pledge to Looked After Children. 

� The Rotherham Offer to Care Leavers. 

� The Early Help Strategy. 

  

Page 43



 

Page 7 of 24 
 

4. The Corporate Parent 

 

When a child comes into care, Rotherham MBC becomes the Corporate Parent. Put simply, the 
term ‘Corporate Parent’ means the collective responsibility of the Council, elected members, 
employees and partner agencies, for providing the best possible care and safeguarding for the 
children who are looked after by the Council. A child in the care of RMBC looks to the whole 
council to be the best parent it can be to that child. Every member and employee of the Council 
has the statutory responsibility to act for that child in the same way that any good parent would act 
for their own child. 

Further to this, Section 27 of the Children Act 1989 places a duty on health, housing and education 
authorities to assist the Children and Young People’s Service in carrying out its functions under the 
Act. This includes assisting in the Corporate Parenting function and to provide joined up services 
that best meets the needs of the child. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 44



 

Page 8 of 24 
 

5. Strategic Drivers 

 

The objectives of the Strategy are framed by the following drivers: 

 

� Ensure that the outcomes for LAC/care leavers are as good as those of their peers in all 
aspects of their lives so that they achieve a successful transition to independence as young 
adults. 
 

� Have a shared vision and agreed priority objectives for those working with LAC/care 
leavers. 
 

� Ensure that services meet at least a ‘good’  judgement within the Ofsted Inspection 
Framework for Children in Need of Help and Protection, Children Looked After and Care 
Leavers. 
 

� Ensure that services for LAC and care leavers provide best value for money are evidence 
based and demonstrate a positive and tangible impact on their  lives. 
 

� Deliver the Children in Care and Care Leavers Promise 
 

 
The Rotherham Children in Care and Care Leaver Promise 

Promise 1 -  We will help you to live in a safe place where you are protected from harm 

Promise 2 -  We will listen to what you have to say and make sure it makes a difference 

Promise 3 -  We will help you to learn and do your best at school and college 

Promise 4 -  We will fully involve you in plans and decisions about you and your future 

Promise 5 -  We will help you to learn new skills as you grown up and become an adult 

Promise 6 -  We will help you take part in activities that you enjoy/are interested in 

Promise 7 -  We will help you to be proud of yourself and celebrate your individual beliefs 

Promise 8 -  We will help you to be happy and healthy 

Promise 9 -  We will help you to explore and be ready for the world of work 

 

  

Page 45



 

Page 9 of 24 
 

6. The Needs of Our Children 

 

The Ofsted Inspection (October 2014) determined that Children’s Services in Rotherham were 
rated as being ‘Inadequate’. The inspection report highlighted that there were serious weaknesses 
caused by delays in initiating proceedings and delays in considering permanency. The LAC Peer 
Review undertaken in October 2016 highlighted that the legacy issues arising from these delays 
was likely to have a significant impact on the rate of improvement likely to be achieved within the 
Looked After Children (LAC) Service. This is because looked after children who are now 
approaching adolescence are likely to have experienced protracted periods of neglect and harm 
while living at home leading to them having increased emotional and psychological needs once in 
our care.  

 
This has been exacerbated by the period of time in care when those emotional and psychological 
needs were poorly met and this is manifesting itself in a significant number of the looked after 
children cohort experiencing a series of placement breakdowns and difficulties in school, having to 
be placed in out of authority placements, not being able to develop consistent and trusting 
relationships with adults and not engaging in their education or health provision. For too many of 
our long-term looked after young people there have been long periods of no, or limited, social work 
contact and no, or limited, consideration of permanence leading to significant drift being 
experienced. Care plans have been not been kept up to date, have been vague and non-specific 
with no clear targets or timescales set and with minimal input of the young person themselves. 
Case file recording has been of variable quality making the rationale for decision making and the 
child’s journey difficult to understand.  

 
For many years Rotherham has failed to meet its sufficiency duty leading to too many young 
people being placed Out of Authority where once again they have been allowed to drift. Those 
young people vulnerable to CSE have had insufficiently well-developed plans, risk assessments or 
responses to further incidents and care leavers have not been made aware of their rights and 
entitlements, have had poor access to emotional support and mental health services and too many 
of them have not been in education, employment or training.  

 
Historically Rotherham has not been a good corporate parent for its children, for example at the 
Ofsted 2014 inspection only 21% of children had an up-to-date Health Assessment recorded and 
only 41% had a recent dental check. In 2014 Personal Education Plans (PEPs) were considered to 
be poor both in completion rate and quality and therefore not fit for purpose of driving outcomes. 

 
Rotherham has an increasingly high number of children in its care. Part of this is due to the 
remedial actions necessary to address the legacy of a lack of timely interventions that left children 
in unsafe circumstances for too long. In addition, Rotherham has had an inadequate ‘alternative 
offer’ to support children and families at times of crisis and this has also lead to more children 
coming into care. In conjunction with this the recruitment and retention of in-house foster carers 
has been insufficient to meet demand and the children’s residential care homes have been of such 
poor or inconsistent quality that they have been deemed unviable in their current state. In turn this 
has led to an over-reliance on Independent Fostering Agencies and private providers of children’s 
residential care homes and to too many young people have been placed some distance away from 
the RMBC boundary. As a result the LAC Service has had less control over the support offered to 
these children including education and CAMHS provision. These placements are also more likely 
to disrupt which leads to concerning levels of instability and poorer outcomes being achieved by 
our young people.  

 

 

 

Page 46



 

Page 10 of 24 
 

7. Strategic Objectives   

 

The following strategic objectives build on the improvements in strengthening the compliance in 
relation to the service to ensure there are no longer widespread systemic failures. They define 
what key achievements and service improvements will need to be made over the course of the 
next three years in order to improve the outcomes for looked after children. All of the objectives are 
measurable and they relate to key aspects of children’s development. These objectives have been 
identified as it is clear that success in achieving them will have a significantly positive impact on 
children during their childhood and improve their ability to lead successful and happily lives as 
adults. 

 

1. To improve the timeliness of identifying and securing placement stability and 
permanence so that children are able to make and sustain safe, nurturing and enduring 
relationships. 

 

All evidence shared by the DfE indicates that the best outcomes are achieved by young people 
who are helped to remain in a stable and consistent placement that provides them with the 
opportunity to have a longstanding relationship with an adult carer.  

Research (‘The Educational Progress of Looked After Children in England: Linking Care and 
Educational Data’ – Rees Centre and University of Bristol 2015) suggests that for every placement 
change after the age of 11 is associated with one-third of a grade less at GCSE; young people in 
care who change school in Years 10 or 11 score over five grades less than those who do not; 
young people living in residential or another form of care at age 16 score over six grades less than 
those who were in kinship or foster care. 
 
Furthermore, the Virtual School report that every significant change that a young person 
experiences in their life will result in a reduction in the GCSE attainment by one third of a grade in 
every exam they sit. As most placement changes also bring a change of school this may result in 
two thirds of a grade reduction for every placement move.  
 

In September 2016 13.7% of the cohort had, had three or more placement moves over the course 
of 12 months (62 young people) meaning that they will have lost at least 2 grades on their peers 
even before they sit their exams. This means almost 30% of our LAC are already likely to be at an 
increased risk of an unfavourable outcome, with pre-care experiences already having impacted on 
outcomes. 

 
Further to this, in September 2016 69.7% of the total LAC cohort had been in a stable placement of 
more than 2 years (99 young people)standing with the trend being slightly downward.  This means 
almost 30% of our LAC are already likely to be at risk of an unfavourable outcome. 

 
Addressing this trend is key therefore to improving outcomes for LAC. This is being addressed by 
the establishing and regularly reviewing a Permanence Tracker in which the young people who 
have a permanence plan in place or have been matched on a long-term basis with their current 
carer are monitored and progressed. Both of these will support young people to greater placement 
stability.  

 
This work is supported by the Sufficiency Plan which sets out the mechanisms to increase our own 
placement provision and reduce the reliance on out of authority private providers in both residential 

and foster care. However, it is acknowledged that IFAs can provide stable long term 
placements for some young people and a ‘one market approach’ needs to be implemented 
to best meet the needs of our young people. There are currently 58 Rotherham young 

Page 47



 

Page 11 of 24 
 

people who have been in the same IFA placement for longer than 2 years (37% of total). 
However, between February and July 2016 four in-house placements came to an 
unplanned end where 18 IFA placements were similarly disrupted.  It could be argued that 
this is not surprising given that our older and more challenging looked after young people 
are more likely to be placed within the IFAs.  Placement stability as opposed to the source 
of that provision is key to good outcomes being achieved with every change of placement 
and school being assessed at reducing GCSE grades by one third. 

 

2. To improve the emotional wellbeing and physical health of looked after children. 

 
At the end of September 2016 93.6% of young people had an up-to-date health assessment and 
91.6% had a recent dental check-up. Although the vast majority of the shortfall consisted of older 
adolescents who decided to decline the service, the performance is, nonetheless, below our target. 
To address this, the LAC Nurse has undertaken a review which evidenced that if a young person is 
supported to establish a relationship with a health professional early on during their time as a LAC 
they will be more likely to engage and participate in their health care arrangements throughout their 
childhood. As a result the LAC Nursing Team are piloting a ‘meet and greet’ style visit to all LAC 
within one week of their admission to care to see them in their placement as opposed to in a 
hospital or clinic setting. The focus of this visit will be to introduce themselves, explain LAC health 
service provision, discuss their health needs and support them to access future health and dental 
assessments. 

 

The emotional wellbeing of LAC is supported via the Rotherham Therapeutic Team (RTT) 
(previously known as the Looked After and Adopted Children Therapeutic Team - LAACTT). This 
service is only available to young people placed in or close to the Rotherham MBC area. Those 
young people who are placed Out of Authority have to access local CAMHS support which can be 
problematic for a range of cross border arrangements which conspire to adversely impact on 
young people. In turn this can be a factor which contributes to out of area placement disruptions 
and supports the need to grow our in-house provision. As part of the Sufficiency Plan there is 
therefore a proposal to expand the capacity of the RTT to ensure we are able to improve access to 
therapeutic services when they are required. In addition the most recent agreement with RDASH in 
respect of the Statement of Purpose for the CAMHS Service specifies that locally placed LAC will 
be prioritised for interventions as well as assessment by November 2016.  

 

At present the ‘Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire’ (SDQ) is an under-developed and under-
used resource, although the RTT do use it to frame their interventions. Although SDQs are 
completed they are not routinely reported or analysed to inform planning and decision making at a 
strategic level. The introduction of Liquid Logic will provide more timely performance reports to 
enable the LAC Service to better identify those children and young people with an SDQ of 18+, 
ensure a timely consideration of a referral to the RTT or CAMHS, track the intervention and assess 
the impact of that intervention via a revised SDQ. 

 

3. To improve educational progress and attainment and narrow the gap between the 
attainment of LAC and their peers. 

The Virtual School has taken responsibility for driving the completion rate and quality of PEPs 
since September 2015.  A Rotherham standard of termly PEPs has been introduced to ensure a 
targeted focus on education that mirrors school practice.  An electronic PEP system (ePEP) has 
been commissioned and is now embedded practice that has streamlined processes leading to a 
greater focus on the education rather than the paperwork.   Schools and social workers have 24/7 
access to the ePEP with an increasing number of foster carers accessing the system.  

Page 48



 

Page 12 of 24 
 

The Virtual School model has LAC advocates that strive to attend every PEP meeting both in and 
out of borough in order to raise the quality of educational dialogue, support and challenge for all 
Rotherham LAC.  This practice has been well received and is respected by schools.   

Every looked after child should have an up to date PEP and as of September 2016, 97.63% of 
young people had such an up to date plan in place. PEP audits in 2015-16 demonstrated 
improving quality.  All PEPS from September 2016 will be quality assured through the Virtual 
School with verification from Inclusion Support Services and an external consultant. In terms of 
2015-16 GCSE outcomes, of the cohort of young people that had been in care for at least 12 
months in March 2016, 4 young people achieved at least 5 A*-C passes including English and 
Maths out of a total eligible cohort of 32 (10 of whom have special educational needs and a further 
12 of whom were in receipt of an SEN support plan in school).  

Schools are required to request LAC Pupil Premium funding through the ePEP system which must 
be linked to SMART targets that address need. 

Processes have been developed to reduce drift and delay in securing education at the same time 
as care placements but systems are not yet rigorous enough.  There is a need for Education and 
Health Care Plan (EHCP) assessments to be fast-tracked for LAC to reduce drift and delay.  There 
is also an issue with cross-border SEND delays resulting from other LAs having different priorities, 
thresholds and processes.  The impact of this would be reduced if less LAC were placed out of 
authority. However there remains a sufficiency issue around SEND specialist provision and 
Alternative Provision.  

4. To improve support and opportunities for care leavers to increase the number and 
proportion who are in Education, Employment or Training (EET). 

 
In respect of care leavers who are in EET the performance of the Leaving Care team compares 
favourably with national and statistical neighbours. Whilst in September 2016 70.3% of care 
leavers were EET the latest national average was only 48% and the statistical neighbour average 
was only 50.4%.  However, work continues to support yet more care leavers into EET 
opportunities.   

 
At present there are no care leavers who have accessed a Modern Apprenticeship that has been 
provided by RMBC. The reasons for this have been explored and revealed that whilst all 
apprenticeships require a GCSE A-C grade in Maths and English at entry level the educational 
data above indicates that this is beyond the attainment of most of our current LAC. In addition 
many LAC have experienced some degree of disrupted attachments in their lives and this makes it 
more difficult for them to sustain a prompt and regular attendance record at a work placement and 
many require additional support to manage within the world of work and training. Barriers resulting 
from social, emotional or mental health issues have led to a lack of development of appropriate 
skills for some care leavers to access either college or work placements. 

In order to address these factors the Leaving Care Service is developing a project with the Modern 
Apprentice Programme to:- 

� Provide additional support to assist LAC to achieve their A-C in maths and English. 

� Establish more pre-apprenticeship programmes and work experience opportunities 
to support LAC into the working environment. 

� Broaden the apprenticeship opportunities from the traditional caring and business 
support professions to more diverse areas of employment.   

 

In respect of the provision of suitable accommodation, the Leaving Care Team and the 
Commissioning Service continues to work to expand the range of accommodation options for care 
leavers. This includes working more closely with Adults Services to develop an effective Transition 
Planning process and to enable vulnerable care leavers who don’t meet the mental health or 
learning disability criteria to access supported accommodation. 

Page 49



 

Page 13 of 24 
 

A strong partnership approach has been developed over the last 12 months with Housing Strategy 
and the wider housing market in Rotherham which has resulted in the provision of 7 new 
apartments of Leaving Care provision in Rawmarsh. An exciting all age extra care development is 
planned which will include a 4 bedroomed detached new build for leaving care provision, supported 
by Voluntary and Community Sector input in relation to Sexual Health Services, Drugs and Alcohol 
and Domestic Violence. A Strategic Partnership is also being developed with the private sector to 
establish outstanding residential care provision in Rotherham. A further provider has recently, 
based on our new partnership approach, secured a 4 bedroomed new build with a view to 
providing in borough residential care provision which will enable us to support, where appropriate, 
young people back into borough.  

 
The other measure of the effectiveness of the service is the number of care leavers who remain in 
meaningful contact with their Personal Adviser from the Leaving Care Team. Although care leavers 
are adults and this is therefore very much a ‘voluntary’ arrangement, the team’s performance for 
2015/16 was good at 91% of care leavers maintaining meaningful contact with their Personal 
Advisor (8 weekly minimum standard). To further enhance the relationships that care leavers have 
with their PAs, the team has recently moved to a new site near the town centre at Chatham Villas. 
Phase 2 of this project will be to develop a ‘drop-in’ facility in the building to encourage care 
leavers to maintain even more regular contact and receive input to strengthen their independence 
skills. 

 

5. To listen to children and young people to ensure that their voices  influence their 
own care plans as well as wider service delivery and development. 

 

There is an increasingly effective Child in Care Council in place with 12 young people providing 
regular and meaningful representation on behalf of the wider LAC cohort. These young people 
support service development by populating interview panels for staff recruitment, by attending and 
contributing to the Corporate Parenting Panel process and by participating in foster carer training. 
They are also becoming increasingly involved in the strategic agenda by attending and contributing 
to regional participation events.  

However, this remains an area for further development and the number of young people actively 
involved in participation processes needs to increase. In particular the voice of the young people 
placed out of authority needs to be significantly amplified as does the voice of younger children in 
care and those with disabilities. 

The Virtual School has developed the pupil voice within the ePEP which is now captured for most 
pupils with schools expected to record their response and actions resulting from that pupil voice.   
The Virtual School requests attendance of pupils at PEP meetings (or part thereof) and asks 
schools to record within the PEPs the specific contribution of social workers and foster carers to 
directly support education.  Schools, social workers and carers are being asked to raise their 
aspirations for the children in their care as well as develop and inspire aspirations within our young 
people. 

 

  

Page 50



 

Page 14 of 24 
 

8. Key Service Priorities 

 

Arising from these strategic objectives, the LAC Service has agreed the following key service 
priorities: to improve and develop overall service delivery and standards of practice:- 
 

� Stability and Consistency in placements and in workforce. 
 

� Supporting social workers to move from compliance to quality. 
 

� Facilitating increased and enhanced management oversight. 

 

These key service priorities will be reviewed on an annual basis. 

  

Page 51



 

Page 15 of 24 
 

9. Placement Sufficiency 

 

Addressing placement sufficiency results in us being able to ensure we are able to place 
the right children in our care in the right placements at the right time (please refer to the 
Placement Sufficiency Strategy for Looked After Children and Care Leavers for 2017-20). 

At the inception of this Strategy it has been acknowledged that there are too many looked after 
children in the care of RMBC. There has been a consistent upward trend in the numbers of looked 
after children from 424 as of January 2016 to 452 as of end September (6% increase in a 9 month 
period). If this trend was to continue by 2017 there would be 479 looked after children in 
Rotherham. Whilst this trend is reflected across many local authorities in the Yorkshire and 
Humber region, at a rate of 80.2 per 10,000 children this is significantly above the national average 
of 60 looked after children per 10,000 of population (as at 31st  March 2016). Through a number of 
targeted interventions Rotherham aims to safely reduce the number of LAC to around 360 (64 per 
10,000 population) by 2020. 

 

To facilitate this reduction Rotherham has developed an overarching Sufficiency Strategy that 
dovetails with the LAC Strategy to ensure that we only have the ‘right’ children in our care and that 
they are in the ‘right’ placements at the ‘right’ time. The evidence based Strategy incorporates 
some of the best practice identified in “Putting Children First” (2016) and consists of the following 5 
strands:  

 
 

I. Enhanced ‘Edge of Care’ Interventions to support children and families where there is an 
immediate risk of family breakdown or to respond to families in crisis. The proposed location of 
the service in Early Help will ensure that the opportunity to intervene earlier when problems 
begin to emerge is enhanced by a robust continuum of evidence based practice across the 
children’s workforce 
  

a. An ‘Edge of Care’ Team – by investing in the recruitment and development of a 
dedicated team of practitioners offering a range of services to support children to 
remain living safely with their immediate or extended families they will be given the best 
chance to thrive without long-term reliance on services. This provision is projected to 
achieve a net reduction of 69 LAC over the 3 year period of this Strategy.  
 

b. Multi-Systemic Therapy (MST) – an intensive programme that works within the whole 
ecology of a young person including parents, family, the community and school at the 
same time in a solution-focused, strengths-based approach to empower the family to 
take responsibility for solving problems. It is projected that the implementation of MST 
will create a net reduction of 12 LAC over the period of this strategy. In the longer-term 
this strategy will also push demand for placements down from costly high tier services 
to less expensive early interventions.   
 

c. Family Group Conferencing (FGC) – FGC is an effective tool for identifying and 
engaging with wider family members and friends at an early stage of concern regarding 
a child. It is a child-centred, family-led decision making and planning process which 
develops existing strengths to build safety for children. Learning from other local 
authorities indicates that the FGC model is most effective when delivered in-house as 
part of an early help model. Targeting services at children and young people at an 
earlier stage of their journey is likely to reduce the number of children subject to a child 
protection plan and consequently reduce the numbers that escalate to PLO care 
proceedings and ultimately entering care. It is estimates that a wider FGC offer will 
reduce the number of LAC by 72 over the 3 year period. 
 

Page 52



 

Page 16 of 24 
 

d. Pause Project – It has been  determined that over a 7 year period 29% of care 
applications in the UK involved women who had previously had a child removed from 
their care and this often related to trans-generational patterns of neglect and/or abuse. 
The Pause Project aims to engage with mothers on a one to one basis to provide 
intensive therapeutic activities and practical support to encourage them to think of 
themselves as individuals, often for the first time in their lives. The programme gives 
women the chance to ‘pause’ and take control of their lives, breaking the destructive 
cycle that causes them and their children deep trauma. To support this process they are 
encouraged to take Long Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) during the 
intervention to create the space to reflect, learn and aspire. The first Pause pilot was 
undertaken in Hackney and is now being rolled out across other local authorities across 
the country. 
 
Initial data analysis indicates that there are currently 25 women in Rotherham who have 
experienced the repeat removal of a child or children who could access such a 
programme. Over the three year period of this Strategy it is projected that the Pause 
initiative could contribute to a net reduction of 30 LAC.    
 
 

II. An expanded Rotherham Therapeutic Team (RTT) to provide enhanced support to the 
child and carer to reduce the likelihood of a placement breakdown which often results in the 
use of more expensive placement provision. By breaking the cycle of placement disruptions 
through intensive provision early in the child’s care journey will lead to increased placement 
stability and lead to healthier emotional wellbeing and better outcomes for looked after young 
people. This support will be based on the ‘team around the child’ model where the carer and 
professionals will be supported to develop their skills, resilience and knowledge to respond in 
a confident, competent and consistent way to emerging issues by preventing escalation and 
disruption. It is forecast that the team could support up to 30 looked after children and their 
carers per year and significantly reduce the number of placement disruptions which was 
recorded at 20 between March to September 2016. This in turn should support LAC to 
achieve better outcomes including in respect of their educational attainment. 

 
 

III. Foster Carer Payments Scheme, Support and Development to ensure that wherever 
possible children are looked after in Rotherham in a family setting. The aim of this revised 
scheme is to attract additional foster carers to Rotherham, especially for adolescents and 
large sibling groups, and to improve the retention and development of existing experienced 
carers. The current reliance on Independent Fostering Agency placements (IFAs) impacts on 
the outcomes achieved by young people as once a young person is placed outside of the 
RMBC area control can be lost in respect of certain aspects of their care package including 
education, CAMHS and health provision. Recent audits also indicate that an IFA is up to four 
times more likely to disrupt that an in-house placement. Thus, not only will an expanded, 
well-trained and supported in-house foster care provision bring significant financial benefits it 
will also support better outcomes for our children. In September 2016, the Children’s 
Commissioner approved the revised scheme that had been co-produced in partnership with 
the local foster carer consultation group. This scheme offers increased and more transparent 
financial incentives, good quality support and training with a target of 15 or more placements 
being secured per annum between 2016-18. The LAC Service Peer Review undertaken in 
October 2016 expressed the opinion that this target was set too low and so it will be subject 
of a strategic review. However, this initiative will still bring both significant financial benefits 
and improve the outcomes for looked after children.  

 
In addition, Rotherham will adopt one of the key practice principles set out in ‘Putting 
Children First’ so that foster carers will be actively involved in decisions about the children 
they are looking after. These will include decisions in relation to their education, additional 
support and decisions about care planning in order to empower foster carers to stand up for 

Page 53



 

Page 17 of 24 
 

the children they look after as any good parent would. This ‘professionalisation’ of the role 
will be utilised to support recruitment processes. 

 
 
 
IV. Regional Adoption Agency – Despite timescales between an admission to care and a child 

being placed for adoption in Rotherham being half that of the national average the DfE 
maintain  that that too many children still have to wait too long for a permanent family. As a 
result the Government has directed that adoption services should be regionalised so that 
local authorities can pool their resources in respect of assessments and availability of 
adoptive placements. The Secretary of State has reserved the right to enforce this process 
with any local authority deemed not to be implementing it with a sufficient degree of urgency. 
Subject to Commissioner and Cabinet approval, Rotherham adoption service will be part of 
the South Yorkshire Adoption Agency as a joint venture along with Barnsley, Sheffield, 
Doncaster MBC and Doncaster Children’s Services Trust with a planned implementation 
date for  June 2017. 

 

 

V. Taking Care Project – This is a partnership arrangement with the NSPCC through which up 
to 30 young people will be considered and formally assessed in respect of the viability of 
them returning to the care of their birth/extended families over a two year period. It is 
projected that this aspect of the Sufficiency Plan will lead to a net reduction of 12 LAC. This 
programme is evidence based and not only strengthens the assessment and decision 
making process when deciding whether a child should return home but also informs how best 
to support children and families throughout the reunification process and after they have 
returned home. The LAC social workers have been fully trained in the process so that the 
intervention should become embedded practice and self-supporting. This in turn should 
reduce the drift that is a factor within the current care planning processes in the LAC service. 

 

Overall it is anticipated that the cumulative effect of these 5 strands of the Sufficiency Plan will 
enable RMBC to safely reduce its number of looked after children to around 360 as compared to 
the current figure of 457 (October 2016). If the current trend of increasing numbers of LAC was 
allowed to continue unabated, by November 2019 there will be a projected 604 looked after 
children. 

  

Page 54



 

Page 18 of 24 
 

10. Education and Attainment 

 

It is the commitment of RMBC that all LAC:- 

� Access the full and appropriate, high-quality educational offer to which they have an 
entitlement.  The percentage of LAC educated in schools with a Good or Outstanding rating 
has risen from 75% in September 2015 to 88% in authority and 77% out of authority schools in 
September 2016. The challenge remains to translate these high quality educational placements 
into improved educational outcomes. 
 

� They receive a planned and stable education which enables them to fulfil their potential 
supported by professionals who have high expectations of and high aspirations for them.   
 

� They are supported to develop high aspirations and are supported by services and structures 
that can ensure these are achieved.  

 
The national ambition for children and young people in care is to raise their own ambitions and 
educational progress so that they are given every possible opportunity to achieve their potential. 
Children in care have historically achieved poor educational outcomes but these are gradually 
improving on a national basis.  
 
Within Rotherham our current strengths are:- 
 
� Our priority locally for children and young people in care is to help them have high 

aspirations and ensure they are well supported in order to be able to raise their educational 
attainment and help them become successful adults. 

� Some of our children and young people have achieved positive results with several 
achieving 7 or more A*-C GCSE grades or equivalent 

� More than 70% of our care leavers are in Education, Training or Employment. 

� There are currently 7 care leavers who are attending Higher Education/University. 

� All 2 year old LAC engage with the vulnerable two year olds offer with 13 looked after 
children currently accessing this and two more accessing local toddler groups. 

� There have been no LAC formally permanently excluded in 2015/16.  

� However, 535 days of education were lost in 2015/16 through fixed term exclusions and 
there have been 9 school placement moves in order to avoid a permanent exclusion. 
Furthermore, the percentage of school days lost is higher for LAC than their peers.  

Attendance data has not historically been sufficiently reliable to be able to use it to support timely 
targeted interventions.  However, this has now been addressed and the recent commissioning of 
an external daily attendance/exclusion reporting provider, Welfare Call, has led to improved data 
that will now be used to address highlighted issues and target timely interventions. In addition, to 
date there has been no comprehensive overview held of destinations matched with outcomes at 
either Further or Higher Education levels. 

Outcomes generally for children in care in Rotherham are below outcomes for children in care 
nationally and below outcomes for non-care children both in Rotherham and nationally.  However 
the attainment gap is clearly narrowing at EYFS, KS1 and KS2 but remaining fairly static at KS4. 

 

The new Virtual School model that has been put in place champions the education of children in 
care. The new electronic PEP system has been further developed since being commissioned and 

Page 55



 

Page 19 of 24 
 

enables a wider range of professionals to have access to the PEP in order to support children’s 
progress and supports young people in having their voices heard in their education plans. This has 
contributed to an increase in PEP completion rate from 68% to 94% with PEPs continually 
improving in quality and with a focus on driving progress. There is a Rotherham standard of termly 
PEP meetings which aligns with school monitoring processes and ensures a more frequent and 
intense focus on progress and the Virtual School commit to attend PEP Meetings both within and 
outside of the RMBC boundary. The provision of PEPs has been extended to include 2 to 18 year 
olds and the LAC pupil premium funding is directly targeted to support raising attainment. The LAC 
pupil premium has also been used for the MAST counselling project that supports a number of 
children in care to address their emotional issues in school. The Virtual School also offers 
extensive training to support schools, carers, social workers, IROs, governors and other 
professionals and a Virtual School Governing Body has been established that reports to Corporate 
Parenting Panel. 

In addition to the work with schools the Virtual School is currently working on: 

 

� Ensuring all foster carers have access to the ePEP system. 

� The development of foster carer education champions 

� Ensuring that foster carers and social workers access a detailed training offer so they are 
well placed to support education. 

� A strategy to analyse impact of LAC pupil premium funding to further improve targeted 
spend. 

� The post-16 agenda to include the development of a training offer to post-16 education 
providers. 

� An Attachment project designed to support and upskill school staff to help address the 
emotional health and well-being needs of LAC in order to stabilise school and care 
placements, to improve readiness to learn, and reduce exclusions. 

� The development of cross-service strategies and protocols that have a ‘golden thread’ of 
prioritising LAC and their education eg the Rotherham Attendance Strategy. 

� Supporting plans to develop a sufficiency of appropriate provision to meet specialist 
educational needs 

 

The educational aim of this strategy is to ensure that Rotherham looked after children (within and 
out of borough) have: 

� improved educational progress and attainment with the gap narrowing year-on-year with 
outcomes for non-care children 

� improved ‘readiness to learn’ through improved emotional health and well-being 
� improved attendance in school  
� reduced exclusions 
� reduction in school placement moves 
� reduced numbers of LAC accessing Alternative Provision 
� reduced numbers of LAC on reduced provision timetables 
� support through improved skills of professionals that can  support them and their education  
� foster carer education champions 

 

The impact on outcomes will be measured via national benchmark attainment data, positive 
destinations, increase in the numbers of care leavers in Education, Employment or Training. 

  

Page 56



 

Page 20 of 24 
 

11. Economic Wellbeing and Independence 

 

As previously stated care leavers in Rotherham do achieve reasonably positive outcomes in 
respect of being in in Education, Employment or Training (EET). Further to this 97.1% of them are 
living in suitable accommodation. However, this data warrants deeper examination. For example, 
how many of those in suitable accommodation manage to maintain a stability of accommodation? 
In addition the percentage of care leaver in EET still means that there are approximately 80 care 
leavers who are NEET.  This situation can be much worse for those young people residing outside 
of the Rotherham area. 

 
To build on the accommodation provision RMBC will undertake a review with St Basil’s Housing 
with the overall objective of improving the range and quality of accommodation and support options 
for care leavers as they make their transition to adulthood. This review will focus on particular 
areas of potential concern including accommodation and support for care leavers, mapping current 
provision and identifying gaps, commissioning of services   and targeted housing related support. 
There will be a specific focus on the accommodation needs for young people with multiple and 
complex needs who do not necessarily reach the threshold for adult social care. 

 
In order to better support these looked after children and care leavers the LAC Service proposes to 
introduce a ‘fairy grandparent’s scheme’ where a group of Corporate Parents (officers and 
members) oversee the progress of children, acting as pushy parents from afar. This isn’t about 
introducing yet another person into the child’s life but ensuring that someone is looking out for 
them - someone who ‘has their back’ so to speak. With 63 elected members and 20 senior officers 
all our children placed beyond 20 miles should be able to benefit from this scheme. 

 
At present no LAC/Care Leaver has a place on a Modern Apprenticeship provided by the Council. 
This does not reflect well on our Corporate Parenting abilities. However, many of our young people 
have had such a disrupted education that they have become disengaged from the world of training 
and work. They may also be experiencing ongoing and unresolved emotional issues that may 
make the successful transition to a full-time apprenticeship a significant challenge. 

 
As a result the LAC Service, the Virtual School and the Council will offer an identified cohort of 
young people currently in Year 11 who are unlikely to access Higher education. From the summer 
of 2017 they will be offered and incentivised to attend a graduated programme to prepare them for 
a full apprenticeship starting with one day a week release from school, moving to a 4 week work 
experience leading to a full apprenticeship. The Leaving Care Team are working in partnership 
with Brathay to provide a 10 week Future Focus programme which will work with LAC and Care 
leavers to build on their core employability skills.  

 
Young people will be allowed to take a ‘step back’ within this programme and move up and down 
the ladder depending on their presenting needs but we will not give up on them. To support his 
programme the LAC Service is developing a partnership with the Rotherham Chamber of 
Commerce to increase the range of placement options for young people. As part of this process 
Rotherham aim to be an early adopter of the care leaver covenant as set out in ‘Putting Children 
First’ that local companies and private organisations can sign up to and make a commitment to 
support care leavers.  

 

The Leaving Care Service is developing a formal offer to Care Leavers that has had significant 
input from care leavers themselves. This will include:- 

 

 

Page 57



 

Page 21 of 24 
 

I. Developing a Pledge for care leavers/sign up to the national pledge. 
 
The National Pledge has been shared with a group of Care Leavers who have agreed that the 
principles within the Charter are what they would want the local authority to sign up to and 
follow.   The Pledge is due to be approved by the Corporate Parenting Panel in December 
2016.   

Following consultation with The Care Leavers Foundation the LAC Service has given a public 
to their Care Leavers that they have signed up to the Charter and will ensure that it will be 
documented that the principles of the Charter will be adhered to in full by RMBC. The 
Corporate Parenting Panel will ‘sign off’ this commitment.   

This will be formally recognised on the Care Leavers Foundation website and they will notify 
the Department for Education of our commitment. This is also the forum to share any ‘good 
news’ or communications about activity for Care Leavers and they will make sure it is 
recognised.  

 

II. Celebration event for care leavers  

The Leaving Care Service will work with care leavers to ensure that the achievements and 
successes of our care leavers are formally acknowledged and celebrated on an annual basis. 

 

III. Phase 2 of Chatham Villas  

The Leaving Care Service has relocated to Chatham Villas. This is the new dedicated support 
‘hub’ for care leavers, and is somewhere that young people can come to when in need or to 
‘drop in’ to have contact with staff.  

 The second phase of the hub is in development. Plans have been drawn up and approved. 
The specification of work and costs have gone out to tender with an expected completion date 
of January 2017.   

 The Hub will offer a range of facilities including a breakfast club, drop in space, group work 
targeted around themes relevant to young people such as health, education and employability, 
a learning space, relaxation/recreation area and access to life-skills areas including a kitchen 
and laundry. Workshops are being carried out with young people to co-design the service. 

 

IV. Development of a ‘Rights and Entitlement’ leaflet for care leavers  

Consultation events have been with care leavers to formalise the Rights and Entitlements for 
Care Leavers within Rotherham. A leaflet is in draft and will be ratified by the start of 2017. The 
formal offer includes the Leaving Care Allowance, the Health Passport, Driving License and 
lessons, HE Bursary, set up TV License along with the offer in respect of support into EET and 
accommodation. The policy demonstrates a significant financial commitment from the Local 
Authority to Care Leavers. Once approved, the offer will be made available to care leavers via 
the website and in leaflet form. 

 

V. The revised accommodation team  

The accommodation team has changed somewhat widening the remit of the Level 3 workers to 
assume delegated responsibility for the PA role with young people who they are key working 
with. The Leaving Care Accommodation Team also provides tenancy support to young people 
in their own accommodation and dispersed properties. Stronger links have been developed 
between the Accommodation Team and the Leaving Care Teams and links developed with 
Housing to improve the process for young people’s access to appropriate accommodation. At 
present Care Leavers are awarded Band 2 status meaning that they can bid for properties after 
those who are deemed to be emergency cases such as families who are homeless due to fire 
and flood.  

Page 58



 

Page 22 of 24 
 

However, there are still some particular vulnerabilities faced by Care Leavers such as the rent 
allowance cap. As a result the Leaving Care Team and Rotherham Housing and 
Neighbourhood Services will develop a joint protocol to ensure that more care leavers are 
supported into appropriate and stable accommodation. This will include plans to increase the 
numbers of dispersed properties available to Care Leavers.  

Structured activities have been developed within the Accommodation team at Hollowgate and 
are open to all young people residing at Hollowgate and those receiving floating/tenancy 
support in the community. Examples of these activities include:  

� Breakfast club 08.00-10.00 Wednesday mornings 

� Cooking workshop 18.00-20.00 every Thursday 

� Drop in sessions held monthly by Barnardo’s & Know the Score (Substance 
Misuse Service) 

� Monthly Residents meetings held at the beginning of every month 

� Move on toolkit group workshops held every two weeks 

 

VI.  Closer partnership with Adults Services  

Historically the transitional planning in Rotherham has been inadequate leading to too young 
adults being placed in inappropriate accommodation leading to unstable tenancies. Partnership 
working with Adults Services has been poor, especially for those vulnerable young people with 
no diagnosed mental health or learning disability. However, an ‘in principle’ agreement has 
been given for the transitional planning for these vulnerable young people to commence from 
their 14th birthday via a presentation to the Adults Transitions Panel. An Adults Services 
representative is also a standing member of the Joint Complex Planning and Placement Panel 
which  ensures that they are best placed to identify those young people who are likely to need 
the support of Adults Services and contribute to the care and placement planning decision 
making processes. As a result there will be much closer collaboration in developing 
accommodation and support packages. 

 

  

Page 59



 

Page 23 of 24 
 

12. Workforce Development 

 

At present the Workforce Offer is inadequate as it is not based on any assessment of the 
developmental needs of the social workers and managers. This strategy recognises that the 
inconsistency in line management available to social workers over the past few years has impeded 
the required improvements in social work practice. In turn the inconsistency in social worker has 
impeded the drive for improved outcomes for looked after children. As a result this Strategy will be 
supported by the departmental recruitment strategy. 

 
In addition the existing practice model, Strengthening Families, has been inconsistently rolled out 
and this has tended to focus on the Child Protection Case Conference processes. In terms of more 
general social work development there is nothing in place that is consistent or sustainable other 
than the generic LSCB offer and short-term training programmes. 

 
The plan to address this has yet to be approved by the service’s management team but the 
proposal is to move the Workforce Development function from the Commissioning Service to 
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance. 

 
The infrastructure will be split into two streams – Recruitment/Retention and 
Learning/Development. 

 
In respect of Learning/Development there will be a 3 stage process:- 

1. An assessment of current development needs aimed to support the move from Inadequate 
to Requires Improvement. This will include basic social work learning from audits, 
complaints and Restorative Practice (first 6-12 months of plan). 

2. Implementation of the Strengthening Families and Signs of Safety across the organisation 
including an embedding of this intervention model across case file structures and single 
assessment formats (12 months to 2 years). 

3. Development of the Centre of Excellence to provide a high quality learning and 
development offer for the sw staff and the provision of training by our own staff who have 
been supported to become experts in practice. The sources of the support required to get 
staff to this position may come from the South Yorkshire Teaching Partnership or 
Research in Practice but it is likely to involve ‘on the job’ academic research (2 to 3 years). 

 

  

Page 60



 

Page 24 of 24 
 

13. Oversight and Governance 

 

The implementation of this Strategy will be provided by the Corporate Parenting Panel where it will 
be a standing agenda item. The Strategy will be formally reviewed on an annual basis and any 
updates and amendments being agreed by the Panel.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Author:  Ian Walker 

Title:  Acting Head of Service - Looked After Children 

 

Page 61



1 

 

 
Public /Private Report  

Corporate Parenting Panel Meeting 

 
Summary Sheet 
 
Council Report Corporate Parenting Panel 6th December 2016 
 
Report Title: Ofsted Activity Report- Children Looked After 
 
Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? No 
 
Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report – Ian Thomas, Strategic 
Director, CYPS 
 
Report Author(s):  Ian Walker – Acting Head of Service and Brent Lumley, Responsible 
Individual CYPS  
 
Ward(s) Affected: ALL. 
 
Summary 
The report provides a summary following the Ofsted Inspection of RMBC Children’s 
Homes in 2016. Liberty House Short Breaks Residential Home is registered with Ofsted 
and they are inspected by them twice a year. They receive a full two day inspection and an 
interim one day inspection. The full inspection determines the grade and the interim 
inspection assesses progress in relation to that grade. 
 
This report clarifies the decision made by Commissioner Bradwell on the 12th September 
2016 in relation to Silverwood and Cherry tree House Children’s Homes. 
 
This report also outlines some detail of the findings from the Ofsted Monitoring Visit that 
took place with the Looked After Children Service from the 20th to the 21st October 2016. 
 
Recommendations 
That the Panel notes the detail provided in this report detailing the outcome of recent 
Ofsted inspections of Rotherham MBC’s Liberty House Short Breaks Residential Home 
children’s home and from the Ofsted Monitoring Visit. 
 
List of Appendices Included 
Appendix 1 - Areas of Strength and Development. 
 
Background Papers 
Whilst there is no decision attached to this report as it is for information the following 
Reports to DLT provide context in relation to 6-13: ‘Consultation on the proposed closure 
of Cherry Tree House Children’s Home’ and ‘Consultation on the proposed closure of 
Silverwood Children’s Home’. 
This report will also provide the Corporate Parenting Panel with an update following ther 
Monitoring Visit on the 20th and 21st October. 
 

Page 62 Agenda Item 8



2 

 

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
Yes – to be presented to the Corporate Parenting Panel 
 
Council Approval Required 
No 
 
Exempt from the Press and Public 
No  

Page 63



3 

 

Ofsted Activity Report –Children Looked After 
 
1. Recommendations  

 
1.1     That the Panel notes the detail provided in this report detailing the outcome of 

recent Ofsted inspection of Rotherham MBC’s Liberty House Short Breaks 
Residential Home children’s home and the evaluation of progress undertaken 
in the Ofsted Monitoring Visit. 

 
2 Background 

 
2.1 Ofsted complete monitoring visits where they assess the progress made by 

inadequate authorities.  Ofsted will publish their findings of each monitoring 
visit.  The first monitoring visit in Rotherham has focussed on the Looked After 
Childrens Service and this report will advise the findings. 

 
3 Key Issues 

   

3.1  Liberty House Short Breaks Children’s Home provides planned short-break 

overnight respite care seven days a week for up to eight children, aged between 

8 to 18 years, of either gender who have physical or sensory disabilities, 

complex health needs and challenging behavior as a result of their disability. 

 
3.2 Liberty House also has provision to offer a ninth placement on an emergency 

basis. The emergency bed will only be offered to young people that currently 
access Liberty House. This will allow for a more accurate matching process 
and will also improve outcomes for that particular young person.  

 
3.3 Liberty House Short Breaks Service overall aims are twofold. Which are:-  

 
(i) “To provide a residential short break service which will support children 

and their families continue to operate as a family unit”. 

 

(ii) “To ensure the experience is stimulating and enjoyable for each child and 

young person to enable them to develop skills through participation in a 

range of activities“. 

A Full Ofsted Inspection of the service on the 02/11/2016 graded the service as 

‘Outstanding’. 

Ofsted Inspection History - Liberty House Short Breaks Children’s Home 

Inspection Date Inspection Type Inspection Judgement 

01/05/2013 Full Adequate 

13/02/2014 Interim Good Progress 

18/09/2014 Full Good 

11/12/2014 Interim Sustained Effectiveness 

27/01/2016 Full Good 

17/03/2016 Interim Sustained Effectiveness 

02/11/2016 Full Outstanding 

Page 64



4 

 

 
3.4 The Ofsted Monitoring Visit concluded that RMBC had taken effective action to 

address the significant shortfalls identified in the single inspection in 2014. The 
letter from Ofsted that will be sent to the DfE highlighted that a more stable 
senior management team had demonstrated a strong focus on performance 
management and had established determined, effective leadership with clear 
objectives and aspirations and a sustained focus on improving outcomes for 
children. It also stated that senior managers had undertaken an honest and 
robust self-assessment of the service and as a result know ourselves very well. 
Whilst progress had been slower in the Looked After Children’s Service than in 
some of the other service areas across children’s services “there is clear 
evidence of improvement in some key areas including strategic management, 
vision and planning, performance management and quality assurance 
arrangements, service restructure, recruitment and retention and compliance 
with statutory requirements”. 
 

3.5 However, the outcome letter also identified also highlighted the following areas 
as being in need of further development :- 

 

• Frontline management of social work practice remains weak. 

• Permanence planning does not happen early enough after the child’s 
admission to care. 

• Supervised contact arrangements are insufficiently resourced and planning 
is poor. 

• Despite the improvements in the scrutiny and challenge provided by the  
IROs this is yet to lead to improving quality and driving progress in the 
child’s Care Plan. 

• Performance in respect of Initial health Assessments remains poor although 
the timeliness of Review Assessments is improved. 

• Placement stability has deteriorated and the number of placement 
disruptions has increased as the number of looked after children has 
continued to rise. 

• Strategy Meetings do not routinely follow ‘Working Together 2015’ guidance 
as some agencies give less than the required commitment.  

• There is a lack of evidence of direct intervention or life-story work to help 
children understand why they came into care or where they are going in the 
future. 

• Although the numbers of children who go missing from care has ‘reduced 
significantly’ insufficient children who live out of borough receive a return 
home interview. 
 

3.6 These recommendations for further action will be incorporated into the 
Improvement Plan could usefully become a standing agenda item for the 
Corporate Parenting Panel throughout 2017.   

 
4. Key Issues 

4.1 At the inspection of Liberty House Short Breaks residential Home on the 

02/11/2016 there were no issues arising from Ofsted Inspection. 

4.2 No Statutory Recommendations or Requirements were made following this 

Inspection. 

Page 65



5 

 

  4.3 It is anticipated that Ofsted may return to Rotherham in late 2017 and so the 

Improvement Plan will have to have been implemented in full by that date if the 

best possible outcome is to be achieved 

 
5 Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
 

5.1 Whilst there is no decision attached to this report as it is for information the 
following Reports to DLT provide context in relation to the ‘Consultation on the 
proposed closure of Cherry Tree House Children’s Home’ and ‘Consultation on 
the proposed closure of Silverwood Children’s Home’. 

 
6. Financial and Procurement Implications  
 
  6.1 There are no financial and procurement implications. 
  
7.  Legal Implications 
 
 7.1 There are no direct legal implications in this report. 
 
8.     Human Resources Implications 
 
 8.1 There are no Human Resource implications. 
  
9.    Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults  

 
9.1    Liberty House deliver a full service of short breaks to a cohort of 37 children 

within a calendar month, this is subject to fluctuation due to demand. 
 
9.2    Full implementation of the Improvement Plan can only serve to improve the 

outcomes for looked after children and care leavers  
 
10     Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 

10.1   None following inspection 
 

11.    Implications for Partners and Other Directorates 
 

11.1 Partners will be consulted as other directorates who contribute to supporting the 

home where relevant. 

12.    Risks and Mitigation 
 

12.1 Continuation of the current provision presents the following risks: 

• Inadequate care being provided to any future children in care who might be 

placed in the home. However at the time of writing this report the service has 

been judged Outstanding, subject to Ofsted’s internal Quality Assurance 

process. 

• That in the event of an inadequate inspection there could be a forced closure 

resulting in young people having to move from the home in distressing 

Page 66



6 

 

circumstances. The next inspection will be an interim one and will assess 

progress in relation to the most recent grade which is ‘Outstanding’. 

• Risk to the Council’s reputation in the event that future inspections find the 

provision declining in effectiveness. This is a team that has worked hard to 

deliver and achieve a grade of outstanding. Regulation 44 visits are undertaken 

on a monthly basis and this allows senior managers to monitor effectiveness 

and mitigate and practice that falls below outstanding. 

• Poor outcomes being achieved by Looked After Children and Care Leavers and 

reputational risk to the Council.  

13.  Accountable Officer(s) 
  
 Ian Walker Acting  Head of Service – Looked After Children. 

Brent Lumley, Responsible Individual – Interim Residential Services/Service 
Manager Looked After Children.  
 

 
Approvals Obtained from: 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services:-  
Director of Legal Services:-  
Head of Procurement (if appropriate):-  
 

Page 67



7 

 

Appendix 1  

 

 

Liberty House Short Breaks Children’s Home 

Strengths Areas for Development 

The overall experiences and progress of 
children and young people living in the 
home is defined as outstanding 

No recommendations or Requirements 
following the inspection on the 
02/11/2016 

how well children and young people are 
helped and protected is defined as 
outstanding. 

No recommendations or Requirements 
following the inspection on the 
02/11/2016 

the impact and effectiveness of leaders 
and managers is  defined as 
outstanding. 

No recommendations or Requirements 
following the inspection on the 
02/11/2016 

Page 68



 

Ofsted is proud to use recycled paper 

 
21 November 2016 
 
 

Director of Children and Young People’s Services 
Rotherham Borough Council 

Riverside House 
Main Street  
Rotherham 

S60 1AE 
  

Dear Ian 

Monitoring visit of Rotherham Borough Council children’s services 

This letter summarises the findings of the monitoring visit of Rotherham Borough 

Council children’s services on 20 and 21 of October 2016. The visit was the first 

monitoring visit since the local authority was judged inadequate for overall 

effectiveness in October 2014. Inspectors have, however, undertaken four 

improvement visits between 2015 and 2016. This monitoring visit was carried out by 

Her Majesty’s Inspectors Tracey Metcalfe and Graham Reiter. While progress to 

improve services for children looked after has been slower than has been seen in 

other areas across children’s services, there is clear evidence of improvement in 

some key areas. These include: strategic management, vision and planning, 

performance management and quality assurance arrangements, service restructure, 

recruitment and retention and compliance with statutory requirements.  

Areas covered by the visit 

During the course of this visit, inspectors reviewed the progress made in respect of 

the experience and progress of children looked after, with a particular focus on five 

important themes:  

 strategic and operational management oversight 

 the quality of children’s experiences  

 the quality of assessment and care planning 

 the timeliness of decisions when children need permanence  

 the effectiveness of the review process. 

Inspectors also considered: 

 placement commissioning and sufficiency 

 the arrangements in place to respond to children missing from care. 

Aviation House 
125 Kingsway 
London  WC2B 6SE 

 

T  0300 123 1231 
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
www.ofsted.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 69



 

 

 

The visit considered a range of evidence, including electronic case records, 

supervision files and notes, observation of social workers undertaking assessments, 

and other information provided by staff and managers. In addition, inspectors spoke 

to children from the Children in Care Council, foster carers and a range of staff, 

including managers, independent reviewing officers (IROs) and other practitioners. 

Summary of findings  

 

 The council has continued to respond positively to the recommendations 
identified following the single inspection in 2014. A stable senior management 
team, led by the director of children’s services (DCS), demonstrates 
determined, effective, strategic leadership with clear priorities and aspirations, 
and a sustained focus on improving outcomes for children. 

 Performance management and quality assurance arrangements are robust 
and support senior managers to identify where progress is being made and 
where improvement is required. Reliable data shows improved compliance in 
meeting some statutory requirements, with particular regard to statutory visits 
and the timeliness of children’s reviews.  

 Improvement is evident in relation to compliance with statutory requirements. 
Social worker caseloads have reduced, providing more time for focus on 
individual children. However, frontline management oversight of social work 
practice is weak. Social workers are neither supported nor challenged 
sufficiently by managers to improve the quality of their work.  
 

 When children become looked after, their needs are not formally reassessed, 
and ongoing risk and need are not always recognised or supported well 
enough. This includes cases from a very small sample during this visit where 
children are at risk of child sexual exploitation.  
 

 Children who require permanence are not identified soon enough. The Public 
Law Outline (PLO) is not being used effectively. Consequently, some children 
are experiencing delay in securing legal permanence. Supervised contact 
arrangements are insufficiently resourced and planning is poor. There is little 
evidence that children receive support to help them to understand why they 
have become looked after and what is going to happen to them. 

 
 A recent reduction in the use of agency social workers and managers is 

resulting in a more stable and permanent workforce. However, children have 
experienced too many changes of social worker, which has had a negative 
impact on their plans being progressed in a timely way. 

 
 There has been an improvement in the timeliness of children’s reviews, and in 

the scrutiny and challenge of IROs. This is not yet leading to improvement in 
the quality of children’s plans, nor is it driving progress. 
 

Page 70



 

 

 

 While there has been an improvement in the timeliness of children’s annual 
health assessments, practice in relation to initial health assessments remains 
poor. 
 

 The number of children who become looked after have continued to rise as 
the council’s focus on children in need of help and protection has improved. 
This is placing significant pressure on the council’s ability to identify and 
match children to the right placement in a timely way. Placement stability has 
deteriorated and the number of placement disruptions are increasing. 
However, children who spoke to inspectors say that they feel safe in their 
placements and in school, and receive good support from their social workers 
and carers.  
 

 The number of children who go missing from care has reduced significantly in 
the last six months and an increased number of children receive a return 
home interview. However, this is not the case for children who live out of 
borough. 

Evaluation of progress 

The DCS is highly visible and accessible. A more stable senior leadership team 

demonstrates a strong focus on performance management. Senior managers have 

undertaken an honest and robust self-assessment of the service they provide to 

children looked after and have sought external peer scrutiny and challenge from 

children and young people in Rotherham. The result is that they know themselves 

well. The DCS has a clear vision and understanding of the key priorities to improve 

the experience and progress of children looked after. There is evidence of the 

council’s direct engagement with children from the Children in Care Council who have 

told inspectors they feel valued and involved in developing their own plans and 

contributing to service developments. 

The council has taken effective action to begin to address the significant shortfalls 

identified in the single inspection undertaken in October 2014. A strong focus on 

performance management is beginning to show improvement in compliance with 

some statutory requirements. Children are being seen regularly by a social worker 

and there has been positive improvement in the timeliness of reviews. Improved 

partnerships with the virtual school have seen an increase in the number of personal 

education plans being completed, although it is recognised that there is much work 

to do to improve the quality and the aspiration for children. Improved relationships 

with health partners have resulted in children looked after being prioritised for 

assessment and intervention from children and adolescent mental health services. 

The number of annual health assessments completed in a timely way have improved, 

as have the number of dental checks. Initial health assessment performance remains 

poor. 

 

Inspectors found evidence that key priorities to secure a stable and permanent 

workforce have been translated well through strategic planning and actions. The 

Page 71



 

 

 

success of the workforce strategy is demonstrated through the significant reduction 

in the reliance on agency social workers and managers to 18%. This improvement is 

very recent and, while positive, is not yet providing all children with an opportunity 

to develop a trusting relationship with their social worker. In recent months, children 

have experienced a number of changes in social workers and their managers, which 

has had a negative impact on the timely progression of children’s assessments and 

plans.  

 

Senior managers have set very high expectations of their social workers and 

managers in terms of performance and quality standards. Caseloads have been 

reduced to an average of below 15 children in the looked after children’s service, to 

enable social workers to focus on the quality of their work with children, and there 

has been an increase in IRO capacity to empower this function. A deep dive into 

audit findings is beginning to support and challenge social workers when children’s 

plans are not progressing within a child’s own timescale. Despite these changes, the 

quality of some social work practice remains poor. When children become looked 

after, there is a lack of urgency to identify their long-term needs and secure early 

permanence. Senior managers have begun to track those children subject to 

voluntary arrangements and, while this is beginning to drive some children’s plans 

forward, too many continue to experience delay in securing legal permanence.  

 

New appointments support the renewed focus on the Public Law Outline (PLO). A 

new permanent full-time PLO case manager and PLO panel chair are in place. An 

additional social work team has been created to progress care proceedings. 

However, the PLO process is still not being used effectively. There are delays in 

assessments being undertaken before care proceedings are issued and some delays 

in proceedings being issued once interim care applications have been sent to legal 

services. Family members are not identified or assessed early enough when children 

become looked after, which does not support children in developing a sense of 

security within their family. When children return home to parents, assessments and 

support to ensure that the decision is safe are not robust. Contact arrangements 

between children and their parents are not sufficiently risk assessed or reviewed. 

Resource to ensure that children experience good-quality family contact is 

insufficient and some venues used currently for contact are inappropriate. Senior 

managers are aware of this shortfall and plans are in place to review the service. 

 

Children do not routinely receive an updated assessment of their holistic needs, thus 

their care plans do not focus well enough on the outcomes to be achieved. Risk and 

need are not robustly explored or understood.  

 

When child protection concerns arise, procedures are not always followed. Strategy 

meetings still do not routinely follow ‘Working Together 2015’ guidance. Screening 

tools to explore child sexual exploitation concerns are not being completed correctly 

in all cases when a child may be at risk, despite previous improvement visits 

identifying more robust practice in this area. While the numbers of children going 

Page 72



 

 

 

missing from their placement have reduced significantly, not all children who are 

placed out of the borough receive a return home interview.  

 

There continue to be gaps and inaccurate recording of children’s key information, 

making it difficult to understand a child’s journey or measure progress. There is a 

lack of evidence of direct intervention or life story work to help children understand 

why they have become looked after or what is going to happen in the future. Senior 

managers have taken decisive action to address these shortfalls. Robust audits of 

casework are undertaken routinely as well as more specifically to explore a particular 

issue. Frontline team management capacity has been enhanced, with some 

permanent recent appointments across the children looked after service. A coaching 

and mentoring programme for team managers is in place, with a local authority 

practice partner and there are plans to extend this support to social workers from 

November 2016. There is some evidence that managers are beginning to deliver 

more regular supervision. However, this is still without the rigour, challenge and 

reflection required to support social workers to improve the quality of their practice 

and focus on improving timely outcomes for children.  

 

IROs are an emerging strength. Capacity has been increased in the IRO service, with 

caseloads below that recommended in the IRO handbook. The timeliness of 

children’s reviews has increased, and evidence shows increased IRO scrutiny and 

challenge. This is beginning to identify when progress is needed in some children’s 

plans, but is yet to demonstrate how improved scrutiny is making a difference to 

outcomes for children. 

 

The council has a clear determination to provide the best possible provision for 

children looked after. The increased pressure on placements is partly attributable to 

the increase in numbers of children looked after. Long- and short-term placement 

stability has deteriorated. A lack of local placement provision means children with 

complex needs are more likely to placed more than 20 miles from their home. 

Children are not matched well to placements. Placement decisions are too reactive to 

crisis situations and too often made without children’s needs being fully explored or 

understood. Despite these challenges, children who spoke with inspectors did feel 

safe in their placements and valued the relationship with their social workers.  

 

Senior managers acknowledge the insufficiency of placements available to children in 

house, particularly those children with complex and more challenging needs. Senior 

managers have taken appropriate steps to decommission the majority of in-house 

residential placements, as these were not meeting the quality standard required. A 

number of new and innovative commissioning approaches are being developed. The 

council is involved in the development of a local and regional framework to influence 

and drive improvements in the quality of independent placements. The in-house 

fostering offer is strengthened and is beginning to improve placement choice and 

capacity, with better incentives for carers with the skills to support adolescents, as 

well as out of hours support and respite for foster carers of children with a disability.  

Page 73



 

 

 

 

I am copying this letter to the Department for Education. This letter will be published 

on the Ofsted website. 

Yours sincerely, 

Tracey Metcalfe 

Her Majesty’s Inspector  

Page 74



 
Page 1 of 37 

 

 

                                                                                           
 
 

Lead Executive: Sue  Cassin,  Chief  Nurse  NHS  Rotherham  Clinical  Commissioning 
Group (NHS RCCG) 

Lead Officer: Catherine Hall, Designated Nurse Looked After and Safeguarding  
Children, Rotherham health economy. 
 
Dr Shakil Hashmi, Designated Doctor LAC 
 
 

Lead GP: Dr  Richard Cullen, Lead GP Children and Young People  

 
 
Purpose:  
 
This paper provides the Corporate Parenting Panel in Rotherham with information 
regarding NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS RCCG) Looked After 
Children and Care Leaver self-assessment, peer challenge and call to action conference 
with regard to their commissioning commitment to children in care. 
 
This process was part of NHS England North holding CCGs to account over the healthcare 
delivery to children in care. 
 
Background: 
 
In 2015 NHS England North wrote to CCG’s to seek and formalise the process required for 
assurance that healthcare services for Looked After Children and Care Leavers was in 
place.  In addition Designated Nurses and Doctors for Looked After Children were to be 
invited to a peer challenge with other CCGs; following this challenge NHS England revised 
the individual’s self-assessment with a Rag Rate – See Appendix 1.   
 
The peer challenge was reported to be a supportive process to ensure all CCGs are 
commissioning appropriate, timely healthcare services to meet their statutory requirements 
with regard to Looked After Children and Care Leavers (LAC and CL).   
 
NHS England North tasked all 68 Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to complete the 
self-assessment tool and RAG rate themselves. This self-assessment was analysed and a 

NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS RCCG) 

 
Corporate Parenting Panel 27 September 2016 
 
CCG Commissioning Compliance Tool for Looked after Children and Care Leaver 
Health Services. 
‘Right People, Right Place, Right Time, Right Outcomes.’ 
 

Page 75 Agenda Item 9



 
Page 2 of 37 

 

peer challenge process developed.  Following the independent analysis of CCGs a call to 
action conference was held in Manchester on 25 May 2016.  This was to discuss the 
findings and ascertain the next steps, nationally. 
 
The self-assessment tool (Appendix 1) is complimented with an action plan (Appendix 2).  
 
Analysis of key issues and of risks 
 
Looked After Children often enter care with a worse level of health than their peers. They are 
more likely to have mental health issues, emotional disorders, hyperactivity conditions and 
autistic spectrum disorders. For example research informs us that 45% of Looked After 
Children have mental health disorders – rising to 72% for those in residential care – compared 
to 10% of the general population aged 5 to15 years. In addition they are reported to leave care 
with an increased risk of substance misuse, mental health problems, homelessness and 
offending. 
 
In 2015 NHS England North undertook to provide a benchmarking tool for Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to report on their commitment and compliance with a range of 
standards for Looked After Children and Care Leavers – See Appendix 1.  As part of that work 
CCGs were peer challenged, by Designated LAC Professionals and given a Rag Rate based 
on progress to date.  
 
Rag Rates are based on: 
GREEN     =     This is part of our commissioning practice and arrangements and is evidenced  
                          through contractual arrangements and service specification 
AMBER     =      There is partial compliance with this standard.  
RED          =      Non-compliance with this standard. 

 
A call to action conference was held 25 May 2016 to conclude the work of an independent 
analyst who drew together the 68 CCGs self-assessments. The overall consensus highlighted 
a need to have a national tracking system for LAC and CL and that some strengthening of roles 
and responsibilities within healthcare was necessary. NHS England will take forward this work. 
As in Rotherham there was recognition, regionally, that the health needs of these children must 
be a priority as they are so vulnerable to exploitation and further abuse and harm.  It was 
highlighted that as a national health economy we are complex and this does cause additional 
challenges but we must consider the holistic health and welfare needs of this cohort; strong, 
vocal leadership across all sectors is necessary. NHS England are discussing a national roll 
out of this benchmarking exercise. 
 
Following the conference CCGs were tasked with providing a SMART action plan, attached is 
NHS Rotherham’s LAC and CL action plan, See Appendix 2.   
 
SMART Actions must be: 
Specific  – Specify area for improvement. 
Measurable  – Quantify or at least suggest an indicator of progress. 
Assignable  – Specify who will do it. 
Realistic  – State what results can realistically be achieved, given available resources. 
Time-related  – Specify when the action(s) will be achieved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 76



 
Page 3 of 37 

 

Table 1 provides a Brief Overview of Challenges for NHS RCCG: 
 

Key 
Area: 

 Rag Rate Lead 

1 Commissioning Arrangements Amber 
(1/11) 

Chief Nurse/Chief 
Officer 

2 Commissioning Practice Amber (3/9) Children Commissioner 
and CAMHS 
Commissioner 

3 Commissioning CAMHS Amber (3/5) CAMHS Commissioner 
and LA 

 
Identified Risks and Next Steps: 
 
In national recognition of health inequities for LAC and CL, guidance recommends that every 
LAC has a health plan describing how their identified needs will be addressed to improve their 
health outcomes. Nationally there has been a steady increase in how many looked after 
children have up-to-date health checks nationally (88.4% in 2014 compared to 76.8% in 2011) 
(Care Quality Commission report 2016); Rotherham data remains controversial with the Local 
Authority providing a different data set to that of The Rotherham NHS Foundation Trust 
(TRFT).  There is a task and finish group set up by the LSCB which is considering these 
discrepancies and will report in September 2016 (Action Point 2.3).  This report will also be 
discussed at the Corporate Parenting panel in autumn 2016.  
 
NHS RCCG maintains a proactive approach to working with healthcare providers to ensure that 
the health needs of LAC and CL remains relevant to need. NHS RCCG is very conscious of the 
fact that across the United Kingdom, Looked After Children health needs fall short of the health 
outcomes we strive for in the Every Child Matters spectrum.  Therefore NHS RCCG and TRFT 
will ensure that they have robust services that will strive to reduce some of the physical health 
inequalities endured by children in the care system. Key Area 2 Commissioning Practice clearly 
identifies that health needs assessments must inform the commissioning agenda.  The 
Designated Professionals have commenced work with RMBC Public Health in April 2016 to 
consider a more robust health outcome focus on LAC and CL health needs.  Collaborative 
working with RMBC Public Health is critical as they commission universal healthcare within the 
community, namely health visiting, school nursing and sexual health services. This 
collaboration has the potential to influence the Joint Strategic Health Needs Assessment and 
future planning.  RMBC Public Health is currently undertaking a robust benchmarking exercise 
to consider all the health needs of children in care as part of the recently set up Raising 
Aspirations Health and Wellbeing Work Stream. 
 
Key area 3 Commissioning CAMHS will require a concerted effort due in part to the complexity 
of CAMHS Services nationally and to the local commissioning of mental health and welfare 
services for LAC and CL. In Rotherham, Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) 
Children and Young People service have a team who provide therapeutic mental health and 
welfare services alongside Rotherham, Doncaster and South Humber (RDaSH) who provide 
Tier 3 and specific packages of mental health care to children and young people.  Key Area 3 
Commissioning CAMHS is therefore an important developing area in Rotherham.  Progress 
has improved recently following the transformation of RDaSH CAMHS and further enhanced 
with the improved level of provider to provider discussions.  Conversely there is no room at all 
for complacency as NHS RCCG takes its Corporate Parenting responsibilities very seriously. 
 
An area highlighted by the Care Quality Commission Children Looked After and Safeguarding 
Inspection in Rotherham February 2015 highlighted the need to ensure that the ‘voice of the 
child’ was captured and influenced service design.    NHS RCCG and TRFT have developed, 
with young people, a Health Passport and a leaflet Right Care, First Time For Young People 

Page 77



 
Page 4 of 37 

 

both have been published and uptake is being driven forward.  Unfortunately what hasn’t 
happened in such a speedy manner is the need for all children in care to be involved in prompt, 
high-quality health assessments, supported by ‘SMART’ (specific, measurable, achievable, 
realistic and timely) health plans that are regularly reviewed. Their voice is still missing from 
their health plans. This will be part of the work of the Raising Aspirations Health and Wellbeing 
Work Stream which commenced in April 2016. 
 
Appendix 3 is a composite action plan of remaining actions from: 
• NHS Rotherham CCG Safeguarding Action Plan (NHS England Assurance June 2016);  
• NHS England Self-Assessment Looked After Children - Right People, Right Time, Right 
            Outcomes and  
• Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in 
            Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 February 2016.  
The rationale for amalgamating these 3 safeguarding action plans is to ensure the 
arrangements for any outstanding actions that have required additional time to embed is not 
forgotten.   
 
All three actions plans were on-going simultaneously and whilst NHS RCCG and their 
commissioned providers have been committed to work together effectively and efficiently at 
improving safeguarding across the borough it is now prudent to consolidate the few remaining 
actions into one document.  Good governance being critical to ensuring that progress is 
maintained across the health economy 
Approval history: 
NHS Rotherham CCG Operational Executive 27 June 2016 
Strategic Clinical Executive – June 2016 
Audit and Quality Assurance Committee 22 July 2016 
Rotherham Local Safeguarding Children Board 20 June 2016 
Corporate Parenting 27 September 2016 
 
Recommendations: 
Note the content and aspirations of this report. 
 

 

 
  

Page 78



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

 
CCG Commissioning Compliance Tool for Looked after Children and Care Leaver Health Services. 

‘Right People, Right Place, Right Time, Right Outcomes.’ 
Rotherham CCG 

                                                
1G (GREEN)=This is part of our commissioning practice and arrangements and is evidenced through contractual arrangements and service specification 
A (AMBER)= There is partial compliance with this standard.  
R (RED)= Non-compliance with this standard 
 

 STANDARD KLOE RAG1 EVIDENCE ACTIONS 
REQUIRED 

DEADLINE 
DATE 

Key 
Area 
1 

COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS 
 

     

1 a) CCGs should employ or have in place 
a contractual agreement to secure the 
expertise of Designated Professionals 
i.e. Designated Nurse looked after 
children & Designated Doctor looked 
after children. (Irrespective of number 
of LAC in the area)  

 

W  Taken from the RCCG 
Safeguarding Annual Report 
2014-2015 Safeguarding 
Responsibilities: See document: 

RCCG Safeguarding 
Annual Report 2014 to           
TRFT Looked After Children & 
Young People  - Annual Report  
2014-2015 attached 

Annual Report 
2014-2015.doc  

3. THE LOOKED AFTER 
CHILDREN’S HEALTH TEAM 
2014-2015 extract 
The looked after children’s 
health team in Rotherham 

  

Appendix 1 

P
age 79



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

comprises of 
• Designated Doctor 
• 0.5 WTE Designated Nurse – 

employed by Rotherham 
CCG 

• 1 WTE Named Nurse 
• 0.5  WTE Nurse Practitioner 

– Leaving Care (October 
2015 increased to 1 WTE) 

• 1 WTE Clerical Officer 
(Winter 2015 apprentice 
joined team) 

 b) The Designated Nurse LAC should be  
1 WTE per 70,000 population of children 
as per Intercollegiate Standards (March 
2015)  

 

W  Looked After Children & 
Young People  - Annual 
Report  2014-2015 extract 
4. POPULATION 
Rotherham has a population of 
approximately   65,000 children 
and young people aged 0-19 
years of age, this represents 
25% of the borough’s total 
population. As of the 31st March 
2015, 409 of these 
children/young people were 
subject to looked after children’s 
status by RMBC. 
3. THE LOOKED AFTER 
CHILDREN’S HEALTH TEAM 
extract 
The looked after children’s 
health team in Rotherham 
comprises of 
• 0.5 WTE Designated Nurse – 

employed by Rotherham 
CCG 

Safeguarding in Rotherham 
NHS Rotherham Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Ensure that all job 
description meet 
the Intercollegiate 
Framework 
Standards (2015) 

March 2017 

P
age 80



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

Annual Report  2014/2015: and 
extract 
 

 
Safeguarding Annual 
Report 2014 2015.pdf  

 
Designated Nurse Safeguarding 
and LAC under capacity but 
currently well supported by 
Deputy Designated Nurse 
MASH. 
Job Description and Person 
Specification see below 

Band 8b Head of 
Safeguarding - C Hall F    

Person 
Specification.docx  

 c) The Designated Doctor LAC should be 
2 PA’s per 400 LAC (excluding IHA 
activity) as per Intercollegiate 
Document (March 2015) 

 

W  RCCG - Safeguarding in 
Rotherham 
NHS Rotherham Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
Annual Report  2014/2015: 
A minimum of 8 hours per week 
or 2 PAs per 400 Looked after 
Children population (excluding 
any operational activity such as 
health assessments). 

TRFT Designated 
Lead for LAC Job Desc  

 

 

P
age 81



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

TRFT Designated 
Doctor Person Spec &    

 d) The designated role should be 
strategic, having the authority and 
autonomy to act in order to embed 
clinical decision making to influence 
local thinking and practice and 
provide advice in complex cases.  

 

W  The health team works across 
TRFT to advise and support 
health practitioners in achieving 
health outcomes for looked after 
children and young people. It 
also works collaboratively at a 
regional and national level to 
support children and young 
people who are placed out of 
area. In addition, the Designated 
Doctor, Designated Nurse and 
Named Nurse provide strategic 
and clinical advice and 
leadership to NHS 
Commissioning Services and 
RMBC in all areas pertaining to 
looked after children and young 
people. 

  

 e) The designated role should be 
separate from any responsibilities for 
individual looked after children.  

 

E,W  Designated Doctor Job 
Description below: 
 

TRFT Designated 
Doctor Timetable & Du    

TRFT Designated 
Doctor Timetable & Du      

  

 f) Designated health professionals 
should have job description and 
personal specifications in line with 
the intercollegiate framework 
document.  

 

W  TRFT Named Nurse Job 
Description attached: 

TRFT Named Nurse 
LAC Final Job Descripti 

  

P
age 82



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

 g) The Designated and Named 
professional are distinct roles and as 
such should ideally be separate post 
holders to avoid potential conflict of 
interest. 

 

W  Please see individual Job 
Descriptions, Timeline & Duties 
documentation 

  

 h) A Designated Nurse and Doctor for 
looked after children are members of 
their regional NHS England 
Safeguarding Network. 

 

W  Terms of Reference for York’s 
and the Humber Safeguarding 
Network 
 

v4 YH Safeguarding 
Network ToR draft -11   

  

2 CCG’s must ensure they have a 
commissioner in post with responsibility for 
looked after children.  
 
 

W,R  RCCG Commissioner in post 
since April 2015 
Emma Royle 
Senior Commissioning 
Manager, C&YPS & Maternity 
Services, RCCG 
and 
Nicole Chavaudra 
Joint Assistant Director – 
Commissioning, Performance 
and Quality, RMBC/RCCG 
 
Emma Royle meeting dates 
2016 with DR Hashmi see 
document below: 
 

1 to 1 Schedule 2016 
Dr Hashmi & Emma Ro 
 
In respect of CAMHS this is 
Nigel Parkes (RCCG) in 
conjunction with RMBC CAMHS 
Team. 

  

P
age 83



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

 
3 The CCG lead commissioner for looked after 

children meets on a quarterly (minimum) 
basis with designated professionals looked 
after children. 
 

W,R  Attached February  2014 LAC 
Quality & Performance Meeting 
Agenda with 2014 Meeting 
Dates : 

2014.03.13 LAC 
Quality & Performance       
 
Nigel Parkes (RCCG) attends 
regular (quarterly) meetings 
hosted by Sara Whittaker from 
the RMBC LAACSTT.  See 
embedded notes from last 
meeting. 
 

16 09 2015 LAC 
Emotional Wellbeing a      
The next meeting is the 2nd 
December, 2015. 
 
For 2016 Corporate Parenting 
are establishing a health sub 
group to mirror the education 
sub group 
 

  

4 Designated professionals, as clinical experts 
& strategic leaders, advise the Board of 
Executives, CCG, NHS England, LA 
(Corporate Parenting Panel) and the LSCB, 
on all matters relating to looked after 
children including regulation and inspection.   
 

W,R  RCCG Report - Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) - Review of 
Services for Children Looked 
After and 
Safeguarding (CLAS) - 23rd to 
27th February attached  

2015 04 08 CQC 
Initial Findings.pdf  

  

P
age 84



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

 

5 Designated professionals looked after 
children advise CCG commissioners, 
providers and partners on the direction and 
performance monitoring of looked after 
children health services.  

W,R,E  LAC Service Specification 2015-
2016 

Service Spec 
2015-2016 sent to Aud    
 
Draft LAC Service Specification 
2016-2017  

2015 sent to Audra 
and Tracey Armstrong    
 
MASH – LAC & CAMHS Activity 
report  see below 

MASH activity relating 
to LAC 1st April 2015     
 
RCCG Commissioner  (Emma 
Royle_ Meeting dates with 
Catherine Hall for 2016, see 
document below: 
 

Meetings ER CH.docx

 

  

6 The Designated looked after children 
professionals play an integral role in all parts 
of the commissioning cycle, from 
procurement to quality assurance. 
 

W, R, E  Same as above 
 
Nigel Parkes (RCCG)  & Sara 
Whitaker attends the quarterly 
CAMHS Strategy & Partnership 
meetings and contributed to the 

  

P
age 85



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

recent preparation of the 
CAMHS Local Transformation 
Plan. 
 

7 CCG executive board level there is an 
executive lead for looked after children. 
(This also applies to the organisation who 
employs the Designated Nurse LAC when 
not in the CCG) 
 

W,R  Job Description & Person 
Specification for Chief Nurse, 
Executive Lead, RCCG, see 
attached. 
 

Chief Nurse - S 
Cassin FINAL May 2014 
 

  

8 a) CCG executive leads meet quarterly 
(minimum) with the designated looked 
after children professionals.  

W,R  CCG executive lead meets with 
the Designated Nurse monthly.  
 
 

  

 b) The provider executive lead meets 
regularly with the Designated Nurse 
LAC 

 

  As above 
 
LAC Quality & Performance 
13.03.2015 Agenda & Meetings 
Dates for 2015 attached, see 
below 

2014.03.13 LAC 
Quality & Performance       
 
 

  

9 Designated LAC professionals submit a 
paper that sets out the health needs of LAC 
within the local health economy to the 
Provider, CCG executive leads and to NHS 
England. 
 

W,R  TRFT  Looked  After Children & 
Young People Annual Report  
2014-2015 attached, see below 
 

Annual Report 
2014-2015.doc  

 
 

 

P
age 86



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

 
Nigel Parkes (RCCG) the 
LAACSTT presents a review of 
the year.  See embedded 
document. 

LAACTT Annual 
Report 2014-15.docx  
 

10 There is 1.0 WTE Named Nurse for looked 
after children in post per provider 
organisation(s), with a maximum caseload of 
50 LAC.  
 

E,R,W  TRFT Looked After Children & 
Young People  - Annual 
Report  2014-2015 
3. THE LOOKED AFTER 
CHILDREN’S HEALTH TEAM 
• 1 WTE Named Nurse 
Attached Job Descriptions from 
RCGG folders and also from 
Named Nurse LAC there is their 
Job Description but, to date, 
there is no person specification 
for Named Nurse LAC, see 
below 

TRFT Named Nurse 
LAC Final (KH).doc  

JOB DESCRIPTION - 
Band 8a Named Nurse    

 
Ensure that job 
descriptions meet 
the Intercollegiate 
Framework 
Standards and 
that a Person 
Specification if 
created for the 
LAC Named 
Nurse post 
 
 

March 2017 

11 The Named Nurse is responsible for  the 
delivery of the operational level of service; 

• Ensuring that high standards of care 
are achieved and maintained 

•  Demonstrating effective performance 
management and leadership skills. 

 
 

C,E,W  Named Nurse LAC – collates 
monthly Health Assessment 
Data to record progress and to 
highlight any issues and 
concerns, and discuss them with 
appropriate colleagues.  April to 
November 2015 information in 
Document attached, see below 

  

P
age 87



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

                                                
2G (GREEN)=This is part of our commissioning practice and arrangements and is evidenced through contractual arrangements and service specification 
A (AMBER)= There is partial compliance with this standard.  
R (RED)= Non-compliance with this standard 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

LAC Health 
Assessments Monthly R   
 
Named Nurse LAC – holds 
monthly 1:1’s with all members 
of the LAC team to offer support 
and ensure that colleagues are 
meeting their required targets 
and deadlines. Dates attached, 
see below 

LAC Team 1 to 
1s.docx  

Key 
Area 
2 

COMMISSIONING PRACTICE. 
 

KLOE RAG2 EVIDENCE ACTIONS 
REQUIRED 

DEADLINE 
DATE 

1 There is an up to date looked after children 
health service specification to ensure that 
appropriate arrangements and resources are 
in place to assess the physical and mental 
health needs of looked after children. 
 

E,R  LAC Service Specification 2015-
2016 see below. 
Document was shared 
regionally, resulting in Barnsley 
adapting RCCG Service 
Specification to develop theirs. 

Service Spec 
2015-2016 sent to Aud    
 
Draft LAC Service Specification 
2016-2017, see below  

  

P
age 88



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

2015 sent to Audra 
and Tracey Armstrong    
 
Nigel Parkes - RCCG don’t have 
a specific service specification 
with RDaSH for LAC.  This is 
part of the overall CAMHS 
service specification. 
 
See embedded document. 

IN USE RDaSH 
CAMHS Specification 2        
 

2 In accordance with NHS England guidance 
‘Who Pays? Determining responsibility for 
payments to providers’ CCGs and local 
authorities should have agreed mechanisms 
in place when making placement decisions 
and for resolving any funding disputes that 
may arise. 
 

R  Physical Health Needs: 
Mechanism in place for TRFT to 
reimburse children out of area 
health assessments.   
 
Determining responsibility for 
payment to providers August 
2013 (NHSE) see document 
below:  

who-pays.pdf

 
Mental Health Needs: 
Nigel Parkes There is a 
mechanism in place for the CCG 
to agree extra funding for LAC 
placed out of area needing to 
access local CAMHS services, 
where it isn’t possible for RDaSH 
CAMHS to provide support. 
 

  P
age 89



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

3 On receipt of notification from the LA that a 
child has become looked after or moved 
placement, the CCG can give assurance that 
a robust mechanism in place to ensure that 
the child’s/ young person’s physical and 
mental health needs will be met including out 
of area placements. 
  

R,E  National tool used 
 
Nigel Parkes - As above for 
mental health needs. 
 
 

Work in progress 
to increase the 
number of children 
for initial health 
assessment seen 
in timescale (20 
working days) 

March 2017 

4 The CCG can give assurance that a robust 
system is in place to manage and escalate 
persistent none notification of placement / 
changes/ cease to be looked after by a 
placing LA.  
 

S,R  Process as above that Jane 
Palfreman has brought in.  
Needs signing off once all 
stakeholders have O.K.’d etc., 

  

5 CCGs can give assurance that there is an 
effective escalation process in place to 
resolve any issues in relation to obtaining 
consent in order to avoid delay in securing 
health assessment and interventions for 
looked after children. 
 

S,E,R  As above 
 
Mental Health Needs: 
Nigel Parkes There is a 
mechanism in place for the CCG 
to agree extra funding for LAC 
placed out of area needing to 
access local CAMHS services, 
where it isn’t possible for RDaSH 
CAMHS to provide support. 
 

  

6 The Designated Nurse looked after children 
should quality assurance system and 
process in relation to health assessments 
ensuring oversight and scrutiny 
 

S,E  KPI info in service spec and 
safeguarding CQUIN 

  

7 The Designated Nurse looked after children 
will ensure that health assessment data 
informs the health needs analysis of the 
looked after children population. 
 

E,R  KPI info in service spec and 
safeguarding CQUIN 

  

8 The Health Needs Analysis in turn informs 
the annual report and commissioning 
agenda by collating trends and themes for 
the JSNA. 

R, E  KPI info in service spec and 
safeguarding CQUIN  
 
Data from provider needs to 

Ensure a robust 
mechanism is in 
place to ensure 
that a health 

March 2017 

P
age 90



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

                                                
3G (GREEN)=This is part of our commissioning practice and arrangements and is evidenced through contractual arrangements and service specification 
A (AMBER)= There is partial compliance with this standard.  
R (RED)= Non-compliance with this standard 
 

 
 

inform JSNA this work has 
begun with RMBC Public Health 
 
Rotherham Improvement Panel 
in place and improving services 
to LAC 

needs analysis is 
produced in order 
to inform the 
JSNA 

9 The CCG should ensure a system is in place 
to capture the voice of the looked after child 
in order to influence service design and 
delivery. 
 

S,C,R  Document re Looked After 
Children & Leaving Care re nine 
promises 2015 including 
explanations attached, see 
below 

Looked After Children 
& Leaving Care Promis   
Right Care, First time for Young 
People, see below  

Right Care First time 
booklet FINAL.pdf  

 
Health Passport provided to all 
LAC & CL that want to utilise the 
document and also document is 
under review at Improvement 
Board, Corporate Parenting.  
 

Ensure the voice 
of the child is 
collected and 
evidenced in order 
to inform service 
design and 
delivery. 

September 
2016 

Key 
Area 
3 

COMMISSIONING CAMHS. 
 

KLOE RAG3 EVIDENCE ACTIONS 
REQUIRED 

DEADLINE 
DATE 

1 CCG’s should ensure that CAMHS and other 
therapeutic services provide targeted and 
dedicated support to looked after children 

S,E,R  Nigel Parkes (RCCG): The 
RMBC LAACSTT provides lower 
level support.  RDaSH CAMHS 

  

P
age 91



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

 
 
 
 

according to need. 
 

provide more intensive support.  
The monthly monitoring outlines 
the LAC in service. 
See embedded document. 

Rotherham CCG 
CAMHS - Performance     
 

2 CCG’s should ensure that when 
commissioning CAMHS there is a 
contractual agreement that looked after 
children will be prioritised and never refused 
a service on the grounds of their placement 
being short term or unplanned. 
 

S, E, R  Nigel Parkes (RCCG): This isn’t 
currently the case, but the 
CAMHS Local Transformation 
Plan includes an action for 
RDaSH to develop a process for 
prioritising LAC & Care Leavers 
entering the CAMHS or Adult 
services, by the end of 
December 2015. 

Ensure a robust 
mechanism is in 
place through 
CAMHS 
Transformation 
Plan action. 

September 
2016 

3 There is evidence that the CCGs use the SDQ 
data to inform the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. 
 

W,R  Requires further embedding. CCGs to be 
assured that the 
SDQ data inform 
the JH&W 
Strategy. 

March 2017 

4 CCGs can give assurance that the SDQ 
informs the review health assessment. 
 

W,S  Aware that SDQ informs their 
health assessment , although 
assurance needed that the data 
is themed and provides 
information for future work 

  

5 CCG’s should ensure that there is a 
mechanism in place to monitor the 
effectiveness of CAMHS to provide timely 
interventions for identified mental health 
need. 

R,E,S  RMBC CAMHS is monitored 
internally as to their 
effectiveness Corporate 
Parenting having a health sub 
group will provide the 
mechanism to monitor the 
effectiveness of CAMHS 

CCG should be 
assured that there 
is a robust 
mechanism in 
place and timely 
interventions are 
monitored. 

September 
2016 

P
age 92



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 CQC Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE) 
 W – Well led   R – Responsive  S - Safe 
 E – Effective   C – Caring   
 
  

References: 
 

1. DoH/DfE. (2015). Promoting the Health and Well-Being of Looked After Children. Statutory guidance for local authorities, clinical commissioning 
groups & NHS England. London: DfE/DoH. 
 

2. NHS England (2015). Safeguarding Vulnerable People in the NHS - Accountability and Assurance Framework. London: NHS England. 
 

3. RCPCH, RCGP & RCN (2015). Looked After Children: Knowledge, Skills and Competences of health care staff. Intercollegiate Role Framework. 
London: RCPCH. 
 

4. HM Government (2015). Working Togethether to Safeguard Children. A guide to inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children. London: HM Government (2015). 

 
  

 
Immediate 
Identified Risks 
 

 
 
 
 

Good Practice 
 
 
 

 
 
 

P
age 93



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Clinical Commissioning Compliance Tool for 
Looked After Children and Care Leaver Health 

Services. 
Right People, Right Time, Right Outcomes. 

 
 

31 May 2016 

ACTION PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 2 
Page 94



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

KEY 
 
*SMART Actions: 
 
Specific  – Specify area for improvement. 
Measurable  – Quantify or at least suggest an indicator of progress. 
Assignable  – Specify who will do it. 
Realistic  – State what results can realistically be achieved, given available resources. 
Time-related  – Specify when the action(s) will be achieved. 
 
PROGRESS OF ACTIONS – **RAG RATE 

 
GREEN  =   This is part of our commissioning practice and arrangements and is evidenced  
   through contractual arrangements and service specification 
AMBER  =   There is partial compliance with this standard.  
RED   =  Non-compliance with this standard  
 
 
SECTION LEADS   
 
Key Section Lead Update Required by 
1 Commissioning Arrangements 

 
Chief Nurse 15 June 2016 

2 Commissioning Practice CAMHS, Acute 
Commissioner and Public 
Health Consultant 
 

15 June 2016 

3 Commissioning CAMHS CAMHS Commissioner 15 June 2016 
 

 
 
  

Page 95



 

Version 1; 31 May 2016 

 
Foreword 
 
NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS RCCG) is committed to proactively developing 
their commissioning responsibilities and their legal obligations towards Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers.   
 
Under the Children Act 2004, health professionals have a legal responsibility to promote the health and 
wellbeing of all children who they are responsible for.  This responsibility is particularly pertinent with 
regard to vulnerable cohorts such as Looked After Children and Care Leavers.  ‘Promoting the Health 
and Wellbeing of Looked After Children’ (Department for Children, Schools and Families 2015) sets out 
a framework for the delivery of care from healthcare providers and social services to ensure their 
effectiveness in supporting and delivering that care.  NHS RCCG as the responsible commissioner for 
Rotherham Looked After Children commissions an annual report from The Rotherham NHS Foundation 
Trust (TRFT) in order to assure itself that services delivered to Looked After Children and Care Leavers 
is meeting their expectations.   
 
NHS RCCG has a proactive approach to working with healthcare providers to ensure that the health 
needs of Looked After Children and Care Leavers remains high on the agenda and relevant to need. 
NHS RCCG is very conscious of the fact that across the United Kingdom, Looked After Children fall 
short of the health outcomes we strive for in the Every Child Matters spectrum.  Therefore NHS RCCG 
and TRFT will ensure that they have robust services that will strive to reduce some of the physical health 
inequalities endured by children in the care system. 
 
In 2015 NHS England North undertook to benchmark Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
commitment to Looked After Children and Care Leavers – See Appendix 1.  As part of that work CCGs 
were peer challenged, by Designated LAC Professionals and attended a conference 25 May 2016 to 
conclude the work.  From this CCGs were tasked with providing a SMART action plan, attached in NHS 
Rotherham’s action plan.   
 
 
  
Sue Cassin, Chief Nurse 
NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group 

Chris Edwards, Chief Officer 
NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
 

Please Note:  
The attached Up to date as at 30 May 2016 

Page 96



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 23 
 

 
Key Area: 1  Commissioning Arrangements  
 
Action Point 1.b  
The Designated Nurse LAC should be 1 WTE per 70,000 population of children as per Intercollegiate Standards (March 2015) 
Agency/Service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date RAG** Progress, Evidence, Date,  

NHS Rotherham 
CCG 

The Chief Nurse will continue to raise 
with NHS RCCG the expectations 
recorded in the Intercollegiate 
Document 2015 around capacity. 
 
This will be raised in Annual Reports 
and through papers to the Operational 
Executive. 
 

Chief Nurse 31.5.16 
 
AMBER 

Looked After Children & Young People  - Annual Report  
2014-2015 extract: POPULATION 
Rotherham has a population of approximately   65,000 
children and young people aged 0-19 years of age, this 
represents 25% of the borough’s total population. As of the 
31st March 2015, 409 of these children/young people were 
subject to looked after children’s status by RMBC. 
3. THE LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN’S HEALTH TEAM 
extract 
The looked after children’s health team in Rotherham 
comprises of 
• 0.5 WTE Designated Nurse – employed by NHS 
Rotherham CCG, Annual Report 2014/2015.  
 
Designated Nurse Safeguarding and LAC under capacity but 
currently well supported by Deputy Designated Nurse MASH 
and NHS RCCG Safeguarding Team. 
Job Description and Person Specification include LAC.  

Key Area 2 : Commissioning Practice 
 
Action Point 2.3 On receipt of notification from the LA that a child has become looked after or moved placement, the CCG can give assurance that a 
robust mechanism in place to ensure that the child’s/ young person’s physical and mental health needs will be met including out of area 
placements. 
Agency/service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date RAG** Progress, Evidence, Date,  

NHS Rotherham 
CCG 

The CCG Commissioners for acute 
services and CAMHS will include the 
expectation within contracts and service 
specifications the needs for this cohort 
of children to be met.  

Children 
Commissioner 
and CAMHS 
Commissioner 

31.May 
2016 
 
AMBER 

2016/2017 LAC and CL Service Specification. 
 
Raising Aspirations Health and Wellbeing Work Stream 
commenced April 2016 to track LAC and CLs 
 

P
age 97



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 24 
 

 
The TRFT LAC Team will proactively 
maintain a database of children placed 
out of area.  

CHC Team (senior paediatric nurse) attend weekly complex 
Care Panel 

Action Point  2.8 The Health Needs Analysis in turn informs the annual report and commissioning agenda by collating trends and themes for the 
JSNA 
Agency/Service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date RAG** Progress, Evidence, Date,  

 
 
TRFT and LA 
Public Health 
 

TRFT Annual LAC and CL report 
2015/2016 will provide the starting point 
for the health needs analysis.  Raising 
Aspirations Health and Wellbeing Work 
Stream will by 2017 ensure that trends 
and themes are collated into the JSNA. 

Named LAC 
Professional and 
Specialist Advisor 
TRFT and LA 
Public Health 
Consultant 

31 May 
2016 
 
 
 
 
AMBER 

KPI info in service spec  
Data from provider needs to inform JSNA this work has 
begun with RMBC Public Health – Raising Aspirations Health 
and Well Being Work Stream. 
 
Rotherham Improvement Panel is cognizant of improving 
services to LAC. 
LA need to ensure a robust mechanism is in place to ensure 
that a health needs analysis is produced in order to inform 
the JSNA March 2017 

Action Point 2.9: The CCG should ensure a system is in place to capture the voice of the looked after child in order to influence service design and 
delivery. 
Agency/Service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date RAG** Progress, Evidence, Date,  

NHS RCCG The Children’s Commissioner by April 
2016 will include in the LAC Service 
Specification that the Voice of the Child 
is clearly expected to influence 
providers in any service design. 

NHS RCCG 
Children 
Commissioner 

31 May 
2016 
 
 
 
GREEN 

2016/2017 LAC and CL Service Specification. 
 
Document re Looked After Children & Leaving Care re nine 
promises 2015 agreed.  
Right Care, First time for Young People has been published 
with the LAC Council.  
 
Health Passport provided to all LAC & CL that want to utilise 
the document and also document is under review at 
Improvement Board, Corporate Parenting.  Provider to 
undertake compliance audit. 
 
On-going need to ensure the voice of the child is collected 
and evidenced in order to inform service design and delivery. 

P
age 98



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 25 
 

KEY AREA 3 : Commissioning CAMHS. 
 
Action Point 3.2:  CCG’s should ensure that when commissioning CAMHS there is a contractual agreement that looked after children will be 
prioritised and never refused a service on the grounds of their placement being short term or unplanned. 

Agency/Service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 
Key Personnel 

Date RAG** Progress, Evidence, Date,  

NHS RCCG NHS Rotherham CCG Commissioner 
for CAMHS will include within contracts 
and service specifications for 
2016/2017  the need for this cohort of 
children to be prioritised 

CAMHS 
Commissioner  

 Nigel Parkes (RCCG): This isn’t currently the case, but the 
CAMHS Local Transformation Plan includes an action for 
RDaSH to develop a process for prioritising LAC & Care 
Leavers entering the CAMHS or Adult services, by the end of 
December 2015. 
 
Ensure a robust mechanism is in place through CAMHS 
Transformation Plan action. 

Action Point 3.3: There is evidence that the CCGs use the SDQ data to inform the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
Agency/Service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date of 
Action 

Progress, Evidence, Date, BRAG** 
 

Local Authority 
Public Health 

Rotherham Local Authority Therapeutic 
Mental Health Team (formerly 
LAACLAT) will work with LA Public 
Health to ensure that SDQ data 
influences the 2017 Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy  

RMBC 
Therapeutic 
Team and LA 
Public Health 
Consultant 

31 May 
2016 
AMBER 

CCGs to be assured that the SDQ data inform the JH&W 
Strategy. 

Action Point 3.5: CCG’s should ensure that there is a mechanism in place to monitor the effectiveness of CAMHS to provide timely interventions for 
identified mental health need. 
 
Agency/Service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date of 
Action 

Progress, Evidence, Date, BRAG** 

 
NHS RCCG 

NHS Rotherham CCG Commissioner 
for CAMHS will ensure that by 
September 2016 there is a mechanism 
for monitoring the effectiveness of 
CAMHS interventions for identified 
mental health needs. 

CAMHS 
Commissioner 

September 
2016 

RMBC CAMHS is monitored internally as to their 
effectiveness Corporate Parenting having a health sub group 
will provide the mechanism to monitor the effectiveness of 
CAMHS 
CCG should be assured that there is a robust mechanism in 
place and timely interventions are monitored. 

P
age 99



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 26 
 

 

 
 

 

Composite Safeguarding Action Plan 
August 2016 

This Composite Action Plan is an amalgamation of remaining actions from: 
• NHS Rotherham CCG Safeguarding Action Plan (NHS England 

Assurance June 2016);  
• NHS England Self-Assessment Looked After Children - Right People, 

Right Time, Right Outcomes  
• Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding 

(CLAS) in Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 February 
2016. 

 

APPENDIX 3 

P
age 100



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 27 
 

  

 
KEY: 

 
*SMART Actions 
Specific – Specify area for improvement. 
Measurable – Quantify or at least suggest an indicator of progress. 
Assignable – Specify who will do it. 
Realistic – State what results can realistically be achieved, given available resources. 
Time-related – Specify when the action(s) will be achieved. 
 
** PROGRESS OF ACTIONS – BRAG RATE 
BLUE      = The task has been completed 
GREEN   = The task is on target 
AMBER  = The task is off target with remedial action. 
RED        = The work has yet to be planned/started/progressed 
GREY     = The action obsolete due to changes in process 
 

Version 
 

Date 
 

Update 
 

Name 
 

1 28 July 2016 Merged all 3 documents into 1 Action Plan Angie Brunt and Catherine Hall 

2 30 August Updating information from colleagues Angie Brunt 

3 30 August Updated information on behalf of colleagues. 
TRFT, NHS RCCG Commissioners & RDaSH updates added 

Catherine Hall 
Angie Brunt 
 
     

P
age 101



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 28 
 

NHS Rotherham CCG Safeguarding Action Plan (NHS England Assurance June 2016)  
Key Area: 2 Leadership 

 
Action Point 2.1 The CCG will have employed or secured the expertise of  Designated Doctors and Nurses for:  
Safeguarding Children  
Looked After Children 
Unexpected Deaths in Childhood 
These posts should meet the requirements contained within relevant statutory and legal frameworks including: 
• Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children; 1 dedicated WTE Designated Nurse for a child population of 

70,000, supported by 0.5WTE administrative support. 
• Designated Doctor Safeguarding Children; 4.5 – 5 PAs per week according to the size of the districts covered 
• Designated Nurse Looked After Children; 1 dedicated WTE for a child population of 70,000 supported by 0.5 WTE administrative support 
Designated Doctor Looked After Children; A minimum of 2 Pas per 400 Looked after children  population 
 
Agency/Service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date 
RAG** 

Progress, Evidence, 

NHS Rotherham 
CCG 

The Chief Nurse will continue to raise with NHS 
Rotherham CCG the expectations recorded in the 
Intercollegiate Document 2014 around capacity. 
This will be raised in Annual Reports and through papers 
to the Operational Executive. 
 

Chief Nurse  
29/7/2016 
AMBER 

AQuA 22.7.16 capacity challenge 
highlighted. 

NHS Rotherham CCG Safeguarding Action Plan (NHS England Assurance June 2016) 
Action Point 2.2: The CCG will have employed or have access to a Designated Adult Safeguarding Lead. 
This post should meet the requirements contained within relevant statutory and legal frameworks 

Agency/Service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 
Key Personnel 

Date 
RAG** 

Progress, Evidence, 

NHS RCCG The Chief Nurse and Head of Safeguarding will précis 
and publish the relevant statutory guidance when it is 
published. 
This will be raised in Operational Executive at the earliest 
opportunity and will feature as appropriate in Annual 
Reports. 
 

Chief Nurse/Head of 
Safeguarding 

 
29/7/2016 
AMBER 

30 August 2016 – still no 
guidance published nationally. 

NHS Rotherham CCG Safeguarding Action Plan (NHS England Assurance June 2016) 
Action point 2.6: CCGs have employed/secured Named GP/named professional with the capacity to support primary care services in 

P
age 102



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 29 
 

discharging their safeguarding duties 
These posts should meet the requirements contained within relevant statutory; legal and guidance frameworks e.g. 2 sessions per 220,000 per 
population 
 

Agency/Service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 
Key Personnel 

Date 
RAG** 

Progress, Evidence, 

NHS RCCG Safeguarding will précis and publish the relevant statutory 
guidance when it is published. 

 
This will be raised in Operational Executive (OE) at the 
earliest opportunity and will feature as appropriate in 
Annual Reports. 

Chief Nurse/Head of 
Safeguarding 

 
27/7/2016 
AMBER 

AQuA 22.7.16 capacity challenge 
raised as to Named GP capacity 
in Safeguarding Children.   
Report to OE as soon as Royal 
Colleges publish their 
expectations. 
 

 
NHS England LAC Self-Assessment    Right People, Right Time, Right Outcomes. 
Key Area: 1 Commissioning Arrangements 

Action Point 1.b: The Designated Nurse LAC should be 1 WTE per 70,000 population of children as per Intercollegiate Standards (March 2015) 
Agency/Service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date 
RAG** 

Progress, Evidence, Date, BRAG 

NHS Rotherham 
CCG 

The Chief Nurse will continue to raise with NHS RCCG 
the expectations recorded in the Intercollegiate 
Document 2015 around capacity. 

 
This will be raised in Annual Reports and through papers 
to the Operational Executive. 
 

Chief Nurse  
29/7/2016 
GREEN 

AQuA 22.7.16 capacity challenge 
raised as to Designated Nurse 
LAC.  The Intercollegiate document 
is best practice and therefore not 
statue. 
 

NHS England LAC Self-Assessment    Right People, Right Time, Right Outcomes. 
Key Area 2 : Commissioning Practice 

Action Point 2.3: On receipt of notification from the LA that a child has become looked after or moved placement, the CCG can give assurance 
that a robust mechanism in place to ensure that the child’s/ young person’s physical and mental health needs will be met including out of area 
placements. 
Agency/service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date 
RAG** 

Progress, Evidence, Date, BRAG 

NHS Rotherham 
CCG 

The CCG Commissioners for acute services and CAMHS 
will include the expectation within contracts and service 
specifications the needs for this cohort of children to be 

Children 
Commissioner 
and CAMHS 

 
June 
2016 

The CAMHS service 
specification is currently being 
updated and will include the 

P
age 103



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 30 
 

met. 
 
The TRFT LAC Team will proactively maintain a database 
of children placed out of area. 

 
The CCG Commissioner for CAMHS will discuss with 
RMBC and RDaSH establishing a mechanism for 
identifying when children become looked after or move 
placement, including out of area. 

Commissioner Amber requirement that the needs of 
looked after children will be 
met by the service and 
prioritised where possible and 
appropriate.  
 
The CCG Commissioner 
currently has a process for 
liaising with the RMBC LAC 
team when LAC placed out of 
area need to access local 
CAMHS.  This will be 
confirmed in a formal process. 
 

NHS England LAC Self-Assessment    Right People, Right Time, Right Outcomes. 
Action Point 2.8: The Health Needs Analysis in turn informs the annual report and commissioning agenda by collating trends and themes for the 
JSNA 

Agency/service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 
Key Personnel 

Date 
RAG** 

Progress, Evidence, Date, BRAG 

TRFT and LA 
Public Health 

TRFT Annual LAC and CL report 2015/2016 will provide 
the starting point for the health needs analysis.  Raising 
Aspirations Health and Wellbeing Work Stream will by 
2017 ensure that trends and themes are collated into the 
JSNA. 

Named LAC 
Professional and 
Specialist Advisor 
TRFT and LA 
Public Health 
Consultant 
 

31/05/2016 
AMBER 

Raising Aspirations meetings 
commenced April 2016 and Public 
Health supporting an outcome 
focused health needs assessment. 
 

 

29/07/2016 
GREEN 

NHS England LAC Self-Assessment    Right People, Right Time, Right Outcomes. 
KEY AREA 3: Commissioning CAMHS. 
Action Point 3.3: There is evidence that the CCGs use the SDQ data to inform the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
Agency/service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date 
RAG** 

Progress, Evidence, Date, BRAG 

Local Authority 
Public Health 

Rotherham Local Authority Therapeutic Mental Health 
Team (formerly LAACLAT) will work with LA Public 
Health to ensure that SDQ data influences the 2017 Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

RMBC 
Therapeutic Team 
and LA Public Health 
Consultant 

31/05/2016 
AMBER 
 
 

Requires further embedding. 
 
Each LAC has a SDQ after 3 months 
and on their birthday annually. 
The SDQ is then used by the Social 
Worker and Independent Reviewing 

P
age 104



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 31 
 

Officer to assist with care planning. 
SDQs are looked at as a whole 
within RMBC.  They are analysed 
and reported to government as part 
of the data and understanding for 
LAC.  Not clear how/if this 
specifically influences the JH&W 
Strategy? 

 
NHS England LAC Self-Assessment    Right People, Right Time, Right Outcomes 
Action Point 3.5: CCG’s should ensure that there is a mechanism in place to monitor the effectiveness of CAMHS to provide timely interventions 
for identified mental health need. 
Agency/service SMART* Action Lead Officer and 

Key Personnel 
Date 
RAG** 

Progress, Evidence, Date, BRAG 

NHS RCCG NHS Rotherham CCG Commissioner for CAMHS will 
ensure that by September 2016 there is a mechanism for 
monitoring the effectiveness of CAMHS interventions for 
identified mental health needs. 

CAMHS  
Commissioner 

 
30/08/2016 
BLUE 
 
 
 

RMBC CAMHS is monitored 
internally as to their effectiveness 
Corporate Parenting having a health 
sub group will provide the 
mechanism to monitor the 
effectiveness of CAMHS 
 
During 2016/17 there is a CQUIN 
relating to Outcomes monitoring 
which specifically applies to CAMHS. 
RDaSH will be asked to ensure that 
this includes all LAC in the CAMHS 
service.  On the basis that this is 
done, then the target should be 
achieved by September. 
 

 
Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 February 
2016 
 
 
NB:  see all outstanding areas below have been transferred, with agreement, to formal meetings to ensure that they are actioned appropriately. 
 

P
age 105



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 32 
 

Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 February 
2016 
Recommendation 1.1 
Work with GPs to ensure that they fully understand the local child protection processes, including their responsibilities around record keeping, 
information governance and information sharing.   
Outcome:  All Rotherham GP’s will be aware of their responsibility to safeguard children and know where child protection plans should be 
stored in order to support families in protecting their children. 
 
Agency Service SMART Action Lead Officer & Key 

Personnel 
Date of 
Action 

Progress, Evidence, Date BRAG 

NHS RCCG 1.1.C.3 – Waiting second CSE session July 2016. 
 

Head of Primary 
Care – NHS RCCG 

30/8/2016 2nd PLT Safeguarding CSE Event 
held 18/07/2016 
Evaluation of learning undertaken. 
Report available from NHS RCCG. 
 

Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 February 
2016 
Recommendation 2.5 
Ensure that pharmacists and practitioners working from the local walk in centre are aware of their role in referring young people for local 
screening for sexually transmitted infections or in raising safeguarding concerns and that clear pathways of care are in place. 
 
Outcome:  All children admitted on to the paediatric ward will have a mental health risk management plan undertaken by staff who have the 
required skills set. 
 
Agency Service SMART Action Lead Officer & Key 

Personnel 
Date of 
Action 

Progress, Evidence, Date BRAG 

NHSE   
 

2.5 A.1 All Pharmacists commissioned by RMBC Public 
Health will have contracts varied to include a requirement 
to undertake level 2 safeguarding children training. 

Consultant in Public 
Health, Public Health 
Specialist, RMBC 
Safeguarding 
 

29.7.16 
BLUE 

 

NHSE  
 

2.5 A.2 Referral pathways in relation to safeguarding and 
screening for sexually transmitted infections (STIs) to be 
disseminated to all Pharmacies commissioned by RMBC 
Public Health. Guidance and procedures to be supplied by 
RMBC Safeguarding. 
 

Chair Local 
Pharmacy 
Committee/Public 
Health 

29.7.16 
BLUE 
 

 

P
age 106



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 33 
 

NHSE  
 

2.5 A.3 Pharmacists to undergo training. Chair Local 
Pharmacy 
Committee/Public 
Health 
 

29.7.16 
BLUE 
 

 

Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 
February 2016 
Recommendation 3.1 
Ensure that children and young people who are working with CAMHS practitioners have a clearly identified lead professional and that regular 
communication takes place with the child’s GP where there is concern.   
Outcome:  All children will have an identified care co-coordinator with the responsibility to identify, communicate and liaise with all individuals 
and services relevant to a child care. 
 
Agency Service SMART Action Lead Officer & Key 

Personnel 
Date of 
Action 

Progress, Evidence, Date BRAG 

CAMHS. 
RDaSH 

3.1 C Undertake a review to ensure that existing cases 
are allocated to a care coordinator/lead professional. 
 

Service Manager, 
CAMHS, RDaSH 

Complete
d 31 
August 
2015 
 
May 2016 
- GREEN 

Cases are allocated a care co-
ordinator through normal 
processes within RDaSH CAMHS.  
An audit has been undertaken by 
RDaSH CAMHS to understand to 
what extent patients know who 
their care co-ordinator is.  This 
audit will be repeated after 6 
months. 
 

CAMHS RDaSH 3.1 D Care coordinator/lead professional to inform GP and 
other relevant health and social care professionals when 
allocated to work with a child, in line with consent to share 
information. 
 

Service Manager, 
CAMHS, RDaSH 

Complete 31 
August 2015 
Extended 
November 
2015 
May 2016 - 
GREEN 

Following an assessment by 
RDaSH CAMHS, the GP and other 
professionals (who consent was 
given to share the information with) 
are informed as to who the care co-
ordinator is. 

CAMHS RDaSH 3.1 E A workforce development review to be undertaken to 
support the transformation programme agreed with 
Commissioner 
 

Service Manager, 
CAMHS, RDaSH 
and RCCG Lead 
CAMHS 
Commissioner 

Complete 30 
September 
2015 
May 2016 - 
GREEN 

RDaSH CAMHS has 
undertaken a workforce review 
as part of its reconfiguration, 
linked to the implementation of 
the Local Transformation Plan. 

P
age 107



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 34 
 

Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 
February 2016 
 
3.2C – RDaSH – Ongoing performance report with regard to the 5 year Emotional Wellbeing Strategy.  Data and reports to be monitored at 
Contract Performance Meetings 

Outcome: There is a mental health pathway in place from referral into CAMHS through to Tier 4 admission and stepping back down to Tier 3 
services. 
 
Agency Service SMART Action Lead Officer & Key 

Personnel 
Date of 
Action 

Progress, Evidence, Date BRAG 

RDaSH, NHS 
England Area 
Team and 
RCCG 

3.2 C RDaSH to work with RMBC / CCG / Voluntary 
Sector partners to continue to implement the Rotherham 
Multi-Agency Emotional and Wellbeing and Mental Health 
Strategy for Children and Young People. 

RMBC Mental 
Health 
Commissioner 
Rotherham CCG 
Lead Commissioner 
CAMHS, RDaSH 
CAMHS Service 
Manager 

Complete by 
31 
March 2016 
GREEN 

The Emotional Wellbeing and 
Mental Health Strategy has now 
been incorporated into the 
Rotherham CAMHS Local 
Transformation Plan.  All 
stakeholders, including RDaSH, 
work together on the action plan 
which oversees the implementation 
of the Local Transformation Plan. 
 

Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 
February 2016 
3.4B – RDaSH Nurse Consultant Safeguarding to provide a position statement regarding change in practice from utilising a SOP. 
3.4C – RDaSH – ongoing monitoring via Performance and Quality Committee. 
Outcome: All children will receive effective demonstrable safeguarding. 
 
Agency Service SMART Action Lead Officer & Key 

Personnel 
Date of 
Action 

Progress, Evidence, Date BRAG 

RDaSH 3.4 B Develop a Safeguarding Standard Operating 
Procedure (SOP) that reflects the implementation of the 
Safeguarding operational performance management 
system. 
 
 

Head of Quality & 
Standards, RDaSH 
Safeguarding 
Children Named 
Nurse, RDaSH 
Service Manager, 
Adult Mental Health, 
RDaSH 
Service Manager, 

Draft 
consulted 
upon by end 
30 
September 
2015 
 
 
March 2016 

RDaSH Task & Finish Group 
established to develop Safeguarding 
SOP, the first meeting to be held on 3 
August 2015. The first meeting to be 
held in September 2015. 
 
RDaSH 6.10.15 
CAMHS Safeguarding Advisor in 
Post September 2015 will develop 

P
age 108



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 35 
 

CAMHS, RDaSH 
Service Manager, 
Drug & Alcohol 
Services, RDaSH 

 
 

SOP as part of the work being 
undertaken by this role proposed 
completion date March 2016. 
 
9.11.15 – RDaSH Update 
A whole service review is underway; 
the safeguarding CAMHS advisor is 
currently reviewing the performance 
framework to ensure a sustained 
impact is made. 
 

RDaSH/CCG 3.4 C Audit compliance with Safeguarding Standard 
Operating Procedure to evidence the implementation and 
recording outcomes from the performance management 
system. 

Safeguarding Health 
Advisor RDaSH 

RDaSH - 
September 
2016  
GREEN 

All children in the Rotherham 
CAMHS service have an allocated 
care-coordinator which a core 
activity/responsibility is liaison 
with GPs both on a routine basis 
and when particular risks or 
concerns are identified.  
 
The Identification and 
management of risk has been 
strengthened by the embedding of 
clinical meetings led by the 
responsible Consultant and 
regularly attended by a 
safeguarding Named Nurse or 
Professional along with the child’s 
key worker. 
 

Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 February 
2016 
 
Recommendation 4.8 
Ensure that children looked after receive timely, comprehensive and child centred initial health assessments and review health 
assessments that reflect the voice of the child and the child’s health journey whilst they have been looked after.  Assessments should 
include information from other health professionals working with the child and every attempt should be made to include parental health 
histories. 

P
age 109



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 36 
 

 
Outcome:  All looked after children and young people will have a comprehensive health assessment. 
 
Agency Service SMART Action Lead Officer & Key 

Personnel 
Date of 
Action 

Progress, Evidence, Date BRAG 

Looked After 
Children’s Team 
 

4.8 A.1 The initial health assessment will be undertaken 
by a qualified medical practitioner. 

Looked After 
Children’s (LAC)  
Health Team and 
Social Care 
Designated Doctor 
LAC Looked After 
Children’s Health 
Team and Social 
Care. 

31 
December 
2015 
TRFT 
BLUE 

Raising Aspirations Health and 
Wellbeing Work Steam, 
Corporate Parenting Panel 
alongside LSCB will take a 
report on Initial Health 
Assessments across Rotherham 
end of September 2016. 
 
Multi-agency pathway devised 
to ensure completion within 
statutory timescales.   
 

Within 20 working days of the child/young person 
becoming looked after 

TRFT 
December  
GREEN 

Looked After 
Children’s Team 

4.8 G An audit will be undertaken by the LAC Team to 
ensure compliance with the above actions and a report 
presented to TRFT Joint Safeguarding Meeting and 
Corporate Parenting. 
 

Looked After 
Children’s Team and 
social care 
Designated Doctor 
LAC 

TRFT April 
GREEN 

May and June 2016 audit 
identified on-going challenges 
with compliance.  Report due to 
LSCB and Corporate Parenting 
Sept/Oct 2016 
 

Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 February 
2016 
Recommendation 4.9 
Ensure that Health plans developed from initial health assessments and health reviews are SMART*. 
 
Outcome:  All looked after children and young people will have their health needs met 
 
Looked After 
Children’s Team 

4.9 D Health recommendations which contribute to the 
looked after child/young person’s care plan will be audited 
by the LAC Health Team to ensure that they are child 
focused and SMART. 

Looked After 
Children’s Team 
Designated Doctor 
LAC 

TRFT Rating 
April 2016 
GREEN 

Audit completed, recommendations 
identified and implemented. 

Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) in Rotherham, Care Quality Commission Review 23 – 27 February 
2016 
Recommendation 4.11 

P
age 110



 

Nikki Shepherd / Hannah Smith August 2015 Page 37 
 

Improve the arrangements to support young people with their healthcare as they prepare to leave care and ensure that they are provided with 
comprehensive health care summaries. 
 
Outcome: All looked after children and young people will receive written information relating to their health care. 
 
Looked After 
Children’s Team 

 

4.11 B Health Passports will be updated by the health 
professional at each health assessment. 
 
A point prevalence audit will be undertaken over the 
course of one week in January 2016 by the LAC Health 
Team or the named social worker. 

Looked After 
Children’s Team 
School Nursing 
Team 

To be 
completed 31 
December 
2015 
 

Distribution completed to looked after 
children and care leavers on LAC 
Nurse practitioner’s caseload. 
Distribution to commence on school 
nursing LAC caseloads September 
2016 – to be distributed at review 
health assessment for current LAC. 
Pathway devised to distribute 
passports to LAC new into care – to 
commence September 2016. 
 

April 2016 - 
TRFT Rating  
GREEN 

 

P
age 111



1 
 

 

 

                       

 

 

 

      

 

 

 
This has been another exciting, busy and productive period for the Looked After Children’s Council 

(LACC). In September alone the group met 8 times to cover all their community and consultation 
commitments. The LACC has positively impacted and given their voices in consultations to 

enhance services including the NHS Health Care Consultation, Fostering Review, Children in Care 

Residential Consultation, Get in Gear: Accessibility for Public Transport for Young People 
Consultation and my Three Houses Consultation. They have engaged in community events of 

Rotherham Show, Pride of Rotherham Awards and a Celebratory event for EID. They have 
participated in an educational Residential at Filey and engaged in Youth Voice training ‘Don’t Hate 

Educate’ and they have made strides in fundraising for their Destination Poland Project. The 
myriad of experiences and opportunities offered at the LAC Council for our Children in Care are 
designed to increase social capital, self-awareness and self-esteem to foster resilience and support 

better outcomes for our young people. Here are some of the things we have been up to:- 

 

 

 

Cherry Tree & Silverwood Residential 

Consultation 

In July, the LAC Council held 2 workshops to discuss the 

issue of Rotherham Residential Accommodation with 

particular emphasis on the proposed closure of Cherry Tree 

House and Silverwood House.  12 Looked After and 

Leaving Care young people engaged in the consultation 

and generated discussions firstly around Residential Care in 

general then secondly moved on specifically to voice their 

opinions around Cherry Tree and Silverwood House. Information from these consultation 

workshops were recorded and recommendations from the young people’s conclusions drawn up in 

the LAC Council Residential Care Feedback Report. (Report available) 

NHS Healthcare Consultation – Catherine Hall and Karen Holgate from the CCG to 

discuss healthcare in Rotherham.  Our young people engaged in this discussion giving positive 

feedback as well as constructive feedback on a number of related themes including the current 

School Nurse system, Health Passports, Telephone Contacting, Initial Health Assessments and the 
Mental Health and Wellbeing of LAC. 
 

Rotherham Looked After Children’s Council (LACC) –  

 Corporate Parenting Panel - Update Report   

July to End October 2016  

 

 

 

CONSULTATIONS – Looked After & Leaving Care VOICE 

Page 112 Agenda Item 10



2 
 

As a result of this consultation a meeting with senior managers from the Rotherham NHS 

Foundation Trust (TRFT) has been arranged to consider raising the profile of School Nurses by 
putting poster/displays of school nurse contact details – Picture and availability in line with LAC 

Council suggestions.  Also, Coram BAAF have altered the Health assessments forms to reflect the 

LAC Councils suggestions to include emotional wellbeing as well as physical health. The group 

wanted assurances that health professionals were well trained and understood the impact of being 
in care on young people and wanted School nurses to be trained in Mental Health as many are 

not.  Karen and Catherine felt this was a really positive meeting.  Saying ‘ 

 

 

 

 

Get In Gear: Accessibility of Public Transport For Young People 

Consultation – The LAC Council supported the Rotherham Youth Cabinet with their South 

Yorkshire Transport Consultation.  LACC young people gave their opinions and Voices to the 

questions posed about public transport and LACC members shared their experiences and 
perceptions of buses, bus drivers, harsh rules and expensive prices and the LAC Council suggested 
there should be additional training for drivers around vulnerability of some young people and a 
feedback system to track efficiency and effectiveness of drivers behaviour towards passengers. 
Due to the high volume of information from the LAC Council a separate section has been 
developed for the Transport Report which was launched at Rotherham Town Hall 26th October. 
With the LAC Council asking to have included the statement below which relates to a time when a 
member had run away from his foster carer and wanted to travel on a bus back home but he 
didn’t have any money.  The bus driver refused to let him on the bus without his fare, this young 
person spent more time on the streets due to his lack of bus fare home. 

‘We are a child Centred Borough but drivers leave children on the street when they can’t afford 
the bus’ 

 

Childs Voice Digital Solutions Trial & Consultation – The LAC Council alongside 

Rotherham Youth Cabinet and a Young Inspector engaged in trialling an app called my Three 

Houses designed for 6 to 8 year olds to capture their voices using digital solutions.  The LAC 
Council members role was to physically trial the app and provide feedback to the Commissions 
performance and Quality team who would take this information further.  The LACC young people 

found the ‘app’ confusing and frustrating, and provided sheets of negative feedback generally 

saying the app didn’t make sense and was far too difficult to fathom out how to work it.    

 

LAC Council Voice in Improving Rotherham for young people 

The LACC welcomed a visit from Sharon Kemp 
(Chief Exec) and Ian Thomas (Strategic 
Director) early in September.  Sharon and Ian 

consulted with the group as to how they 

thought young people would like to use their 
town centre. Asking, where would young 
people like to go? and what would they like to 

do?  In addition, it was a great opportunity for 

the young people to meet their Corporate 
Parents again, engage in conversations and ask them questions about things that really matter to 

 It was a privilege to meet such knowledgeable young people and I hope we can translate 
their thoughts into actions in the near future’ 

 

Page 113



3 
 

young people. It was a fun visit with young people chatting excitedly about the forthcoming 

Destination Poland Fundraising Events.  

 

OFSTED – Video Conferencing Interview 

In October, OFSTED came to the LAC Council by way of a Video Conferencing Interview between 
the OFSTED inspector Graham and 4 of the youngest group members.  The young people did a 

fantastic job in the face of this very challenging medium whereby young people had to speak with 

the OFSTED inspector through the computer screen. The use of language, complex questions, and 

length of interview in asking 31 questions was a little overwhelming for such a mixed ability 
group, however, they tried their very best to answer the questions. Michelle Hill had organised the 

link up to OFSTED and come along with her laptop.  Having observed the interview and the young 

people’s responses to the process Michelle provided feedback to OFSTED about the meeting, and 
made suggestions to improve the practice in future. 

 

Fostering Review  

Also, in October the LACC actively engaged in the in-house Fostering Review Consultation with 

Adrian Hobson.  As Looked After young people are one of the key stakeholders in the Service 

Adrian wanted to ask the LAC Council their views on how good/bad the service is and what if 

anything could be done to improve this.  The group enjoyed the discussion around questions 
Adrian posed and shared their views.  Following completion of the review, Adrian intends to 

feedback to the group what has happened as a result of their Voice & Influence. 

 

 

 

 

New York Stadium Tour - The LAC Council were 

treated to a New York Stadium Tour by Jamie Noble. Young 
people had great fun walking through the private rooms of 

Rotherham United Football Club, seeing where the players 
shower, train, have physiotherapy and hold press 
conferences. Jamie shared stories of football strategies and 

play with the group. This visit is part of our ongoing project to 

positively engage vulnerable young people with Rotherham 
and support increasing connectedness with their town and 

communities to support resilience and improve outcomes.  

 

EID Celebration – EID Mubarak  in July the LAC Council held an EID party at Riverside 

for us all to celebrate this special day in the Muslim 

calendar together with our Muslim young people in 

care Manny and Kira.   EID is a very important time 

for our Muslim LACC members who equate the 
importance of EID to the importance of Christmas day 

to Christians.    It was a truly special day in many 

ways as people pulled together and supported us in 
our hurried preparations, some staff on floor one of 

Riverside House generously worked with myself and 
Kelly helping printing and laminating of EID Mubarak 

Posters so we could display them around the break 

COMMUNITY & CULTURAL EVENTS 

Page 114



4 
 

out area,  a Foster Carer Andrea Shepherd selflessly had stayed up cooking through the night to 

prepare a feast for the party including Halal curries, spiced rice, naan breads, samosas, drinks, 
special dates and fruits to eat it was fantastic effort all around.  Muslim workers from Early Help 

advised and supported our understanding of what we needed to do to make this a special EID 

party for our young people.  The spirit of EID was everywhere as workers in Riverside who had 

heard what we were trying to do for our Muslim Looked After Children came along and asked if 
they could help.   

 

Rotherham Show Sept 10th & 11th 

For the fifth year running the LAC Council have volunteered 

to engage in the Rotherham Show delivering Voice & 

Influence activities. This year we continued our theme 
around being ‘Rotherham Proud’ a project by young people 

to promote their town. The LACC were invited by our Mayor 

Lyndsay Pitchley and Assistant Chief Exec Shokat Lal to join 
them on the walk around the show and for lunch 

afterwards. The group had a fun day and took the 

opportunity to promote their Destination Poland Project 

walking around in their Destination Poland T Shirts, and giant flag collecting money in their 
buckets, LAC Council members were even interviewed live on Radio Sheffield to promote 

Rotherham Show and the LAC Council.   Despite the incessant rain our young people’s spirits 
couldn’t be dampened and everyone had a fun time collecting over £100 for Destination Poland!    

 

Pride of Rotherham Awards – All 12 of 

Rotherham LAC Council members were nominated and 

awarded a trophy and certificate in the Pride of Rotherham 
Awards a special event held at New York Stadium for 
Rotherham Looked After and Leaving Care Young People.  

LAC Council members received awards for Education, 
Sports & Leisure, The Arts and Positive Contribution.  All 
our Voice & Influence volunteers were also nominated 

under ‘Positive Contribution’, highlighting the high volume 
of LAC VOICE consultations and co-production work they 
have engaged in over the past 12 months.  It was an inspirational celebration event for looked 

after and leaving care young people who felt very proud to receive their golden star trophies and 

certificates. 

 

Fixers – Rotherham Proud DVD Development 

As part of the LAC Councils ongoing commitment to promoting Rotherham in a positive way and 
challenging negative stereotypes of their town, they have been working collaboratively with other 

young people as part of the Youth Voice Group and the charity ‘Fixers’ to develop their ideas to 
create a Rotherham Proud DVD.  The group have held a number of meetings and are due to have 

scripts ready and start their filming on Saturday 26th November at various places across the 
borough. 

 

 

 

 

TRAINING DAYS & EDUCATIONAL RESIDENTIAL 

Page 115



 

 

Youth Voice - Residential Filey

The LAC Council alongside UK Youth Parliament 
and Youth Cabinet visited Habershon House in 

Filey for their Youth Voice Residential for 3 days 

in the summer break. Young people had great 
fun, engaged in team building activities, beach 

sports, murder mystery activity and developed 

their ideas for the Voice & Influence
Rotherham Show contribution, 
Proud’ Project & Destination Poland Fundraisers.

 

 

 

 

Don’t Hate Educate Training 

In our August Youth Voice Training day
Council, Youth Cabinet and UK Youth Parliament all come together to 

share and work collaboratively on c
Rotherham Proud, Rotherham Show 
training around our ‘Don’t Hate Educate’ 

Ashley from the UK Youth Parliament
held 

‘Black History Month’ delivered by Tom Jackson from the UK Youth Parliament

tackle racism and religious discrimination, particularly against people who are Muslim and Jewish.

These sessions aim to help young people speak out
LACC young people will be engaging in creating posters to support their learning and share the 

message with their peers. 

 

 
 

 

 

The LAC Council young people have been heavily involved

Destination Poland Project.  Destination Poland is a Voice & Influence 
educational journey of fundraising and residential trip

young people to Poland in April 2017

goal to reunite a LACC member with his Polish heritage

Rotherham Show and Foster Carers raffling off prizes to raise funds,
heavily supported by our Chief Exec Sharon Kemp, our Strategic Director Ian Thomas, and Cllr 

Steele in 2 large events in September.  

 

Rotherham Together Partners

Marathon – The LACC took part in the 
Rotherham Together Partnership Marathon on 

DESTINATION POLAND

Residential Filey 

The LAC Council alongside UK Youth Parliament 
and Youth Cabinet visited Habershon House in 

Filey for their Youth Voice Residential for 3 days 

in the summer break. Young people had great 
engaged in team building activities, beach 

der mystery activity and developed 

nfluence Youth Voice 
Rotherham Show contribution, ‘Rotherham 

Project & Destination Poland Fundraisers. 

Don’t Hate Educate Training  

In our August Youth Voice Training day young people from LAC 
Council, Youth Cabinet and UK Youth Parliament all come together to 

re and work collaboratively on common projects such as 
Rotherham Proud, Rotherham Show etc. The group were treated to 
training around our ‘Don’t Hate Educate’ programme 

Ashley from the UK Youth Parliament.  The LACC later in October
 a specific session around ‘Don’t Hate Educate’ as part of our 

d by Tom Jackson from the UK Youth Parliament

tackle racism and religious discrimination, particularly against people who are Muslim and Jewish.

help young people speak out about racism and religious discriminat
LACC young people will be engaging in creating posters to support their learning and share the 

The LAC Council young people have been heavily involved in fundraising 

Destination Poland Project.  Destination Poland is a Voice & Influence 
educational journey of fundraising and residential trip to take 14 Looked After & Leaving Care 

in April 2017.  This journey is part of their ongoing anti

goal to reunite a LACC member with his Polish heritage.  Alongside, the LAC Council

and Foster Carers raffling off prizes to raise funds, young people have been 
avily supported by our Chief Exec Sharon Kemp, our Strategic Director Ian Thomas, and Cllr 

Steele in 2 large events in September.   

Partnership 

The LACC took part in the 

Rotherham Together Partnership Marathon on 

POLAND FUNDRAISING - ONGOING PROJECT

5 

young people from LAC 
Council, Youth Cabinet and UK Youth Parliament all come together to 

ommon projects such as 
The group were treated to 
programme delivered by 

.  The LACC later in October 
a specific session around ‘Don’t Hate Educate’ as part of our 

d by Tom Jackson from the UK Youth Parliament. This training is to 

tackle racism and religious discrimination, particularly against people who are Muslim and Jewish.   

about racism and religious discrimination. The 
LACC young people will be engaging in creating posters to support their learning and share the 

fundraising £9,000 for their 

Destination Poland Project.  Destination Poland is a Voice & Influence project; it includes the 
take 14 Looked After & Leaving Care 

part of their ongoing anti-fascism work and 

the LAC Council fundraising at 

young people have been 
avily supported by our Chief Exec Sharon Kemp, our Strategic Director Ian Thomas, and Cllr 

 

 PROJECT 

Page 116



6 
 

the 15 September. Armed with their Destination Poland t-shirts, buckets and running shoes, they 

joined over 30 senior professionals from Rotherham Council, South Yorkshire Police, Rotherham 
Fire and Rescue, Safe at Last, Rotherham Voluntary Action Service, NHS Rotherham CCG, RDASH, 

and REMA to run around the track and field at Herringthorpe Stadium to complete the 26 miles 

collectively.  

 
 

Ten Mile Walk - Two days later armed 

again with our t-shirts, buckets and Polish 

Flag the LACC joined Director of Children’s 
Services at Rotherham Council and Cllr Steele 

at Thrybergh Country Park to complete a 10 

mile circuit on a sunny Saturday.  
 

Overall, the events have raised awareness 

throughout the borough and raised an online 
total of £1,777 with the addition of £260 

offline donations. Fundraising continues, you 

can follow progress here: 
 
                             https://www.justgiving.com/crowdfunding/destination-poland 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Goodbye & Thank You to LACC member Abbie – 
Abbie Reid joined the LAC Council when she was only 13 years 
old and has been an active participant for 5 years representing 
the LACC on Corporate Parenting Panel, and engaged in high 

volume of Voice and Influence consultation work to give her 

voice to help shape Children’s Services in Rotherham.  Abbie 
selflessly engaged in numerous community events throughout 
the years getting up early on weekends to ensure Children in 

Care are represented and have a presence and a voice in 

Supporting Rotherham Show, Anti-Fascism agenda events 
including Holocaust Memorial Days, Armed Forces Day, 

Remembrance Sunday Services and Parades.  Abbie was a 

popular member, flamboyant and colourful who brightened up 
any room and young people want to recognise Abbie’s vast contribution to the LAC Council and 

thank her for all her Voice & Influence contributions, and most of all for being a true friend!  We 

are really proud to see Abbie going on to study Creative Writing at the University of Bedfordshire. 
Thank you Abbie ☺ <3  

 

Marathon and 10 mile walk was 
great events for LACC and I had 
lots of fun there, really enjoyed 
them.   Thanks to all people for 

fundraising with us ☺ 

Oh, they were great!  I really 
enjoyed the 10 mile walk in the 

countryside!! 

Page 117



 

LAC Council Guests - The
visited the LAC Council or invited us to visit them 

Sharon Kemp 

Ian Thomas 

Cllr Brian Steele 

Toni Paxford, Tom Jackson 

Jamie Noble –

Catherine Hall 

Karen Holgate 

Bev Pepperdine 

Ashlea Harvey 

Ashley Gregory

Adrian Hobson 

Michelle Hill 

Graham Reiter 
 

 
 

Contact Name:  Lisa Du

    Looked After Children’s Council
    Voice & Influence Team
    Early Help & Family Engagement
    Tel: 01709 822130 or Mob: 07748143388
    Email: 
 

 

 

      

The young people would like to thank all of our guests who have 

or invited us to visit them over the past few months
 

Sharon Kemp – Chief Executive RMBC 

Ian Thomas – Strategic Director CYPS 

Cllr Brian Steele – Hoober Ward 

Toni Paxford, Tom Jackson – Rotherham Youth Cabinet

– Head of Community Rotherham United

Hall - Head of Safeguarding Rotherham CCG

Karen Holgate – Rotherham CCG 

Pepperdine - Commissioning, Performance & Quality

Ashlea Harvey – Young Inspectors Co-ordinator

Ashley Gregory & Tom Jackson – UK Youth Parliament

Adrian Hobson – Commissioning Performance & Quality

Michelle Hill – Commissioning Performance & Quality

Graham Reiter – OFSTED Inspector 

Thank You All ☺ 

Lisa Du-Valle 

Looked After Children’s Council 
Voice & Influence Team 
Early Help & Family Engagement 
Tel: 01709 822130 or Mob: 07748143388 
Email: lisa.duvalle@rotherham.gov.uk 

        

7 

young people would like to thank all of our guests who have 

s. These are:- 

Rotherham Youth Cabinet 

Head of Community Rotherham United 

Head of Safeguarding Rotherham CCG 

Commissioning, Performance & Quality 

ordinator 

UK Youth Parliament 

Commissioning Performance & Quality 

Commissioning Performance & Quality 

 

Page 118



 

Page 1 of 7 

 

                        
 

ROTHERHAM LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 

1. Meeting: 
 

Rotherham Local Safeguarding Children Board (RLSCB) 

2. Date:   1 December 2016 

3. Title: 
 

‘The Care We Receive As Children Colours Our Whole Life’ (Care 
Quality Commission 2016) 

4 Agency  NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group (NHSR CCG) 
 

5. Author Catherine Hall Designated Nurse Looked After and Safeguarding 
Children 

 

5. Purpose: 

Every child or young person brought into the care of the Local Authority (LA) is entitled to a 
comprehensive health assessment within 20 working days of admission.  In addition if the child 
remains in the care system then children under 5 years are entitled to a review health assessment 
every 6 months; children/young people over 5 years are entitled to an annual health review (DfE/DH 
March 2015).  
 
This paper describes the arrangements made by the LA and the support that the ‘health economy’ in 
Rotherham provides to ensure that Looked After Children (LAC) receive their healthcare entitlement. 

 

6.  Recommendations, Rotherham LSCB are asked to: 

•  Acknowledge receipt of the report. 

•  Ensure that the Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNA) identifies gaps in provision to 
  meet the physical and mental health needs of LAC and informs strategic commissioning  
  priorities to meet those identified health needs. 

•  Support the updating and commissioning of Right Care, First time for Young People   
  leaflets for LAC 

•  Agree the governance arrangements of a bespoke work stream to consider the health and 
  wellbeing needs of LAC and CL. 

•  Remain cognisant of the developing 0 – 19 healthcare agenda.  

•  Note the significant challenge of ensuring that children, who for a variety of reasons, have 
  not received their IHA in a timely manner and support the improvement plan being   
  suggested. 

•  Acknowledge the potential future impact of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children. 

 

7.  Background: 

LAC often enter the care system with a worse level of health than their peers. LAC are reported to 
be more likely to have mental health issues, emotional disorders, hyperactivity conditions and 
autistic spectrum disorders. Research tells us that nationally 45% of LAC have a mental health 
disorder, this statics increases to 72% for those in residential care – compared to 10% of the 
general population aged 5-15.  

In addition adolescents leaving the care system are reported to have an even higher propensity 
for risk taking behaviours; they are reported to be at an increased risk of substance misuse, 
mental health problems, homelessness and offending behaviours.  Echoing the point that the care 
we receive as children colours our whole life. 

Nationally it is acknowledged that across the United Kingdom the health outcomes we strive for 

Page 119 Agenda Item 11



 

Page 2 of 7 

 

across the Every Child Matters spectrum fall woefully short when it comes to children in care.  In 
Rotherham all residents have access to, and benefit from, preventative as well as reactive health 
services delivered by Dentists, GPs, midwives, health visitors, school nurses and services within 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health.  However, the health economy is mindful that some children 
and families need access to additional and bespoke healthcare.  This includes the cohort of 
children, who for a variety of reasons find themselves within the care system. Therefore NHSR 
CCG and The Rotherham NHS Foundation trust (TRFT) have developed a robust service 
specification that is transparent in its drive to reduce some of the health inequalities endured by 
children in the care system.   

 

NHSR CCG, as one of the commissioners of health services for LAC, adheres to the guidance 
from the Department for Education and the Department of Health. This guidance clearly identifies 
expectations of LAs, CCGs and NHS England (March 2015).  With this expectation NHSR CCG 
delivers clear direction to health care providers on the expectations of them with regard to LAC 
and Care Leaver (CL) services in a robust LAC and CL Service Specification.  The roles and 
responsibilities of health partners are clearly identified, monitored and published. 

 

Clinically statutory healthcare delivery to children in the care system is provided by the Rotherham 
NHS Foundation Trust (TRFT).  The aim of TRFT LAC and CLs service is to enable children in 
care to receive their health care within a holistic package, tailored to their individual and diverse 
needs.  This includes consideration of physical, emotional and mental health and wellbeing and 
health promotion.  The LAC health team do this by working closely with the health visiting and 
school nursing service. 

 

Key Performance Indicators are monitored and exceptions are identified via governance 
arrangements.  NHSR CCG Children’s Commissioner, Designated Nurse LAC and TRFT LAC 
Team and managers meet regularly to progress our LAC health offer.  This will need to be further 
developed as the complexities of commissioning and providing healthcare continues to advance 
nationally. 

 

TRFT LAC and CL Health Team are accountable for: 

• Co-ordinating and monitoring the partnership response to the statutory guidance, 
delivering the following elements: 

•  Reporting on timely access for LAC to universal health services as well as targeted and  
  specialist services where available.   

•  Monitoring that the health needs of Rotherham children placed out-of-authority are  
  being met to a sufficient standard.   

 Monitoring the health assessments of clinicians working with LAC to ensure that identified 
 health needs are met. 

•  Working with the LA to ensure that health assessments effectively use Strengths and  
  Difficulties Scores (in line with statutory guidance DH 2015). 

•  Ensuring that health assessments for LAC meet relevant national and local quality  
  standards (CQC CLAS Inspection Feb 2015). 

•  Ensuring that the health plan (which forms part of the overall care plan) of every child  
  looked after by the LA is effective. 

 

Children Act 1989 requires health services to take responsibility as a ‘relevant partner’, and 
therefore co-operate with the LA in making arrangements to improve children’s well-being in their 
area. ‘Relevant partners’ are required to make arrangements to continually improve children’s 
well-being in their area.  In addition the statutory guidance on Joint Strategic Needs Assessments 
(JSNA) clearly recognises the need for this cohort of vulnerable children to be given additional 

Page 120



 

Page 3 of 7 

 

consideration.  Information gathered as part of the JSNA process should be used to identify gaps 
in provision to meet the physical and mental health needs of LAC and should in turn inform the 
strategic commissioning priorities by identifying gaps in provision to meet those identified needs.   

 

CCGs are accountable for:  

CCGs, nationally, are tasked by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) with holding the health 
economy in an area to account for improving the health outcomes of children in care and for 
safeguarding children’s welfare. February 2015 NHSR CCG had their Children Looked After and 
Safeguarding (CLAS) review.  The CQC CLAS review lines of enquiry centred on:  

1. The experiences and views of children and their families.  

2. The quality and effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements within health economies:  

•   Assessing need and providing early help,  

•   Identifying and supporting children in need,  

•   The quality and impact of child protection arrangements.  

3. The quality of health services and outcomes for children who are looked after and care leavers.  

4. Health leadership and assurance of local safeguarding and looked after children arrangements  

•   Leadership and management,  

•   Governance and  

•   Training and supervision. 

Following the Rotherham CLAS review a ‘health economy’ SMART action plan was published 
from the 24 Recommendations.  These recommendations have received multi-agency 
consideration and review and been shared widely with partner organisations in Rotherham. 

From the CQC recommendations ‘Health Passports’ were commissioned and are in the process of 
being rolled out to all LAC.  Roll out has been slow due in part to ensuring that the information in 
the Health Passport is fit for purpose.  14 September 2016 the Designated and Named Nurse LAC 
attended the LAC Council to ask whether we as a ‘health economy’ are meeting their expectation 
and if not what do we need to do differently; part of that conversation was with regard to the value 
young people saw in having a Health Passport.  In addition the LAC Council have supported 
‘health’ with publishing a Right Care, First time for Young People.  This document highlights who 
and how to contact the most appropriate health professional; this can be a particular challenge for 
CLs.  This was so well received that all young people in the borough have had access to a copy.  

 

NHS England is accountable for:  

Whilst CCGs were set up by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to organise the delivery of NHS 
services in England, NHS England was set up to oversee that work. 
 
In 2015 NHS England Yorkshire and Humber team wrote to the CCG’s in their area to seek and 
formalise the process required for assurance that services for LAC and CL were in place.  A self-
assessment template was provided. In addition the Designated Professionals for LAC were invited 
to attend a peer challenge session with other CCGs.  Following that session individual revised 
self-assessment with a Rag Rate was published.  Finally a call to action conference was held in 
May 2016 with the next steps for children in care being published.  As part of NHSR CCG 
commitment to transparency their self-assessment and RAG rating has been shared widely with 
LSCB and Corporate Parenting (September 2016) as it is felt important that we work together to 

improve service delivery. 
 
Care Quality Commission (the inspectorate for the health economy): 

July 2016 saw the CQC publish a report Not Seen Not Heard into the first 2 years of CLAS 
Reviews, this report included Rotherham.  In the 50 CLAS reviews the CQC focused upon LAC 
and CL. They considered whether healthcare organisations work in accordance with their 

Page 121



 

Page 4 of 7 

 

responsibilities under Section 11 of the Children Act 2004; this includes the need for CCGs to 
deliver a strong leadership and governance role. In addition there is an expectation that providers 
and commissioners of healthcare will work to improve the arrangements between NHS trusts, 
GPs, and child and adult services.  

The CQC distilled their national recommendations and conclusions into seven headlines, namely:  

1. Child’s voice the silence is deafening.  

2. The ‘so what’ factor: Improving outcomes for children.  

3. Quality of information sharing in multi-agency working.  

4. 5 ‘P’s that support multi-agency working.  

5. Finding the hidden child.  

6. Transitions and access.  

7. Leadership. 

CQC concluded there was an ‘unwarranted variation across England in the quality of the 
arrangements in health services for child safeguarding and for looked after children. This is 
unacceptable as these are some of society’s most vulnerable children’.  NHSR CCG as a 
commissioner of acute and mental health care in the borough undertook a ‘true for us’ review of 
their findings.  The commissioner and provider responses have been shared with partners.  See 
Appendix 1 as a brief overview of the health economies findings. 

Rotherham ‘health economy’: 

Rotherham ‘health economy’ is mindful that together we need to raise our ambitions for our LAC 
and CL health and wellbeing.  In May 2016 a group of healthcare commissioners and providers 
was set up.  The objective of this work stream is to change the culture across ‘the health 
economy’ and partner organisations, ensuring that we all aspire for better health and wellbeing 
outcomes for our children and young people in care.  This work stream will ensure that the health 
and wellbeing needs of children in care are viewed by all partners as a continuous process, with 
an emphasis on ensuring that actions in the child’s health plan are taken forward.  The group will 
ensure that children and young people in care are healthier by: 

•   Fulfilling the statutory requirements for health assessments for children in care. 

•   Identifying individual unmet health needs and developing a plan of intervention/      
             referral to address these needs. 

•   Promoting the health and wellbeing of children in care. 

Unfortunately the group has stalled due to recent changes but will restart in November 2016 with a 
renewed commitment and drive.  We will also strengthen the governance arrangements.  These 
arrangements include feeding directly into Corporate Parenting and with agreement into the LSCB 
Performance and Quality Sub Group. 

 

8.  Key Issues: 

 

The corporate parenting responsibilities of LAs include having a duty under section 22(3)(a) of the 
Children Act 1989 to safeguard and promote the welfare of the children they look after, including eligible 
children and those placed for adoption, regardless of whether they are placed in or out of authority or the 
type of placement. This includes the promotion of the child’s physical, emotional and mental health and 
acting on any early signs of health issues.  The Rotherham ‘health economy’ commissioners and 
providers are therefore proactively supporting a work stream to consider the holistic health needs of 
children in care.  As part of that commitment the LA and LSCB have agreed to attend the group set up by 
the ‘health economy’ to look specifically at the health and wellbeing needs of LAC.  This offer includes 
the attendance of RMBC Public Health Consultant to focus on outcomes and the Acting Head of LAC 
has agreed to chair this meeting.  Note:  this is a positive step forward as health needs do not exist 
in a vacuum they impact on all aspects of a child’s welfare. 

 
CCGs and NHS England have a duty to cooperate with requests from LAs to undertake health 

Page 122



 

Page 5 of 7 

 

assessments and help them ensure support and healthcare services to LAC without undue delay.  
Review Health Assessments (RHA) in Rotherham is co-ordinated, managed and undertaken by TRFT 
health visiting and/or school nursing service depending upon the child’s age.  As at the end of September 
2016 RHAs were: 

• 0-5 years Rotherham    – 100% compliance 

• 0-5 years Out of Area Placement   – 88.8% compliance 

• 5-18 years Rotherham   – 99.5% compliance 

• 5-18 years Out Of Area Placement  – 95.1% compliance 

• Overall RHA’s    – 97.5% compliance 
 
Commissioning of health visiting and school nursing is under a major review and is transforming into a 0 
– 19 service. Note: Corporate Parenting and the LSCB need to remain cognisant of any changes 
and developments that have the potential to impact positively/negatively on the health outcomes 
for LAC. 
 
LAC should never be refused a service, including for mental health, on the grounds of their placement 
being short-term or unplanned. There is no evidence that this happens in Rotherham as the LA have a 
therapeutic team (previously known as Looked After and Adopted Children’s Therapeutic Team) who 
work closely with the Child, Adolescent and Mental Health Service (CAMHS).  The nationally agreed 
screening tool for LAC is the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ).  SDQ scores are utilised to 
assess the emotional wellbeing of LAC and by aggregating scores they help quantify the emotional 
needs of the LAC cohort enabling commissioners of services to assign funding effectively.  Unfortunately 
SDQ scores are not routinely utilised across all agencies in Rotherham and therefore we require some 
additional partnership work.  Within the LAC and CL Service Specification 2015/2016 there is an 
expectation that healthcare providers will work with the LA to ensure that health assessments effectively 

use SDQ scores, in line with statutory guidance (DfE/DH 2015).  Note: SDQ Questionnaires are 
to be considered fully in the aforementioned health and wellbeing work stream.  This 
work will be led by RMBC Therapeutic Team who are already utilising the scores 
efficiently with children and young people. 
 

The LA must arrange for children in care to have a health assessment as required by The Care 
Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010. This means that children 
coming into care must have an Initial Health Assessment (IHAs) within 20 working days.  This 
has and remains a real challenge for all agencies involved to achieve.  In Rotherham IHAs have 
been under significant scrutiny by Corporate Parenting and by the LSCB.  An independent 
report has been authored and shared, and work around improving the partnership work involved 
in ensuring that IHAs are achieved in the 20 working days remains a high priority. 

 

Nationally there has been a steady increase in how many children are coming into care.  Locally 
this increase is dramatic.  See table below for numbers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Uptake in a timely manner of IHAs in Rotherham has been consistently poor.  The LSCB have analysed 
the reason why there is such a poor uptake.  Whilst there are a number of reasons for this the current 
most significant issue is number of appointments being cancelled or non-attendance.  This equated to a 

 Trajectories 2015/2016 
2014/ 
2015 

2013/ 2014 

Children/young people 
became looked after 

↑ 213 168 116 

Initial Health 
Assessment’s completed 
within 20 working days 

↑ 36% 34% 12% 

Appointment times 
available at TRFT 

↑ 
283 

240 242 

Page 123



 

Page 6 of 7 

 

loss of clinic capacity of: 

•   36% in September 2016 and 

•   34% in October 2016 
This is wholly unacceptable and a number of measures have been taken by RMBC to rectify.  Note: the 
LA have agreed that the LAC Health Team will have access to Liquid logic and that LACs health 
needs will receive the priority status they require.  
 
TRFT have agreed to provide a real time exception reporting system to ensure that the current practice 
of cancelled/non-attended appointments is reported into RMBC senior management.  The senior 
management in TRFT, CCG and RMBC are working closely to reduce this issue with the Independent 
Reviewing Officer (IRO) providing professional challenge in the system. 
   
Due to cancellations being either on the day or with less than 24 hours’ notice the IHA clinics have not 
been able to book in another child. The rebooking of cancelled/non-attended appointments not only 
means that this child’s IHA is out of timeframe it blocks a place in future clinics causing a bottleneck.  A 
number of tactics have been used to improve this situation but the bottleneck requires some pump prime 
funding to reduce; otherwise the backlog will continue into 2017.  TRFT during 2016 are to be 
commended for increasing IHA clinic capacity from 54 to 75 sessions; in normal circumstances this 
would more than adequately cover the numbers of children coming into care sadly due to the increased 
pressure from non-attendance TRFT and NHSR CCG have needed to refocus some additional funding to 
provide an additional 10 clinics. Note: the challenge of the backlog of children, who for a variety of 
reasons, have not received their IHA in a timely manner and the fully support the improvement 

plan being instigated. 
 
Unaccompanied asylum seeking children from Calais are now arriving in the UK under an 
on-going Home Office programme. These children are to be cared for as Looked After Children. 
Clinicians are available (in Kent) to see the children on arrival to address any immediate needs. 
The children are then being placed into the care of their extended families or local authorities 
across the UK. Each CCG has access to the local Designated Nurse and Doctor for Looked 
after Children. Who can, if required, offer expert advice on the health needs of these children 
and their entitlement to NHS services. Information is currently limited and each area will be 
allocated based on a formula provided from the Home Office. Further information is available: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-entitlementsmigrant-health-guide 
 
 
In conclusion most children become looked after as a result of abuse and neglect. Although they 
have many of the same health issues as their peers, the extent of these is often greater because 
of their past experiences. Delays in identifying and meeting their physical, emotional wellbeing 
and mental health needs can impact further on all aspects of their lives, including their chances 
of reaching their potential and leading happy and healthy lives as adults. As stated the care we 
receive as children colours our whole life, we need to make sure that our children receive the 
best health care we can all offer and provide. 
 
 

9. Resources:  

 
There are significant on-going challenges in the system, in particular with the partnership work 
required to ensure that Initial health Assessments are undertaken within the timescale of 20 
working days.  NHSR CCG and TRFT have funded 10 additional clinics.  RMBC need to ensure 
that the children are brought to their appointments ready to commence their health journey. The 
resource required is in senior manager oversight. 
 
 

10. Sources of reference   

• Department for Education/Department of Health (March 2015) Promoting the Health and Well-being of 
Looked After Children. Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities, Clinical Commissioning Groups and 

Page 124



 

Page 7 of 7 

 

NHS England. 

• The SDQ is an internationally validated brief behavioural screening questionnaire about 4-16 year olds. 
It exists in three parts: one for the carer, another for the child’s teacher and a third part for the child. 
While the Department for Education requires local authorities to provide SDQ data to be completed for 
looked-after children by their foster carer or residential care worker, local authorities should not see this 
as purely a data collection exercise by central government with which they must comply. 

• The Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 2: Care Planning, Placement and Case 
Review 

• Statutory Guidance on Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies 

•  Who Pays? Determining responsibility for payments to providers 

• CQC Not Seen Not Heard (2016) 

 

11.  Contact Name: 
Catherine Hall, Designated Nurse Safeguarding and Looked After Children 
 

 
 
 

Page 125



 

 

Virtual School Governing Body  

Virtual Headteacher update – October 2016 

The purpose of this report is to provide regular updates to the Virtual School Governing Body 

and the Corporate Parenting Panel.  It will enable the Governing Body to scrutinise, 

challenge and support the work of the Virtual School.  It will also ensure that elected 

members are kept fully informed of the progress of the work of the Virtual School throughout 

the year.  Elected members will have the opportunity to ask questions relating to the update 

at Corporate Parenting Panel meetings. 

Updates: 

a. Attendance & Exclusions 

Looked After Children (LAC) should be given every opportunity to achieve their full 

educational potential through promoting opportunities for learning within and outside of 

school.  As a minimum legal requirement, Looked After Children should be attending 

suitable education on a full time basis from the term following their 5th birthday until the 

last Friday in June in the school year in which they are 16. The place where children 

receive their education will be based on the age, aptitude and ability and any special 

needs they may have. For most children, this will be a mainstream school. 

Parents and others with parental responsibility are legally responsible for the children in 

their care receiving education. They are responsible for ensuring their children attend 

school (with the appropriate lunch, uniform and equipment) and for supporting their 

learning. This includes making arrangements for the child to get to and be collected from 

school. They are expected to contact school if there are attendance problems and to 

work with the school and other professionals concerned to resolve them. They are 

expected to arrange any medical and other appointments outside school hours wherever 

possible and to avoid taking family holidays during term time. 

Foster carers are expected to do all things a good parent would do to promote their 

child’s education and attendance at school.  

 

2015/16 LAC Attendance  

The data in Tables 1 and 2 below is for the 2015/16 academic year, and is taken from the 

local authority’s data systems for in authority children, and from the Virtual School’s records 

for children in schools out of authority. 

 

 

  

Page 126 Agenda Item 12



 

 

 

Table 1: Attendance at In Authority Schools 

NCY No. in 
Year 
Group 

Present Total Average 
Attendance 
% 

 NCY Under 
90% 

90% 
or 
over 

% Under 
PA 
Threshold 

-1 9 1306 1495 87.4%  -1 4 5 44% 
0 14 4292 4565 94.0%  0 2 12 14% 
1 13 3914 4233 92.5%  1 3 10 23% 
2 17 5566 5791 96.1%  2 2 15 12% 
3 13 3981 4150 95.9%  3 2 11 15% 
4 20 6302 6444 97.8%  4   20 0% 
5 16 5618 5812 96.7%  5 1 15 6% 
6 14 4433 4572 97.0%  6 1 13 7% 
7 13 4174 4337 96.2%  7 2 11 15% 
8 18 5448 6076 89.7%  8 6 12 33% 
9 26 6124 7312 83.8%  9 13 13 50% 
10 24 5852 7551 77.5%  10 11 13 46% 
11 27 5373 7245 74.2%  11 16 11 59% 

Total 224 63820 71168 89.7%  Total 63 161 28% 

 

Persistent absence threshold changed from 85% to 90% in the 2015/16 academic year. 

The attendance data for Rotherham schools is currently taken from the Capita ONE system.  There are a number of issues with this data: 
  

• The system does not necessarily hold all the data required.  

• Some schools do not update the system in a timely manner. 

• If pupils are LAC the system is not always up to date with Local Authority ‘Became Looked After’ and ‘Ceased to be Looked 
After’, so data does not always reflect the relevant care period. 

• There is no statutory duty on schools/academies to provide this information. 

• The system did not allow the local authority to know on a daily basis whether the child is in school or not. 
 
The Virtual School has commissioned Welfare Call to monitor attendance from the start of the 2016/17 academic year to address the issues 
outlined above. 
 

P
age 127



 

 

Table 2: Attendance at Out of Authority Schools 

NCY 
 

No. in 
Year 
Group 

Available 
sessions 

Authorised 
Absence 

Unauthorised 
Absence 

Total 
Absence 

Sessions 
present 

Average 
Attendance 
% 

0 2 282 6   6 276 97.9% 

1 4 994 85   85 909 91.4% 

2 4 1090 95   95 993 91.1% 

3 5 1346 17   17 1329 98.7% 

4 7 2247 5 1 6 2240 99.7% 

5 12 3426 32 2 34 3390 98.9% 

6 12 4032 115 3 118 3909 96.9% 

7 12 3937 76 2 78 3856 97.9% 

8 14 4063 275 6 281 3683 90.6% 

9 19 4496 382 11 393 3827 85.1% 

10 21 5577 308 14 322 4679 83.9% 

11 19 4248 237 9 246 3446 81.1% 

Total 131 35738 1633 48 1681 32537 91.0% 

 

Welfare School contact schools, education providers and tutors on a daily basis to ask whether each looked after child is accessing education 

that day. Attendance monitoring reports are provided to the Virtual School on a daily and weekly basis, and issues where children are not in 

attendance can be investigated in a timely manner. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 128



 

 

Table 3:  2014/15 and 2015/16 Exclusions: 

  
2014-15 2015-16* 

Rotherham all pupils: 
  

Total number ofschool-age  pupils (Spring census) 39142 39403 

Total number of fixed term exclusions   4192 4156* 

Total number of exclusion days lost to education  8568.5 7728.5* 

Total number of permanent exclusions  55 55 

Rotherham LAC: 
  

Total number of school-age LAC (in and out of authority - March census) 325 345 

Total number of fixed term exclusions   234 204* 

Total number of exclusion days lost to education  457 510.5* 

Total number of moves to avoid  permanent exclusions  8 9 (8 pupils) 

   

NB  LA data taken from Capita which presents a limited picture. 

 

*These exclusion figures will change because not all schools have submitted their exclusion data for 2015-16 yet

P
age 129



 

 

b. Personal Education Plans (PEPs): 

 

• % of LAC with up-to-date PEP: 

 

o Social care data 

 

� 95.6% of compulsory school age children had an up to date PEP at the 

end of July (based social care data recorded in CCM). This had fallen 

to 93% in August as no ePEPs were completed in the month due to 

schools being closed. 

  

o Virtual School data (summer term 2016) 

 

� 100% (25 of 25) of Early Years children aged 3-4 had ePEPs  

� 97% (155 of 160) compulsory school age pupils had ePEPs 

� 98% (40 of 41) post-16 young people had ePEPs. 

 

• ePEP quality assurance (ePEP QA): 

 

o Of the ePEPs signed off this term:  

� 71% are good or better 

� 3% are inadequate 

The issue with those that have areas for improvement is that the 

targets are not SMART 

 

• Current key ePEP issues: 

 

o To increase the number of foster carers accessing the ePEP system. 

o Capacity issue within the Virtual School team to address increased 

numbers. 

o Attendance and participation of some social workers in the ePEP process. 

o Impact of turnover of social workers on consistency of approach. 

o The percentage of non-completion of social worker section in ePEP. 

o Delay in schools completing and submitting specific, measurable, 

achievable and realistic ePEPs after the ePEP meeting. 

o Some schools not using SMART targets or seeking LAC pupil premium 

funding. 

o Quality of data within Capita in order to inform effective planning and 

evaluation. 

o Level of school aged LAC exclusions. 

 

c. Staffing update: 

 

• Vacancies: 

 

o The post of post-16 LAC advocate is currently vacant (since end August 

2016).  Approval has been given to recruit to this post.   

Page 130



 

 

o Approval has been received to seek a business support Apprentice for the 

Virtual School. 

 

 

• CPD: 

 

o Staff are still completing Liquidlogic training that will enable them to access 

the new system. 

 

o Pete Douglas (Assistant Virtual Head, Secondary) and Dan Chedgzoy 

(Data Manager & ePEP Coordinator) are now part of the ‘Rising Stars’ 

programme.  Tina Hohn is waiting to hear whether she has been 

successful in accessing management training through ADCS.   

 

d. Finance/budget update: 

Following the withdrawal of the DSG, LAC PP funding was used in the financial year 2015/16 

to fund part of the Virtual School costs (£100,000). This is a legitimate spend of LAC PP as 

the role of advocates to champion LAC education at every PEP meeting to help improve 

outcomes is not a core function. This financial year it is the LA’s intention to fund from the 

High Needs Block.   

e. Training others: 

It is the Virtual School Head’s role to ensure that there are appropriate arrangements in place 

to meet the training needs of those responsible for promoting the educational achievement of 

looked after children.  (Statutory guidance – ‘Promoting the education of looked after children’ 

– July 2014). 

The following is an outline of the training arrangements in place: 

• ‘Attachment Lead’ training: 

 

o Schools participating in the accredited Attachment Lead training are: 
 

� Virtual School  
� Brinsworth Academy 
� St Bernard’s Catholic High 
� Dinnington High 
� Canklow Woods Primary 
� Maltby Redwood Primary 
� Rawmarsh Ashwood Primary 
� Coleridge Primary  
� Newman School 
� Milton School 
� The Willows 
� Rotherham Aspire 

 

o Each school is required to send a member of their SLT and an additional 

member of staff (usually pastoral).  Pete Douglas and Tina Hohn from the 

Page 131



 

 

Virtual School are participating with the specialist LAC Educational 

Psychologist in attendance.   

o Each school will receive £2000 (LAC pupil premium) to support the work they 

will do across the whole school to develop their practice with respect to LAC.  

They are required to provide a case study to the Virtual School for sharing with 

others and are also required to present their case study/workshop to other 

schools at the Designated Teacher conference at the end of the Summer Term 

2017. 

o The development of a keyworker network is planned, this will be supported by 

the Virtual School including the LAC EP.   

 

• Social Care training: 

 

o Strategic discussions are currently taking place with social care to develop and 

embed induction and ongoing training on education issues & processes for all 

social workers including supervisory, duty, locality and EVOLVE. 

o A themed training offer for foster carers is in place and covers all age phases of 

education.  It is the intention that this training be made mandatory. 

o Pre-approval and induction training for all foster carers on education is currently 

being developed and will become a mandatory part of their training. 

 

f. Other updates: 

 

• A specialist LAC Educational Psychologist has been commissioned as part of a 2-year 

project from the LA’s EP service.  Two EP’s have been appointed as a job-share 

secondment from the existing EP service to fulfil this role.  The start date is anticipated to 

be early November.  This post is being funded from LAC pupil premium.   

 

The objective of the project is to develop the understanding of all professionals involved 

on issues around the emotional health and well-being of the child.  This role will have 

responsibility for all the Attachment & Trauma work, the MAST project (Multi Agency 

Support Team) and other training for education settings in this area with the aim of 

stabilising those placements.   

 

Initial assessments around the emotional health and well-being of the child (Boxall 

profiles) are being commissioned from the Inclusion Support Service for children new into 

care.  The specialist LAC EP will also be working with schools to develop and embed the 

use of Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaires which can be used to support the 

identification of SMART targets on social, emotional and mental health issues. This will 

form part of the school’s graduated response to the child’s needs.   

 

Lorraine Dale 

Virtual Headteacher – Rotherham Virtual School 

7th October 2016 

 

Page 132



 

 

Virtual School Rotherham – Governing Body Minutes 
1
st

 November 2016 – Riverside House 

 

Present:   

Cllr Gordon Watson (CllrW) Deputy Leader 

Mel Meggs (MM)  Deputy Strategic Director, CYPS  

Karen Borthwick (KB)  Assistant Director – Education & Skills  

Lorraine Dale (LD)  Virtual Head   

Andy Jessop (AJ)  Exec Primary Head – Rawmarsh Ashwood/ Thrybergh Primary  

Pepe Di’Iasio (PD)  Head  - Wales High School 

Rebecca Hughes  (RH)  Head - Milton School 

Rebecca Wall   Senior Safeguarding Officer 

Rachael McHaffie  Management Secretary (Minutes) 

 

 

M I N U T E S 

 

1. Apologies, welcome and introductions:  

Vicky Woodrow (VW) Head - Rowan Pupil Referral Unit 

CllrW welcomed everyone to the meeting and introductions were made. 

 

2.   Minutes from the Previous Meeting 

 The minutes of the previous meeting were reviewed and accepted as a true and accurate reflection 

of the discussions. 

 

3.   Virtual Head’s Update Report  (LD) 

LD reported on the October update with some additional input resulting from the availability of 

more recent information: 

 

Attendance and Exclusions   

Attendance: 

• The final attendance data for 15/16 was not available in advance of the VH Update 

Report. 

• There are issues in some age groups (ie. KS4)which are unacceptable but not unusual for 

LAC. 

• There is no confidence in the ability of the Capita data system to reflect up-to-date and 

accurate attendance information.  There is no statutory duty on schools to provide the 

data in real time but the implementation of the new Welfare Call system should resolve 

the recording issue and will also enable out of authority children to be tracked.   

• LD reported that the new system is working well and is highlighting some recording 

anomalies.  It is also useful for being able to identify children who have moved 

authorities. 

• The system also provides exclusion data which will be useful to initiate dialogues with 

parents, carers, social care and teaching staff. 

• LD liaises with other Virtual Heads in the region but other authorities are not keen to 

share their data externally for comparison/ranking purposes.  MM will raise data sharing 

at regional DCS meetings. 

• The newly introduced national data system (Nexus) is able to benchmark and generate 

comparative data which will enable stronger data sharing over the next 12 months. 

Page 133



 

Virtual School Rotherham - Governance Meeting 

13
th

 September 2016 – Riverside House 
2 | P a g e  

• The LA do not currently compare attendance data against mainstream schools but LD 

will look at this, it may highlight some positives? 

• AJ indicated that the primary attendance figures looked positive. 

 

Exclusions:   

• The 15/16 data for the LA is currently incomplete which is due to schools not being 

obliged to provide the data in real time. The out of authority data is complete to the 

best of Virtual School’s knowledge. 

• The data compares against Rotherham peers. 

• The number of days lost to education is increasing and is likely to rise further (once all 

the data is in) although the figures on ‘forced’ moves to avoid permanent exclusion are 

similar to those of last year. 

• Placement breakdowns impact on exclusions.  LD to assess if there are any patterns -  

this should inform the training offer, particularly with respect to ‘attachment issues’ and 

identify schools who do not engage. 

• Attachment training has been well received so far. 

• CAMHs involvement is now improving, but are still working from a low starting point. 

• There has been a lack of clarity regarding the referral process for the Rotherham 

Therapeutic Team (formerly LAACST) for therapeutic support.  Cabinet will be 

considering a proposal to expand this team in November.  Placement stability is 

essential for reduced exclusions and improved outcomes.   

• Carers of LAC in crisis as well as children receive support from the Therapeutic Team 

although more capacity is required, particularly for LAC.  

• LD reported that some secondary schools respond well and work with VSR better than 

others.  LD will use the data to backup dialogue around challenge and support through 

ePEPs. 

  

Action:  LD to acquire statistics on placement breakdowns/exclusions and highlight any patterns. 

 

ePEP’s: 

• PEP data is included in the Social Care monthly dashboard. Clarity is required regarding 

this data in the dashboard – this includes the reporting of lower PEP figures for the 

month of August when schools are closed.   

• The VSR data is impressive, considering the staffing issues. 

• The quality assurance process has been strengthened and is highlighting where there  is 

a lack of  SMART targets. 

• Inclusion Support Service have been commissioned to deliver training to the Designated 

Teachers’ network meeting (8
th

 Nov) on using  Pivats to create small stepped SMART 

targets in relation to Social, Emotional and Mental Health issues.   

• The Virtual School has been seeking foster carer email addresses so that carers can be 

set up on the ePEP system.  Social care have recently provided a number of addresses.  

Virtual School will inform social care if there are still gaps. 

• Currently 461 LAC and rising. 

• The Virtual School and RW are concerned at the level of Social Worker participation in  

and attendance at the PEP meeting.  Virtual School to record this in future and provide 

data to MM.   

• Some substantial delay is being experienced in some schools not submitting the PEPs in 

a timely manner.  KB asked that concerns in this area be escalated to her. 

• LD working with Sarah Hunt on development training for all social Workers on all 

matters relating to LAC education 

 

Page 134



 

Virtual School Rotherham - Governance Meeting 

13
th

 September 2016 – Riverside House 
3 | P a g e  

Actions:     

i. LD to make Sue Wilson aware of times of inactivity for data reporting. 

ii. Evidence of Social Workers not being involved in ePEP’s to be sent to MM who will take 

up an issues with individual SW’s. 

iii. MM to be invited to Designated Teachers network meeting. 

 

Staffing: 

• A replacement Post 16 Advocate post is to be submitted for DLT approval.  A Business 

Support apprentice post has already been approved. 

• Two members of the VSR team have been accepted onto the Rising Stars Programme 

(P.Douglas and D.Chedgzoy) 

• T.Hohn applied for the ADCS programme but was unsuccessful on this occasion but will 

re-apply next time.  

• Liquid Logic went live 31.10.16 and staff need to be able to input as well as access the 

information. 

 

Action: LD to contact Liquid Logic Team to discuss input permissions for staff. 

 

Budget: 

• £100K of LAC pupil premium funding was used for VSR last year which is within the 

conditions of the funding.  

• It is proposed that the 16/17 funding for the Virtual School tea will come from the High 

Needs Block - this is subject to approval from Schools’ Forum. 

 

Action: LD to review if there is any link between poor performance in schools vs. the lack of LAC 

pupil premium spend. 

 

Training: 

• An extension range of courses has been developed and is offered to Foster Carers.  The 

Virtual School believes this training should be mandatory relevant to the age of the 

children in their care.   

• VSR need to be involved in foster carer pre-approval and induction training. 

• Attachment Lead training has 11 participating schools plus VSR.  A member of SLT and 

another member of staff are required to attend from each school.   

• Rotherham are mirroring the Doncaster model for this training which also takes place 

elsewhere nationally. 

• A Keyworker Network is to be established once the training is complete.  

  

Other Updates: 

• A LAC Educational Psychologist will start in post from 01.12.16 for a 2 year project 

relating to ‘Attachment’.  The LAC EP will look at other practice in Derbyshire, Sheffield 

and elsewhere to seek best practice.  The purpose of this work is to support school (and 

care) placement stability.   

• Impact of the project to reviewed.   A forum to be created with schools to promote 

ongoing dialogue. 

 

Actions:   

i. Next Update to include Pupil Premium. 

ii. Autumn term attendance data will be included in the update after next (due to termly 

attendance data not being available in time for the approval window for this update 

report next time). 

Page 135



 

Virtual School Rotherham - Governance Meeting 

13
th

 September 2016 – Riverside House 
4 | P a g e  

 

 

4.  PEP Process 

• The PEP process is outlined on Page 2 of the ‘Building Brighter Futures’ document (dated 

31
st
 July 2016). 

• The process has been dramatically improved; LAC Advocates liaise with schools and Social 

Workers to organise the ePEP meeting and the SW arrange with carers. 

• RW raised concerns that some SW’s are not present at ePEPs.  SW’s need to drive 

education and ensure the quality, even if this means that compliance suffers slightly. 

• SW attendance to be monitored going forward rather than looking back historically.  Also 

track meetings where child/young person don’t attend. 

• PEPs to be submitted by schools as soon after the PEP meeting as possible. 

• VSR do not write the ePEPs, they drive them – LD signs them off and will quality assure 

them.  The QA section at the end of the plan is completed to get an overall feel of the 

ePEP.  Schools/SW to do the prep before the meeting to reduce delays. 

• Ofsted Feedback - Ofsted looked at a sample of 19 children and found that the ePEP’s 

weren’t aspirational enough.  This needs to be addressed for future ePEPs.  

• Funding is done through the ePEP system and is attached to the SMART targets which are 

approved by the Virtual School.  Designated Teachers need to ensure that the School 

Business Managers are aware of what the funding is for and is used accordingly. 

 

Actions:   

i. LD to draft an email for MM to send to SW’s to ensure they understand the Rotherham. 

ii. PEP process and attend PEP meetings. 

iii. LD to find out who can access the text box once pdf’d. 

 

 5.  Report to Governors Template 

• A sample template has been developed and sent to schools for feedback. 

 

 6.  Virtual School SEF 

• To be reviewed on the next agenda and will be circulated with the minutes. 

 

 7.  AOB 

• KB is working with Pete Douglas and Julia Morrison on a national development called 

‘Engagement in Education’ primarily for LAC but will be useful for all children.  KB will 

circulate the information. 

 

 8.   Date and Time of Next Meeting 

• 4
th

 January 2017 – Riverside House, Room 2, 4
th

 Floor, Wing B:  2.00 – 3.30pm 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 136


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 27 September 2016 (herewith)
	6 Rotherham Fostering Service Performance Report 2015-2016 (herewith)
	7 The Looked After and Care Leaver's Strategy 2017-20 (herewith)
	Rotherham Looked After Children Strategy 2016-19 DRAFT Version 8

	8 Ofsted Activity Report- Children Looked After (herewith)
	OFSTED Rotherham - Final letter (2)

	9 CCG Commissioning Compliance Tool for Looked after Children and Care Leaver Health Services (herewith)
	KEY AREA 3 : Commissioning CAMHS.

	10 Rotherham Looked After Children's Council (LACC) - Update Report - July to End October 2016 (herewith)
	11 'The Care We Receive As Children Colours Our Whole Life' (Care Quality Commission 2016)
	12 Virtual School Update (information attached)
	Virtual School GB minutes - 1st November 2016 Final


